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Corporate Information
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Chairman’s Statement

ER|E

To all shareholders,

Benefiting from the improved market conditions in 2022, our revenue
from asphalt tanker chartering business segment increased by
approximately 27.9% to approximately US$53.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, as compared with last year. Besides, our
bulk carrier chartering services continued to contribute stable income
to our Group this year.

Our business involves some risks that beyond our control and some
risks generally associated with our industry, including but not limited
to, high volatility of market charter rates, an increase in bunker fuel
prices, increasingly intense competition with major market players, and
the global economic downturn due to the impact of the outbreak of
COVID-19 and Russia-Ukraine conflict. In the past few years, our
profitability is sensitive to fluctuations of these factors, therefore the
net profit ratio went up and down. Facing these challenges, we would
quickly adapt to market changes and keep providing service with high
quality to our customers. Although risks remain, all recent indicators
point to solid and sustained market strength, we are greatly optimistic
by the prospect of the global economy recovery.

We completed the one-off disposal of a bulk carrier named XYG
Fortune in August 2022. The disposal represents our Group's strategic
decision to optimise fleet composition and to increase focus on our
Group's core asphalt tanker chartering business. Besides, this disposal
with a gain strengthened financial position and improved liquidity,
resulting our gearing and net debt to equity ratio decreased as
compared to last year.

With the support of our management and employees, we believe our
good times will continue in 2023. We would like to express our sincere
gratitude to all of our employees for their dedication and
professionalism, and most of all, our shareholders, customers, and
suppliers for their continued support. Going forward, we will continue
to refine and optimise our business in order to further enhance the
long-term returns of our Group.

Mr. Chen Ming
Chairman
Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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Five-Year Financial Summary

IFEMBERE

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the Group  F$¢ B AR A2 IR KEBXMEBREH
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited A& E:@BE A A BHEENEEUARE

financial statements of the Company is set out below. ENAERMINT -
RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December HE1N2AINBILEFE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
2018 2019 & 2020 2021 5 2022

US$000 US$000 US$'000 US$000  US$’000
T TET TET TET TER

Revenue WA 42,716 49,751 55,973 52,331 64,124
Cost of sales HER AR (28,225) (35,762) (39,309) (44,022) (48,882)
Gross profit EF 14,491 13,989 16,664 8,309 15,242
Other income Hizs 8222 1,489 634 1,299 6,196
Administrative expenses TR (3,864) (2,535) (3,199) (3,664) (4,580)
Other operating expenses Hih @R (7.110) (634) (596) (1,034) (341)
Fxchange gains/(losses)net  [& 5.4k zs,/(E518)
FRE 343 218) (89) 417 (143)
Profit from operations LTS A 12,082 12,091 13414 5,327 16,374
Finance costs BMEME (5,469) (6,087) (4,806) (3,596) (5,442)
Profit before tax B R AT 5 6,613 6,004 8,608 1,731 10,932
Income tax expense PRSI R - - () (10) (1)
Profit for the year AARIEB ANEL
attributable to owners FEHEF
of the Company 6,613 6,004 8,603 1,721 10,931
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
As at 31 December 12 A31H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
2018 % 2019 4 2020 2021 £ 2022 F
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$’000
FET FET FETT FET FEx
Total assets BERE 211,014 218,965 212,525 200,499 212,651
Total liabilities BERE (111,910) (113,875) (93,218) (79,469) (80,773)
Net assets BEFE 99,104 105,090 119,307 121,030 131,878
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DT

The Board is pleased to present the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, together with the
comparative figures for the corresponding period in 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

For the Year Under Review, our Group recorded revenue of
approximately US$64.1 million, representing an increase of 22.6%
compared with the same corresponding period in 2021, with two
operating segments which included asphalt tanker chartering services
and bulk carrier chartering services. Our Group principally provides
asphalt tanker chartering services under various types of charter
agreements comprising: (i) time charters; and (i) voyage charters and
contracts of affreightment (“CoAs”).

Currently, we operate a fleet of 11 vessels with total capacity of
approximately 290,000 dwt, of which seven vessels are operated under
asphalt tanker time charters, three vessels are operated under asphalt
tanker voyage charters or CoAs and the remaining one second-hand
Capesize vessel is operated under bulk carrier time charters. Those
vessels operated under time charters are chartered to customers with
high performance capabilities on a long-term basis ranging from one
to three years, which generated steady income for our Group. In June
2022, our Group entered into an agreement to dispose XYG Fortune, a
second-hand Capesize vessel operated under bulk carrier time charters,
and the Disposal was completed on 22 August 2022. Our Directors
believe that the Disposal would enable our Group to expand its core
business, optimise its fleet composition to remain strategically
competitive in the market and strengthen its financial position and
improve liquidity.

We endeavour to provide high quality asphalt tanker and bulk carrier
chartering services. We have our own team of engineers and we are
actively involved in the design of our vessels. Our team works closely
with ship design experts, our customers, shipyards, international
classification societies and banks or finance lease companies. Our major
customers include global shipping and logistics groups, global
independent energy traders and publicly listed energy companies
based in the United States. Our Group has diversified our business and
services and gradually developed our own customer portfolio.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR D

With our Group's experienced management team and competitive
strengths, our Directors believe that our Group is well-positioned to
further develop our presence in the asphalt tanker chartering services
market and bulk carrier time chartering services market. Hence, our
Group maintains a variety of services types with a balanced approach
to meet different demands in the market.

Throughout the year of 2022, the demand for asphalt tanker chartering
services gradually improved which benefited our business to achieve
substantial growth of revenue. However, the global asphalt shipping
market faced challenges during the past few years, the economic
activities in China were greatly affected by the strict pandemic control
measures of COVID-19, and the outbreak of the Russia-Ukraine war in
late February caused huge fluctuations in the petrochemical industry,
consequently the crude oil price remained at a high level throughout
the year, the supply chain was disrupted and the trade direction
changed. Following the reduction of shipping capacity of asphalt
tankers in the Asian market, certain tankers transferred their operating
areas to the Middle East market, resulting in an extreme shortage of
shipping capacity of asphalt tankers in the Asian regional market. In the
fourth quarter, the freight rate increased sharply. At the same time, this
change also drove the rise of the European and American regional
markets.

We predict that the global asphalt market will maintain a growth
momentum in the next two years. To a certain extent, such growth
may be contributed from the economically lagging regions such as
Africa and South America, and developing regions such as Southeast
Asia, Indonesia and Vietnam. According to the Frost & Sullivan report,
the global asphalt shipping market is growing steadily, and the main
growth points come from Asia-Pacific countries, in particular under the
“Belt and Road Initiative” led by China, countries along the route have
increased infrastructure construction. Other key drivers of the
economic improvement in 2023 are the improved outlook for the
Chinese economy following the relaxation of COVID-19 restrictions,
and European and American countries may bring sizable increases in
domestic infrastructure investment projects in the post COVID-19
period. It is expected that the demand for asphalt tanker chartering
would increase steadily.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DT

On the other side, we believe the shortage of shipping capacity of
asphalt tankers will continue in particular markets, but asphalt tanker
demand will grow faster than supply. Unsurprisingly, the tightening of
the supply/demand balance may lead to an increase in freight rates
and time charter rates.

In the bulk carrier chartering segment, we disposed of XYG Fortune, a
Capesize vessel operated under bulk carrier time charter in the second
half of 2022. We believe the Disposal had brought the greatest benefits
to our Group, including focusing on the core business expansion,
avoiding uncertainties in the bulk carrier market and strengthening
liquidity.

Although we disposed a vessel in 2022, this segment continued to
contribute steady revenue to our Group for the Year Under Review.
Currently, we maintain one Capesize vessel to operate in the bulk
carrier business, and believe this vessel will bring stable income in the
coming year. However, the risk of headwinds of the dry bulk market is
increasing in 2023. According to the Baltic Dry Index (“BDI"), the dry
bulk market is volatile and the market risk is high. In the past two years,
the BDI has remained at a high level and the price of bulk carriers has
increased.

In light of the above, we are optimistic about the future of the asphalt
shipping market and bulk carrier market. In order to improve our
profitability, we will continue to optimise the fleet composition and
strengthen business operation, including diversifying the business
model, improving the operating capacity of vessels, reducing the off-
hire time, and improving the maintenance level of vessels.

Obviously, our business is still subject to risks, for example, the Russia-
Ukraine conflict, rise in global oil prices, trade restrictions, possible
rebound of the COVID-19 pandemic and other uncertainties may
continue to affect our operation in the near future. In particular, the
Russia-Ukraine conflict has significantly impacted the stability of the
global economy, exposing risks that are unpredictable and creating
challenges for businesses around the world.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the Year Under Review, our revenue increased to approximately
US$64.1 million by approximately US$11.8 million or 22.6% from
approximately US$52.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.
For the Year Under Review, such increase was mainly due to the
increase in revenue generated from the asphalt tanker chartering
business segment as a result of the improvement in market conditions.

Revenue generated from asphalt tanker time charters services
increased significantly by approximately US$7.8 million or 52.3% from
approximately US$14.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2021
to approximately US$22.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. Such increase in revenue was mainly attributable to (i) the
improvement in market conditions with average freight rate under
time charter contracts for the year ended 31 December 2022 increasing
by 19.4% compared to the corresponding period in 2021; (ii) the
increase in revenue from Zhuang Yuan Ao and Jastella of
approximately US$6.6 million in aggregate as they have changed
operation from voyage charters to time charters since February 2022
and May 2022, respectively, but was partially offset by (iii) the fact that
Orcstella has changed operation from time charters to voyage charters
since May 2021, resulted in reclassification of the revenue generated by
it to voyage charters for the year ended 31 December 2022
(contributed USS$1.1 million as revenue from time charter services in
the corresponding period of last year).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DT

Revenue generated from asphalt tanker voyage charters and CoAs
increased by approximately US$3.8 million or 14.1% from
approximately US$27.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2021
to approximately US$30.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2022, mainly due to (i) the improvement in market conditions with
average freight rate under voyage charter contracts for the year ended
31 December 2022 increasing significantly by 34.9% compared to the
corresponding period in 2021; (ii) the increase in revenue from two
vessels as they had no off-hire during the year ended 31 December
2022, but there was off-hire during dry-docking for the year ended 31
December 2021 where one vessel was required to dry-dock for passing
the renewal survey every five years and another vessel was required to
dry-dock for passing the intermediate survey every two to three years;
and (iii) the increase in revenue from Orcstella by approximately USS$5.2
million for the Year Under Review, as it has changed operation from
time charters in May 2021, but offsetting by the fact that Zhuang Yuan
Ao and Jastella has changed operation from voyage charters to time
charters since February 2022 and May 2022, respectively.

During the Year Under Review, two second-hand Capesize vessels,
namely XYG Fortune and XYMG Noble, contributed an increase of
approximately US$0.1 million or 1.0% in revenue from bulk carrier time
chartering services to our Group, to approximately US$10.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 from US$10.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, mainly attributable to the rise of freight
rates of bulk carrier chartering services, but offsetting by the fact that
the cessation of contribution from XYG Fortune upon its disposal in
August 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR D

Cost of sales

Our cost of sales increased by approximately US$4.9 million or 11.1%,
from approximately US$44.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately US$48.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. Such increase was in line with the increase in revenue
of approximately 22.6%, and mainly due to the combined effect of
following factors:

(i) our bunker fees recorded an increase of approximately US$2.6
million or 31.0%, as a result of the significant rise of global bunker
indices, the average bunker price increased sharply by
approximately 30% to 60% for the year ended 31 December 2022
as compared to the same corresponding period in 2021;

(i) our crew expenses recorded an increase of approximately US$1.5
million or 10.2%, resulting from increase in the prices for crew
change, quarantine and other pandemic-related manning costs,
which was mainly due to the impact of COVID-19; and

(i) our depreciation was charged at a mild increase of approximately
US$0.4 million or 4.3%, mainly due to the fact that no material
vessels and dry-docking were acquired during the prior and
current periods resulting in a steady amount of depreciation for
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our Group's gross profit increased sharply by approximately US$6.9
million or 83.1%, from approximately US$8.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 to approximately US$15.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Such increase was mainly in line with the
increase of approximately 22.6% in revenue and the increase in gross
profit margin.

Our overall gross profit margin improved from approximately 15.9% for
the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately 23.8% for the year
ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in average freight rates under charter contracts as the market
conditions for the asphalt tanker chartering services segment have
improved, the increase of freight rates of bulk carrier chartering services
for the Year Under Review, and the fact that the depreciation charge
remained stable for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, but
was partially offset by the significant rise of bunker fee and the increase
in crew expenses due to the impact of COVID-19.
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Our gross profit generated from asphalt tanker time charters services
significantly increased by approximately US$3.1T million or 224.9% for
the year ended 31 December 2022. Such increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in revenue from asphalt tanker time
chartering by approximately US$7.8 million but partially offset by the
increase in crew expenses of approximately US$2.2 million.
Accordingly, the gross profit margin increased by approximately 10.3
percentage points due to the improved market conditions.

Our gross profit from asphalt tanker voyage charters and CoAs
increased by approximately US$4.4 million or 199.1% for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Such increase was mainly due to (i) the
increase in revenue generated from asphalt tanker voyage charters and
CoAs of approximately US$3.8 million or 14.1%; (i) the decrease in crew
expenses of approximately USS$1.1 million, but was partially offset by (iii)
the increase in bunker fee of approximately US$2.5 million resulting
from the significant rise of the bunker price market in 2022.
Accordingly, the gross profit margin increased by approximately 13.3
percentage points due to the improved market conditions.

Our gross profit from bulk carrier time chartering services decreased by
approximately US$0.5 million or 12.4% for the year ended 31 December
2022, while its gross profit margin decreased by approximately 5.4
percentage points for the Year Under Review. It was mainly due to the
discontinuance of profit contribution from XYG Fortune following its
disposal in August 2022.

Other income

Our other income increased substantially by approximately US$4.9
million from approximately US$1.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to approximately US$6.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. The increase was mainly due to a gain on disposal of
XYG Fortune of approximately US$5.5 million, but offsetting by the fact
that the decrease in non-recurring insurance compensation income of
approximately US$0.9 million in relation to the repair costs of vessels
for the Year Under Review.
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Administrative expenses

Our Group's administrative expenses increased by approximately
US$0.9 million or 24.3% from approximately US$3.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021 to approximately US$4.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, primarily due to the increase in staff costs
(including Directors emoluments) of approximately US$0.7 million.

Other operating expenses

Our Group's other operating expenses decreased from approximately
US$1.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, mainly in relation
to accident-related costs of two vessels, to approximately US$0.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Exchange (losses)/gains, net

Our Group recorded net exchange gains of approximately USS$0.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, while recorded net
exchange losses of approximately US$0.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, which was principally attributable to the exchange
fluctuation of our Group’s borrowings denominated in Singapore
Dollars ("SGD"). USD appreciated against SGD by approximately 2.0%
for the year ended 31 December 2021, but depreciated against SGD by
approximately 0.6% for the year ended 31 December 2022, resulting in
exchange gains for the year ended 31 December 2021 but exchange
losses for the year ended 31 December 2022, when translation of the
borrowings denominated in SGD. Besides, our Group gradually
decreased the borrowings denominated in SGD from approximately
US$8.3 million as at 31 December 2021 to approximately US$4.6 million
as at 31 December 2022.

Finance costs

Our finance costs increased from approximately US$3.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately to US$5.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022, mainly attributable to the increase
in level of borrowings by the new proceeds from other loans with
relatively higher interest rate in relation to the sale and leaseback
financing arrangements of five vessels during the Year Under Review.
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Income tax expense

Income tax expense maintained at low level of approximately US$1,000
and US$10,000 for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
respectively, mainly represented under-provision in prior year. For the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, Singapore Corporate
Income Tax has been provided at the rate of 17% except that the
income derived from vessel owning and chartering is exempted from
Singapore Corporate Income Tax.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax and PRC Corporate Income Tax
was made since the income are derived from overseas sources which
are not subject to tax or our Group has no assessable profit for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Profit for the year

Our profit for the Year Under Review increased significantly by
approximately US$9.2 million or 541.2% from approximately US$1.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
US$10.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, while our net
profit margin also increased from approximately 3.3% to approximately
17.0% for the respective years. Such increase in our profit for the Year
Under Review was primarily due to (i) the increase in operating profits
generated from chartering services of approximately US$6.9 million,
mainly attributable to the improvement in market conditions of the
asphalt tanker chartering business, and the absence of material off-hire
of the vessel fleet for the year ended 31 December 2022, while four
vessels were required to off-hire dry-dock for passing the regular
renewal or intermediate survey and a vessel was required to off-hire
due to the delay in shipping schedule as a result of a temporary voyage
repair in Japan instead of Shanghai due to the epidemic control
measures in Shanghai during the year ended 31 December 2021; (i) a
gain of approximately USS$5.5 million on disposal of XYG Fortune,
which was operated under bulk carrier time charter; but was partially
offset by (iii) the increase in bunker fee due to the significant rise of
global bunker price; and (iv) the increase in crew expenses due to the
impact of COVID-19.
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FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2022, our Group’s total assets amounted to
approximately US$212.7 million (31 December 2021: US$200.5 million)
with net assets amounting to approximately US$131.9 million (31
December 2021: US$121.0 million). As at 31 December 2022, the
gearing ratio (total debts divided by the total equity attributable to
owners of our Company) of our Group was 0.57, representing a
decrease of 5.0% as compared to that of 0.60 as at 31 December 2021.
Net debt to equity ratio (net debt, being our total debts net of bank
and cash balances and pledged bank deposits, by total equity
attributable to owners of our Company) of our Group was 0.27 as at 31
December 2022, representing a decrease of 50.9% as compared to that
of 0.55 as at 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2022, the current
ratio of our Group was 1.30, representing a significant increase of
490.9% as compared to that of 0.22 as at 31 December 2021.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the liquidity position has
improved due to the organic growth, disposal of a vessel, and the
funding from other loans by sale and leaseback financing
arrangements, while the gearing ratio still remained relatively stable.
Our Group adopts a balanced approach to cash and financial
management to ensure proper risk control and lower costs of funds,
and seeks to maintain an optimal level of liquidity that can meet our
working capital needs while supporting a healthy level of business and
our various growth strategies. Our Group finances our operations and
growth primarily through cash generated from operations, borrowings
and finance lease arrangements and net proceeds from issuance of
new shares in 2020.

As at 31 December 2022, our Group's borrowings and lease liabilities
were approximately USS$75.2 million in aggregate, increased by
approximately US$3.1 million as compared to approximately US$72.1
million as at 31 December 2021, which was primarily due to a
combined effect of the proceeds from other loans and gradual
repayment of debts financing by the profits generated from operations.
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As at 31 December 2022, our Group had pledged bank deposits and
bank and cash balances of approximately US$39.7 million in aggregate,
representing an increase of approximately US$34.5 million as
compared to approximately US$5.2 million as at 31 December 2021.
Such cash inflows were mainly a combined effect of the profits
generated from operations, proceeds from other loans and gradual
repayment of borrowings and lease liabilities as well as proceeds from
the disposal of XYG Fortune. Our pledged bank deposits and most of
our bank and cash balances are denominated in USD.

TREASURY POLICIES

The primary objective of our Group's capital management is to
maintain its ability to continue as a going concern so that our Group
can constantly provide returns for the Shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders by securing access to financing at reasonable costs.
Our Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure and makes adjustment by taking into consideration the
changes in economic conditions, its future capital requirements,
prevailing and projected profitability and operating cash flows,
projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities.

INDEBTEDNESS

As at 31 December 2022, our Group's indebtedness mainly comprised
borrowings and lease liabilities of approximately US$60.2 million and
US$15.0 million, respectively. Our borrowings are denominated in USD
and SGD, while lease liabilities are mainly denominated in USD. Majority
of the borrowings and lease liabilities are arranged at floating rates,
thus exposing our Group to cash flow interest rate risk. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, our Group used interest rate swaps in order
to mitigate its exposure associated with fluctuations relating to interest
cash flows.
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The maturity of borrowings and lease liabilities as at 31 December 2022
is as follows:

R2022F 12A31H  ERFEEEERN
FEAR AT :

Lease

Borrowings liabilities

(EEN HESE

US$'000 US$'000

FET FET

Within one year —FE PN 13,080 14,340
More than one year, —F LA B BRRNE

but not exceeding two years 10,309 185
More than two years, MFAEEBETBARF

but not exceeding five years 31,730 460

More than five years AFMNE 5119 -

60,238 14,985

As at 31 December 2022, our borrowings comprised bank loans and
other loans, amounting to approximately US$4.6 million and US$55.6
million, respectively.

Bank loans were obtained for the sole purpose of the construction of
vessels in the past. As at 31 December 2022, the bank loans were
secured by the following:

(@) mortgage over our Group's vessels;

(b)  corporate guarantees provided by our Company; and

(0 pledged bank deposits and restricted bank balances.
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Other loans were obtained for the additional working capital of our
Group. As at 31 December 2022, the other loans were secured by the
following:

(@) mortgage over our Group's vessels;

(b)  corporate guarantees provided by our Company;
(c) restricted bank balances; and

(d) shares of certain subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2022, our lease liabilities of approximately US$14.1
million were secured by the following:

(@) charges over our Group's certain right-of-use assets;
(b)  corporate guarantees provided by our Company;
(c) restricted bank balances; and

(d)  shares of certain subsidiaries.

The remaining lease liabilities of approximately US$0.9 million were
related to the office properties leases and were not secured by any
collateral.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISKS

Our Group has a certain exposure to foreign currency risk as some of
our business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the respective Group
entities such as SGD and Renminbi. Our Group has also adopted a
foreign exchange rate and interest rate risk control policy to manage
the foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk. Our Group monitors the
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
transactions to mitigate significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise. As at 31 December 2022, our Group has no outstanding
foreign currency forward contracts.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of pledged bank
deposits, bank balances restricted from being used and vessels
pledged as securities for our Group's borrowings amounted to
approximately US$1.4 million, USS4.1 million and US$119.0 million,
respectively. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of vessels
as right-of-use assets held by our Group and bank balances restricted
from being used under finance lease arrangements amounted to
approximately US$46.5 million and US$1.7 million, respectively.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT
As at 31 December 2022, our Group did not have any material capital
commitment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2022, our Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

We value our employees and recognise the importance of a good
relationship with our employees. We recruit our employees based on
their work experiences, educational background and qualifications. To
maintain and ensure the quality of our employees, we provide our
personnel formal and on-the-job training to enhance their technical
skills as well as knowledge of industry quality standards and work place
safety standards. As at 31 December 2022, our Group had a total of 40
employees, of which 32 were located in the PRC, 3 were located in
Hong Kong and 5 were located in Singapore. The remuneration to our
employees includes salaries and allowances. Employees are
remunerated according to their qualifications, experiences, job nature,
performance and with reference to market conditions.

Our Group's total employee benefit expenses (including Directors’
emoluments) for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 were
approximately US$2.8 million and US$2.1 million, respectively.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD
Our Group had not held any significant investments during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 6 September 2018 and which became
effective on 26 September 2018 (the “Listing Date"). Under the Share
Option Scheme, Eligible Participants (as defined below) (including
Directors, full-time employees of and advisers and consultants to our
Company or our subsidiaries) may be granted options which entitle
them to subscribe for the Shares, when aggregated with options
granted under any other scheme, representing initially not more than
10% of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date. Unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, the Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for 10 years from that date. No share option had ever been granted
under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption. Details of the Share
Option Scheme are set out in the "Report of the Directors” of this
annual report.

MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During the Year Under Review, the Group entered into the following
material transactions:

1. On4 March 2022, the Group entered into the Sale and Leaseback
(March 2022) Transactions, pursuant to which, the Charterer (an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into:
(i) the Memorandum of Agreement with the Owner, pursuant to
which the Owner has conditionally agreed to purchase and the
Charterer has conditionally agreed to sell XYMG Noble subject to
the terms and conditions therein; and (ii) the Bareboat Charter
Agreement with the Owner in relation to the bareboat chartering
of XYMG Noble.

For details of the Sale and Leaseback (March 2022) Transactions,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 4 March
2022.

2. On 5 May 2022, the Group entered into the Sale and Leaseback
(May 2022) Transactions, pursuant to which, Charterer | (an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into:
(i) the Memorandum of Agreement | with Owner |, pursuant to
which Owner | has conditionally agreed to purchase and
Charterer | has conditionally agreed to sell Lilstella subject to the
terms and conditions therein; and (ii) the Bareboat Charter
Agreement | with Owner | in relation to the bareboat chartering
of Lilstella.
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For details of the Sale and Leaseback (May 2022) Transactions,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 5 May 2022
and the Company’s circular dated 8 August 2022.

On 10 June 2022, the Group entered into the following Sale and
Leaseback (June 2022) Transactions, pursuant to which, Charterer
Il (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered
into: (i) the Memorandum of Agreement Il and with Owner II,
pursuant to which Owner Il has conditionally agreed to purchase
and Charterer Il has conditionally agreed to sell Orcstella subject
to the terms and conditions therein; and (i) the Bareboat Charter
Agreement Il with Owner Il in relation to the bareboat chartering
of Orcstella.

For details of the Sale and Leaseback (June 2022) Transactions,
please refer to the Company's announcement dated 10 June
2022 and the Company's circular dated 8 August 2022.

On 29 June 2022, the Vendor (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into the Agreement with the
Purchaser to dispose of XYG Fortune at a consideration of
US$20,850,000. Completion had taken place after obtaining the
Shareholders’ approval in respect of the Agreement at the EGM
of the Company held on 22 August 2022 in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

For details of the Disposal, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 4 July 2022 and the Company’s circular
dated 8 August 2022.

On 7 July 2022, the Group entered into the following Sale and
Leaseback (July 2022) Transactions, pursuant to which:

(@) Charterer Ill (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) entered into: (i) the Memorandum of Agreement
lIl'and with Owner I, pursuant to which Owner Il has
conditionally agreed to purchase and Charterer Il has
conditionally agreed to sell San Du Ao subject to the terms
and conditions therein; and (ii) the Bareboat Charter
Agreement Il with Owner Il in relation to the bareboat
chartering of San Du Ao; and
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(b)  Charterer IV (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) entered into: (i) the Memorandum of Agreement
IV and with Owner IV, pursuant to which Owner IV has
conditionally agreed to purchase and Charterer IV has
conditionally agreed to sell Zhuang Yuan Ao subject to the
terms and conditions therein; and (ii) the Bareboat Charter
Agreement IV with Owner IV in relation to the bareboat
chartering of Zhuang Yuan Ao.

For details of the Sale and Leaseback (July 2022) Transactions,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 7 July 2022
and the Company’s circular dated 8 August 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures by our Group
during the Year Under Review.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no definite future plan for material investments or
acquisition of material capital assets as at 31 December 2022.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there are no
important events affecting the Group which have occurred since the
end of the Year Under Review.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SUBSCRIPTIONS
Pursuant to the subscription agreements dated 19 May 2020, the
Company allotted and issued, and the subscribers subscribed for, an
aggregate of 40,000,000 Shares at HK$1.092 per Share for an aggregate
cash consideration of HK$43,680,000 (equivalent to approximately
US$5,628,866) on 3 June 2020 (the “Subscriptions”).

The aggregate gross proceeds of the Subscriptions amounted to
HK$43,680,000 (equivalent to approximately US$5,628,866) and the
aggregate net proceeds, after the deduction of the related expenses,
was approximately HK$43,280,000 (equivalent to approximately
US$5,577,320). An analysis of the amount utilised up to 31 December
2022 is set out below:

RIBBHEAESNRERAE

BIEHE A 202055 19 B REHE
RARR2020F 6 A3 HIZEEHFREH 1.092
78 70 Be B & B2 174 ££40,000,000 A% A% 15 -
i 5288 A LA #83R £ X8 43,680,000 78 7T (18
B RA156288663% ) RIBZERM ([R
B=EE]) -
REEFBEB 2B REEBEARA
43,680,000 7 7T (48 %5 M 495,628,866 3
L) IBREERI RS RIEFREA
H 495 43,280,0007%8 7T (FBFE R #95,577,320
EIL) cHE202F12A3BEHRE S
B OTESN T -

Proposed use
of proceeds
as disclosed
in the Utilised
announcement Unutilised during the year Unutilised
of the Company asat ended asat
dated 19 May 1January  31December 31 December
2020 2022 2022 2022
APRBHA
2020
5A198H BE
NEMKE R2022 6 2022 F #2022
FR8HIEN 1818 12A31H 12A318
RERZ X8R LEECEHA B A
HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
General working capital —REEES 433 283 170 13

The net proceeds from the Subscriptions were used or are proposed to
be used as intended, as set out in the Company’s announcement dated
19 May 2020. The unutilised net proceeds of approximately HK$11.3
million as at 31 December 2022 are to be utilised in the next year.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Chen Ming

Mr. Chen Ming (FR$4 %t 4E), aged 27, is our executive Director and the
chairman of the Board. Mr. Chen was appointed as our executive
Director on 25 March 2021, who has approximately 4 years of
experience in corporate governance. From September 2018 to October
2020, Mr. Chen worked in Xinhua Fortune Group Company Limited* (&
EPEEBE AR A7) (a company primarily engaged in iron and
steel, e-commerce, agriculture, real estate, tourism and other industries
coordinated development) as the assistant to the chairman,
responsible for assisting the chairman of the board to call and preside
over the general meeting of the management, organising the
discussion of the company's development plan, operation policy,
annual plan and major issues in daily operation.

Mr. Chen is the son of Mr. Chen Maochun, who held in a total of
116,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company, representing
approximately 26.36% of the share interest in the Company through
his wholly owned company named UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL
TECHNOLOGY (HONG KONG) LIMITED (RFEIEEHL (BB BRA
al).

Mr. Chen graduated from Beijing Sport University (1t 5 88 & KX 22) and

received a bachelor's degree in Sports Economics And Management in
July 2018.

* Foridentification only
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Chen Jiagan

Mr. Chen Jiagan PRER B E), aged 48, is our executive Director and
vice chairman of the Board. Mr. Chen was appointed as our executive
Director and vice chairman of the Board on 11 March 2022, who has
over 22 years of experience in securities investment. From July 2000 to
March 2004, Mr. Chen served as a manager at MF Securities Co., Ltd. (]
BB HBREE AR (currently known as Dongxing Securities
Corporation Limited (BRELFE#%1H BBRE A 7)), a company listed on
the Shanghai stock exchange (stock code: 601198)). From April 2004 to
December 2009, Mr. Chen served as the head of merger and
acquisitions of the Fujian investment bank division at Sinolink Securities
Co, Ltd. (A& FEFDBRAF]), a company listed on the Shanghai
stock exchange (stock code: 600109). From January 2010 to January
2015, Mr. Chen served as the vice chairman of the board of directors of
China Chemical Fibers Investment Co., Ltd* (P48 ZE K E B R A 7).
Since February 2015, Mr. Chen has served as the legal representative,
executive director and general manager of Fujian Jiuhe Investment Co,,
Ltd* ((BEEAKRIEE BIE Q7). Since December 2019, Mr. Chen has
also served as the legal representative, executive director and manager
of Fuzhou Dayang Intelligent Parking Co., Ltd.* (&N A ¥ 2 ZRE B
R AD.

Mr. Chen obtained his bachelor’s degree in mathematics education
and his master’s degree in probability and mathematical statistics from
Fujian Normal University (1@ 2RI & K2) in 1997 and 2000,
respectively. Mr. Chen obtained his doctoral degree in quantitative
economics from Huagiao University EEBARE) in 2014,

*  For identification only
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Xu Wenjun

Mr. Xu Wenjun (8 X9 % 4), aged 67, is our executive Director and
the chief executive officer of our Group. Mr. Xu has been a Director
since 28 June 2016, being the date of incorporation of our Company.
Mr. Xu has participated in the management of our Group since 1
February 2010 where he has been responsible for corporate strategic
planning, overseeing the overall operations and business development
and day-to-day business management of our Group. Mr. Xu is a director
of each member of our Group other than Xinlanhai.

Mr. Xu has approximately 16 years of relevant experience in the
shipping industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Xu worked as the
deputy general manager at Fuzhou Dongfang Jinrong Shipping Co,,
Ltd. (F@M B A $REE B PR A 7)), a company principally engaged in
international shipping management business, from November 2002 to
June 2006, where he was mainly responsible for international shipping
business. From May 2006 until now, Mr. Xu worked as the general
manager of Fujian Chuan Yuan, a company principally engaged in
investment, where he was mainly responsible for making investment.

Mr. Xu served as the chief executive officer and general manager of
Jincheng Hengtong from January 2010 to November 2017, where he
was mainly responsible for overseeing the overall operations.

Mr. Xu received the certificate of Adult Higher Education majoring in
economic management from Fujian Normal University (1872 Al &5 K £2)
in the PRC in September 2000.
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Ding Yuzhao

Mr. Ding Yuzhao (T E &9t 4E), aged 68, is our executive Director. Mr.
Ding has been a Director since 28 June 2016, being the date of
incorporation of our Company. Mr. Ding has participated in the
management of our Group since 1 February 2010 where he has been
responsible for overseeing the overall operations and business
development of our Group.

Mr. Ding has approximately 12 years of relevant experience in the
shipping industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ding worked as a
deputy manager at Ningde District Power Company (BE{&21[&E

7)), a company principally engaged in providing technical support and
construction for power systems from March 1990 to December 1991,
where he was mainly responsible for providing technical support for
power construction. From April 1994 to May 1997, Mr. Ding worked as
a director and general manager at Fujian Muyang Creek Hydropower
Development Co, Ltd. (183 4& B I5E /K E R ZE B A 7)), a company
principally engaged in hydropower construction, where he was mainly
responsible for providing technical support for hydropower station
development and construction. From May 1997 to August 2006, Mr.
Ding served as the general manager of Mindong Power Investment
Company Limited (BRERIEBFR QD
engaged the business of power investment, vvhere he was mainly

), which is principally

responsible for overseeing investment in hydropower station and
fossil-fuel power station.

From November 2003 to August 2006, Mr. Ding served as the general
manager of Ningde City State-owned Asset Investment Company
Limited (BETMBREEEREBR AT, a company principally
engaged in investment, where he was mainly responsible for
investment and operation of state-owned asset. From August 2006 to
March 2010, Mr. Ding served as the chairman of Ningde City State-
owned Properties Investment & Management Co,, Ltd. (BEfET A &
EIRE L EHF R A R]) and director of Ningde City State-owned Asset
SuperV|S|on and Management Committee (BBEMBE A EEEEE?

Z B2), both of which principally engaged the business of
mvestment, where he was mainly responsible for investment and
operation of state-owned asset. From July 2011 to September 2017, Mr.
Ding served as the general manager at Fujian Haodeyuan Investment
Co, Ltd (B2 EBITIRE AR 7)), a company principally engaged
in investment, where he was mainly responsible for investment in real
estate business. From January 2016 until now, Mr. Ding served as the
supervisor of Xiamen Tangram Science and Technology Co,, Ltd. (B
B ARTR D ER AR, a company principally engages in
information technology.
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Mr. Ding received the Bachelor's degree from the electric engineering
school of the Wuhan Institute of Hydraulic and Electric Engineering (E\
YEIKHE 1 EB), currently known as School of Electrical Engineering
and Automation, Wu Han University (BVE X2 E R/ 8 5 8){L 2b7)
majoring in High-voltage electricity technology and equipment in
September 1982. Mr. Ding was granted the qualification as a senior
engineer in hydropower by the Department of Personnel of Fujian
Province in July 1996.

Lin Shifeng

Mr. Lin Shifeng (WK% 55 4E), aged 46, was appointed as our executive
Director on 25 March 2021, has been serving as the financial controller
of the Company since July 2016. Mr. Lin has participated in the
management of the Group since July 2016 where he has been primarily
responsible for overseeing the financial planning and accounting
management of the Group.

Mr. Lin has approximately 22 years of relevant experience in accounting
and finance management, where he has spent approximately 19 years
in the shipping industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lin worked as a
financial supervisor at Fujian Wanfeng Shoes Co., Ltd* ({2 & L& 2
BPBR/AR]), a company principally engaged in sports products
production, from July 2000 to November 2003, where he was mainly
responsible for cost accounting and difference analysis, data statistics
and financial statement preparation.

From November 2003 to January 2006, Mr. Lin worked as an
accountant at P&0O NEDLLOYD (CHINA) Ltd. Fuzhou Branch (81 T/& 2=
(P BB AR A R)4EM 5 A 7)), a company principally engaged in
shipping business, where he was mainly responsible for cost
accounting and cost control.

From February 2006 to November 2007, Mr. Lin worked as an assistant
accountant and cost manager at Maersk Logistics (China) Co., Ltd,, a
company principally engaged in container shipping, where he was
mainly responsible for registering and controlling operational cost and
assisting payment center to arrange operational payment.

From November 2007 to January 2015, Mr. Lin served as a financial
officer at CMA CGM (China) Shipping Co., Ltd. Fuzhou Branch (¥
(P EH AR QBRI DA F]), a company principally engaged in
container transportation, where he was mainly responsible for
accounting management and accounting principal setting up.

* Foridentification only
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Mr. Lin served as the finance manager of Jincheng Hengtong from
March 2015 until April 2016 and as the financial controller from July
2016 until November 2017, where he was mainly responsible for
accounting management.

From April 2016 to June 2016, Mr. Lin served as a finance manager at
Air Liquide (Fuzhou) Co,, Ltd* (B/bZ= R (R M) B R A R)
principally engaged in the supplying of industrial gases and services,
where he was mainly responsible for accounting management and
accounting principal setting up.

, @ company

Mr. Lin graduated from Changchun University of Science and
Technology (K& T KE), formerly known as Changchun Institute
of Optics and Precision Instruments (K& 2B E s 20t) and
received a bachelor’s degree in accounting in July 2000. Mr. Lin
obtained the certificate for passing all the required subjects of the
professional stage of the national uniform CPA Examination of P.R.
China GIft @M 2Bt —EHBERBERZHEER) issued by
the Certified Public Accountant Examination Committee of The
Ministry of Finance, PR. China (MfBE I @5 AIEREZE D)
December 2018.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Suen Chi Wai

Mr. Suen Chi Wai (JZEE L 4AE), aged 58, has been our independent
non-executive Director since the Listing Date. Mr. Suen has over 20
years of experience in corporate finance and with area of practice
principally in initial public offerings on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), mergers and acquisitions,
corporate reorganisations and Listing Rules compliance matters. Mr.
Suen has been a partner of Withers since February 2018. Mr. Suen
worked at DLA Piper in Hong Kong from June 2007 to February 2018
with his last position as a partner. Mr. Suen served as a manager in the
investment products department of the SFC from October 2005 to July
2006, responsible for reviewing applications of collective investment
schemes and monitoring continuing compliance of authorised
schemes. Mr. Suen worked as an assistant solicitor at Woo Kwan Lee &
Lo in Hong Kong from September 2000 to March 2005.

*  For identification only
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Mr. Suen has been serving as an independent non-executive director
of (i) BoardWare Intelligence Technology Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1204) since June
2022; (ii) Venus Medtech (Hangzhou) Inc,, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2500) since July 2019;
and (iii) Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1073) since July 2019.

Mr. Suen graduated from the University of East Anglia in July 1987 with
a Bachelor of Science Degree and the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
program in the University of Hong Kong in June 1998. Mr. Suen was
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in October 2000 and in England
and Wales in December 2003. Mr. Suen is also a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since May 1998 and a
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since April 1993.

Xu Jie
Mr. Xu Jie (R$E L), aged 68, has been our independent non-
executive Director since the Listing Date.

Mr. Xu has accumulated over 35 years of experience in the legal field.
From June 1986 to July 1993, Mr. Xu was the deputy president of the
Maritime Commercial Tribunal of the Shanghai Maritime Court (/&%
=)%PBR) of the PRC. From September 1993 to October 1994, Mr. Xu was
a teacher at the Shanghai Maritime College (_E/&8/8E£657), currently
known as Shanghai Maritime University (/&85 K &). From October
1994 to December 2000, Mr. Xu worked as a partner in Shanghai Duan
& Duan Law Firm (\E/SEFEL BN SETEFT). From January 2001 to
May 2014, Mr. Xu served as the partner of Shanghai Haoying Law Firm*
(/g mERERNESAT). From May 2014 to November 2016, Mr. Xu
served as the senior partner of CoEffort Law Firm LLP (/&1 7118
S HGP).

Mr. Xu graduated from the Shanghai Maritime College (_E/8/5 8 £f57),
currently known as Shanghai Maritime University (_E/8/8 % KE2) in
January 1982 with a Bachelor's degree, majoring in ocean shipping
business, and obtained a Master’s degree majoring in international
economic law in January 1991. Mr. Xu has also been an arbitrator at the
China Maritime Arbitration Commission (B SE(HEZEZ E @) since
May 2017.

* Foridentification only
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Wei Shusong

Mr. Wei Shusong (B8 &A% 4), aged 78, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 20 December 2021. Mr. Wei is
a senior and registered accountant, who has approximately 20 years of
experience working in government departments, and approximately
10 years of experience serving as an independent director in listed
companies. From September 1985 to September 1999, Mr. Wei
successively held important positions in the Harbin Municipal Finance
Bureau (W5 ERVE TH UM BAIBUS), Harbin Municipal Audit Bureau (*& &8
B IBATERET /), Harbin Municipal Institutional Reform Commission
(MEEREMBTESIZREZ BE), and Municipal Securities Regulatory
Office (METFE = ﬁ*ﬂ%ﬂiﬁ#“* Mr. Wei then served as the
director and inspector (E1F k8 &) of the Fuzhou Special Office of
the China Securities Regulatory Commission (FF Bl 78 B5 & f& ) 45 IR 3%)
from July 1999 to July 2003 and from July 2003 to September 2004,
respectively. Mr. Wei had retired since September 2004. Subsequently,
Mr. Wei served as an independent director in Fujian Starnet
Communication Co., Ltd. ({82 £ B @M AR A 7)) (stock
code: 002396.57) from October 2005 to December 2011, in Yango
Group Co,, Ltd (G S B/ B R A F]) (stock code: 000671.57)
from December 2007 to December 2010, and in Fujian Nanping Sun
Cable Co., LTD. (f@2m ¥ KI5 BERH B R A A (stock code:
002300.52) from January 2013 to September 2014 respectively.

Mr. Wei graduated from the Renmin University of China (FFEI A RKX

E2) in 1968 and graduated from the Graduate University of the Chinese
Academy of Sciences (BT ABr) in 1991.
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Senior management

Mr. Chen Chengmei (BR 8 5E %), aged 60, is the vice president of
our Company since 28 June 2016. Mr. Chen has participated in the
management of our Group since 1 February 2010 where he has been
primarily responsible for supervising tanker chartering business of our
Group.

Mr. Chen has approximately 12 years of relevant experience in the
shipping industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chen served as the
general manager at Fuzhou South Pipeline Gas Technology
Development Co,, Ltd* (& /75 B BRI MTF B R A 7)) from
April 2002 to April 2004, a company principally engaged in gas
Technology Development pipeline provision, where he was mainly
responsible for overseeing the overall operations of gas pipeline
provision.

From May 2006 until April 2018, Mr. Chen served as the deputy general
manager at Fujian Chuan Yuan, a company principally engaged in
investment, where he was mainly responsible for supervising overall
operations.

Mr. Chen served as the deputy chief executive officer of Jincheng
Hengtong from January 2010 until November 2017, where he was
mainly responsible for supervening investment of Jincheng Hengtong.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chung Ming Fai (#8318 % 4), was appointed as the company
secretary of our Company on 26 August 2022. Mr. Chung has over 18
years of experience in the corporate secretarial field, mergers and
acquisitions, financial reporting and auditing. Mr. Chung currently
serves as a vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong
Kong) Limited ("SWCS"), a professional services provider specialising in
corporate services. Mr. Chung was nominated by SWCS to act as our
company secretary pursuant to an engagement letter entered into
between our Company and SWCS.

Mr. Chung graduated from the Australian National University and
obtained a bachelor’s degree in commerce in 2003. Mr. Chung is
currently a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of CPA Australia.

* Foridentification only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to upholding high standards of corporate
governance practices and business ethics in the firm belief that they
are crucial to improving the efficiency and performance of the Group
and to safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders. The Board
reviews the Company’s corporate governance practices from time to
time in order to meet the expectations of stakeholders and comply
with increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance. Set out below are
the principles of corporate governance as adopted by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders, enhance
corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own'’s
corporate governance code of practices and complied with all the
code provisions set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31
December 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors of any non-
compliance with the Model Code during the year ended 31 December
2022, and they have all confirmed their full compliance with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code.
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CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

We endeavour to provide high quality asphalt tanker and bulk carrier
chartering services. As one of the market players in the shipping
industry, the Group is strictly adhered to the laws and regulations of
the jurisdictions governing our operations. Our Group dedicates its
efforts to comply with the regulatory framework on maritime safety
and environmental protection promulgated by the International
Maritime Organization ("IMO"). From vessel design to vessel operation,
we aim to minimise potential environmental impacts across the entire
business cycle by building or retrofitting our ships for better energy
efficiency and lower carbon emissions.

We realise the sustainability of our business depends on its impact on
the environment and risk management on maritime safety. The Group
regularly engages experienced and professional ship management
companies to inspect and carry out maintenance on our fleet. Our
maritime department closely monitors the routes of our vessels for
maritime safety and avoid regions with political unrest and local
conflicts.

We recognise our employees as our most valuable asset. The Group
focuses on recruiting and retaining competent employees by offering
competitive remuneration packages, diverse training as well as
comprehensive occupational health and safety measures, to create a
safe and joyful workplace for all employees and equip themselves with
integrity, business ethics and skills for their duties.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and should take decisions objectively in the best interests
of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time in performing them.

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills
and experience desirable for effective leadership of the Company and
independence in decision making.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company has five executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. As at the date of this
annual report, the composition of the Board is as follows:
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Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Jiagan (Vice Chairman)
(appointed on 11 March 2022)

Mr. Xu Wenjun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Ding Yuzhao

Mr. Lin Shifeng

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Suen Chi Wai

Mr. Xu Jie

Mr. Wei Shusong

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Biography of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant
to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are
expressly identified in all corporate commmunications pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors do not have any other financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with one
another.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company have been separated as required by code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code. For the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Chen Ming
has served as the chairman of the Board and Mr. Xu Wenjun has served
as the chief executive officer of the Company.

The chairman provides leadership and governance for the Board so as
to create the conditions for the effective performance of the Board as a
whole and effective contribution by individual Director and to ensure
that the Board performs its responsibilities and all key and appropriate
issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The chief
executive officer has the delegated power to manage the Company
and to oversee the activities of the Company on a day-to-day basis.

The division of responsibilities between the chairman and the chief
executive officer is defined and established in writing.
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Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

During the Year Under Review, the Company convened one annual
general meeting ("AGM"), one extraordinary general meeting ("EGM")
and four Board meetings.

The attendance of the above meetings by each Director is as follows:

EEZEERRESHERHE

REBEFE KARAAR—XBERBF
R ((RRAFAE))  —KABEREH
RE ([RREBAG]) RMOREFSEH

EEFHF DREZNBERFIIMT

Number of meetings attended/
held during the Director’s term of office

ESNERALEBTEERE

Annual Extraordinary

Board general general

meeting meeting meeting

Name of Directors ESnS EZE82 RREFAE RRBIXE

Mr. Chen Ming (Chairman) BREGITAE (/) 4/4 1/1 1/1

Mr. Chen Jiagan (Vice Chairman) RR&BEE(BFRE) 4/4 1/1 1/1

Mr. Xu Wenjun (Chief Executive Officer) 1839 %4 (7TH4E5) 4/4 1/1 1/1

Mr. Ding Yuzhao TE8EAE 4/4 1/1 11

Mr. Lin Shifeng MR LA 4/4 1/1 11

Mr. Wei Shusong MENMESE 4/4 11 11

Mr. Suen Chi Wai BEREE 4/4 1/1 1/1

Mr. Xu Jie rEtsE 4/4 1/1 1/1
Apart from regular Board meetings, the chairman of the Board also BRBHEREFTLCRIN EFTLLF

held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors during the Year Under Review.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Year Under Review and up to the date of this annual report,
the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance
with the independence requirement set out in the Listing Rules.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the Directors is engaged on a service contract (in the case of
the executive Directors) or a letter of appointment (in the case of
independent non-executive Directors) for a specific term of three years.

The Company's articles of association (the “Articles of Association”)
provides that all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall be subject to election by Shareholders at
the next following general meeting of the Company.

Every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall also
be subject to retirement and re-election by rotation at least once every
three years at the AGMs of the Company under the Articles of
Association.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company's affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and
risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgment on
corporate actions and operations.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities
relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and
coordinating the daily operation and management of the Company
are delegated to the management.

Board Independence

The Company has established a mechanism for the Board to obtain
independent views and opinions to ensure the Board has an
independent element as a key measure to improve the efficiency of
the Board and the implementation and effectiveness of the mechanism
will be reviewed annually by the Board. The mechanism covers the
channels for the Directors to seek advice from external professional
advisors; and the right for Directors to obtain further information and
documents from the management in connection with the matters to
be discussed at the Board meetings.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
they remain informed and relevant for their contribution to the Board.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the Year Under Review, all Directors had complied with the
code provision C.1.4 of CG Code through attending training courses or
reading materials relevant to the duties of Directors.
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The table below summarises the participation of each of the Directors
in continuous professional development during the Year Under Review
and up to the date of this annual report:

TERBAREENEEFEREEARSF
HBEM2EBEEXERNEBEN

Attending

training/briefing

on regulatory
development, Reading Legal
directors' duties or and Regulatory

otherrelevant Updates and other
topics Reference Materials

SMEBEERS - FERH

EEEESHMER EBI R B AR
Name of Director EEE8 BMEIN, SRS Higt2EZE%8
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chen Ming PR &4 5T A& 4 4
Mr. Chen Jiagan PRER &4 4 v
Mr. Xu Wenjun mXkE 4 4
Mr. Ding Yuzhao TE&I%EAE v/ 4
Mr. Lin Shifeng PRIt $8 58 A 4 v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Mr. Wei Shusong BMENLEA 4 4
Mr. Suen Chi Wai BREREEE v v
Mr. Xu Jie wREEE 4 v

BOARD COMMITTEES EXZ89

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority and
duties. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee are posted
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to Shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee, the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee are independent
non-executive Directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expense.
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Audit Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wei Shusong,
Mr. Suen Chi Wai and Mr. Xu Jie. Mr. Suen Chi Wai, being the chairman
of the Audit Committee, is appropriately qualified as required under
Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process,
risk management and internal controls system of the Group, assist the
Board to fulfill its responsibility over the audit, and review and approve
connected transactions and to advise the Board.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the functions
set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. These include
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board,;
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management of the Company;
reviewing and monitoring the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; developing,
reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors of the Company;
and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code from time
to time adopted by the Company and the disclosure in the corporate
governance report to be contained in the Company’s annual report.

During the Year Under Review, three Audit Committee meetings were
held. It had reviewed and discussed the interim and annual financial
statements, the interim results announcement and report, annual
results announcement and report, the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and the effectiveness of the internal
control of the Group and recommended the re-appointment of auditor
to the Board.

EREER

RAFREH BEREEEH =B
SEMmITERMANK BBRENEE - FBE
BERERGBELE BEBLEELSE
REEEXFE  KAHBLETRAIE3 00
N32MEFRENEE B -

EZZEEeNBELENEREEER
iF e BESE -EREEeNT
REAEHRERASE MK E R
F AR EIE LA E - mEE
%CQETTE%%H%E&%%&M}&EE@
RXHRAEEESREES -

ERLZEENBERTLEESTAS
A2UVEFBME X AT BBige - ER 21
HE B A RANDEERE Eﬁ&%
R - UYRESERLEZ BRIKE
$Qﬁ%$&%%ﬁ§ﬁ)\ﬁﬂ@ﬁ%ﬂ\&%
BEXER  RUKRERANAREEST
%&&@LA%@EHEE’JBZ SPSER

A RERARFEEREETNR
ﬁﬂ'JﬁAiﬁiﬁ(ﬁDﬁ) LSRN
T}QTYZIK GRS ZWE’JJL%E/u—rE'J
MIERRERNGFERAFLEER
HEANEEE -

%@@ig’%ﬁﬁ REVERE®S
- B2 B K 5w B K R R B R
ﬁ THEEAELRBE FEEER
ERME  ARBEARAN SR K
BOIARAEBE AR OERIE - I
NEMERZEMANESSFLERER -

BREERBMERAF / 2022FFH 41



Corporate Governance Report
TtEERRE

The attendance records of the members of the Audit Committee are as
follows:

ENZEERENHFELENT

Attendance/

Number of

Meeting(s)

HERE,

Name of Members of the Audit Committee ERZEERENA SRR
Mr. Suen Chi Wai (Chairman) BRERKE(FE) 3/3
Mr. Wei Shusong MENLEAE 3/3
Mr. Xu Jie REEAE 3/3

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules
and the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, namely Mr. Xu Jie and Mr. Suen Chi Waij, the independent
non-executive Directors, and Mr. Xu Wenjun, the chief executive officer
and executive Director. Mr. Xu Jie is the chairman of the committee.
The majority of the Remuneration Committee members are
independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of
the Remuneration Committee are to review and make
recommendations to the Board regarding the terms of remuneration
packages, bonuses and other compensation payable to our Directors
and senior management.
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During the Year Under Review, three meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held. It had reviewed the Company's remuneration
policy and restructure and the remuneration package for Directors and
senior management, and assessed performance of executive Directors
and approved/proposed the terms of executive Directors’ service
contracts . The Remuneration Committee also made recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management. The attendance records of the
members of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

ROBEFE BRT-_AFHEEES
@ HOBEMNARRAREFLSAE
EEMFMBRERE - URFHB =
W ERITEFNORR - #E/2EH
TEENRBEOFH -FHEEEN
ARERRATEELRSRERBENHFMS
RRNEFERHERZ -FHZBEGXE
B ERCER T

Attendance/

Number of

Meeting(s)

Name of Members of the Remuneration HERE
Committee FHEEERENA SRR
Mr. Xu Jie (Chairman) BELE(EE) 3/3
Mr. Xu Wenjun ™ kE 3/3
Mr. Suen Chi Wai BRERTE 3/3

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
remuneration of the senior management (other than Directors) by
bands for the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

BELEEETRISFRESCEEIS K
HE20NFN2ANBIUEFE RHFWNSE
BEENRRERAB (ESHIN OF
FHEFBE T -

Number of

employee(s) (Note)

Remuneration bands HENEE EE A (KEE)
HK$1,000,001 to HKS$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7T ZE 1,500,000 78 7T 1

Note: Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Chen Ming, the chairman and
executive Director, Mr. Suen Chi Wai and Mr. Xu Jie, the independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Chen Ming is the chairman of the
committee. The majority of the Nomination Committee members are
independent non-executive Directors.
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The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of
the Nomination Committee are (i) to review the structure, size and

composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
of perspectives) of the Board at least annually; and (ii) to make
recommendations to our Board regarding the appointment of
Directors and Board succession.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (‘Board Diversity
Policy”). A summary of the Board Diversity Policy is set out below:

Pu

Board Diversity

rpose:

Policy
statement:

Measurable

44

Objectives:

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the
approach to achieve diversity in the Company’s
Board.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in
supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’s composition, the Nomination committee has
primary responsibility for identifying suitably qualified
candidates to become members of the Board and all
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board. All appointments are based on the
principle of merit-based appointment and
comprehensive consideration of objective
conditions, so as to select leading talents with both
ability and virtue.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Company understands and believes that diversity on the Board of
Directors contributes greatly to enhancing the quality of the
Company’s performance. The Company is committed to selecting the
best candidates for board membership. Selection of candidates will be
based the above measurable objective. The Board considers that
independent directors can enhance the effectiveness and decision-
making ability of the Board by providing independent views, objective
judgments and constructive challenges to the Board and the
management of the Group.

Also, having reviewed the Board composition, the Board recognises the
importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board level and shall
continue to take initiatives to identify female candidate(s) to enhance
the gender diversity among the Board members. We will appoint at
least one female representation in our Board before 31 December
2024.

As at 31 December 2022, among 40 employees of the Group, 23 (57%)
were male and 17 (43%) were female, which was an appropriate
gender ratio given the nature of the business of the Group in shipping
industry.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy
(‘Nomination Policy”) which sets out a set of nomination procedures
and selection criteria for directors. The Nomination Committee shall
evaluate and select candidates based on the criteria by reference to
character and integrity, business experience relevant and beneficial to
the Company, qualifications including professional qualifications, skills
and knowledge that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy, willingness to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and other significant commitments,
present needs of the Board for particular expertise, skills or experience
and whether the candidates would satisfy those needs, requirement
for the Board to have independent directors in accordance with the
Listing Rules and whether the candidates for independent directors
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules and the Board
Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by the
Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the Board.
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During the Year Under Review, two meetings of the Nomination
Committee were held. It had reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, made recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and re-appointment of Directors and
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
Nomination Policy. The attendance records of the members of the
Nomination Committee are as follows:

%@@iﬁ BEBITMNIRBEEES

cHEEMEETSMREE RERAE
& TEBUERITEENBE LN B
*E&Eﬁ*&é%ﬁé%Aﬁﬁ%E
ERERBRTRERRIREMEESE
HEEER - %%éﬁaﬁﬁmﬁrﬁ
$RU0R

Attendance/

Number of

Meeting(s)

Name of Members of the Nomination HERE,
Committee REZESHEHA SRR
Mr. Chen Ming (Chairman) BR&GAEAE (EE) 2/2
Mr. Suen Chi Wai HEELEE 2/2
Mr. Xu Jie RERE 2/2

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
maintaining an adequate risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems on an
ongoing basis and such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Group's risk management and internal
control systems are designed to (i) identify, assess and monitor key
business risks across all business units; (ii) establish risk and control
procedures to ensure that the risk management and internal control
measures are operating as intended; and (iii) review and report the
effectiveness and adequacy of risk management and internal control
systems. We evaluate and monitor key risks within our business as
follows:

Credit Risk. We select customers with good credit records and
preferably larger companies with long established records. For
further details, please refer to the section headed “Business —
Sales and Marketing” in the Prospectus.

Environmental Risk. We maintain a newer fleet of vessels with an
average age of less than seven years old, with regular inspections
of equipment carried out and we rely on experienced and
professional ship management companies to minimise the
probability of environmental pollution. For further details, please
refer to the section headed “Business — Suppliers — Ship
Management Companies” in the Prospectus.
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Market Risk. We are exposed to various types of market risks,
including changes in foreign exchange rate, interest rate and
fluctuations of any component of our operating costs during the
normal course of business.

For further details regarding our exposure to market risks, please
refer to the sections headed “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Our
Business” and “Financial Information — Principal Factors Affecting
Our Results of Operations” in the Prospectus.

Political Risk. As maritime safety will be affected by political
unrest, our marine department will closely monitor the maritime
safety of the route of our vessels to minimize the impact of local
conflicts or other political unrest.

During the Year Under Review, the Group has engaged an
independent internal control consultant to conduct a review on the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group covering all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance as
well as risk management. No significant area of concern that may affect
the financial, operational, compliance controls and risk management of
the Group has been identified. The Board considers that the Group's
risk management and internal control are adequate and effective. The
Group does not have an internal audit function and will engage an
external party to review risk management and internal control systems
annually. The Audit Committee and the Board have considered risk
management and internal control report prepared by an independent
internal control consultant and were satisfied with the existing internal
controls. The Audit Committee and the Board will continue to review
the need for an internal audit function on an annual basis.

In addition, the procedures on disclosure of inside information were in
place to ensure that all relevant facts and circumstances that may have
material effect on the share price of the Company are promptly
assessed and that any material information which comes to the
knowledge of any one or more officers of the Group is promptly
identified, assessed and, if appropriate, escalated for the attention of
the Board to determine whether a disclosure is required.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Directors have taken into account the cash requirements of the
Group for the next twelve months from the end of the reporting
period, and have concluded that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet in full its financial obligations as they fall due and
accordingly the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in
the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual
report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend distribution ratio shall be determined by the Board from
time to time. The declaration and payment of dividends shall be
determined by the Board, which is also in the best interests of the
Group and Shareholders of the Company. In addition, the final dividend
for any financial year is subject to Shareholders” approval. The
remaining net profit will be used for the operation and development of
the Group. When determining whether to propose dividends and
determining the amount of dividends, the Board should consider,
among other things, the following factors:

(A) current and future business, actual and expected financial results
of the Company;

(B) any development plan of the Company;
(Q) liquidity position, working capital and capital expenditure
requirements and future expected capital requirements of the

Group;

(D) the debt-to-equity ratio, return-on-equity ratio and the level of
the relevant financial contracts of the Group;

(E)  any restrictions on the payment of dividends may be imposed by
the lenders of the Group or other third parties;
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(F) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group and
each member of the Group;

(G) general economic conditions, the business cycle of the Group’s
business as well as other internal and external factors that may
affect the Company or financial results and position; and

(H) any other factors that the Board considers appropriate and
relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends are subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Act, any applicable laws, rules and
regulations, including the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the external auditors
of the Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for
the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

F AEBRAEEE-KERRNE
FHEMA D EERST

G —REBENRN AEEXRBHHLS
BHARAGEHARNRR KM RS
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Fees Paid/Payable

Service Category PR 7% %8 Bl Bt EAER
HKS'000

TFET

Audit Services BIZRT 1,030
Non-audit Services (mainly related to BRI (FES R 634

interim review service) o EREE B AR TS
TOTAL 4Bt 1,664
COMPANY SECRETARY NEWE

The Company has engaged SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong
Kong) Limited, an external service provider, and Mr. Chung Ming Fai
has been appointed as the Company’s company secretary. Its primary
contact person at the Company is Mr. Lin Shifeng, the executive
Director and the financial controller of the Company.

The company secretary attended sufficient professional training as
required under the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2022
to update their skills and knowledge.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, the Company will
propose separate resolution for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Director. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general
meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, in
aggregate not less than one tenth of the voting rights (on a one vote
per share basis) in the share capital of the Company may also make a
requisition to convene an EGM and add resolutions to the agenda of a
meeting. Such requisition (and resolutions to a meeting agenda, as
applicable) shall be made in writing to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Companies
Act for Shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing a
person for election as a Director of the Company, please refer to the
“Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election as a
Director” of the Company which is posted on the Company's website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests to the Board as
mentioned above via the following channels:

Address - Room 02-05, 40™ Floor, International Financial Centre,
No. 23 Changting Street, Taijiang, Fuzhou, China
Email . angelazhu@xysgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders” information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group's business performance and strategies.
The Company adopts a shareholders’ communication policy and
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings. At the annual general meeting, directors (or their delegates
as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.xysgroup.com as a
communication platform with Shareholders of the Company and
investors, where the financial information and other relevant
information of the Company are available for public access.

The Board has conducted annual review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy of our
Company, and concluded that the policy was implemented effectively
during the Year Under Review.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year Under Review, the Company's Articles of Association
was amended and the new Articles of Association was passed and
adopted by the Shareholders of the Company at the 2022 AGM. The
purposes of making the amendments were to comply with
requirements of the Core Shareholder Protection Standards as set out
in the amended Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules which took effect on 1
January 2022 and to incorporate the housekeeping amendments to
the Articles of Association.

Consolidated version of the Company’s constitutional documents is

available on the website of each of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of asphalt tanker chartering services
and bulk carrier chartering services. The principal activities of the
Company'’s principal subsidiaries are set forth in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2022 by operating segments is set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set forth in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 167 to 170 of this
annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

No Share was issued for the year ended 31 December 2022. Details of
the Shares of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the identity of the Shareholders of the
Company entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to be held on Thursday, 15 June 2023, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 12 June 2023
to Thursday, 15 June 2023, both days inclusive, during the period no
transfer of shares will be registered. All transfers accompanied by the
relevant certificates must be lodged with the Company’s transfer office
and share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/
F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 9 June 2023.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2022,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act, amounted to
US$74.9 million (2021: US$74.9 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out on page 6
of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
were;

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Jiagan (Vice Chairman)
(appointed on 11 March 2022)

Mr. Xu Wenjun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Ding Yuzhao

Mr. Lin Shifeng

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Wei Shusong

Mr. Suen Chi Wai

Mr. Xu Jie

On 11 March 2022, Mr. Chen Jiagan has been appointed as an
executive Director and the vice chairman of the Board.

The Company has received written confirmations of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wei
Shusong, Mr. Suen Chi Wai and Mr. Xu Jie, pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. As at the date of this annual report, the Company still
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

Retirement and re-election of Directors

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association, at each
AGM, one third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation. However, if the number of Directors is not a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one third shall
be the number of retiring Directors. The Directors to retire in each year
shall be those who have been in office longest since their last re-
election or appointment but, as between persons who became or
were last re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall
(unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
Accordingly, Mr. Chen Ming, Mr. Ding Yuzhao and Mr. Suen Chi Wai
shall retire by rotation. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years since the Listing Date and will
be renewed or extended automatically by one year upon the expiry of
the initial term and each successive term until termination in
accordance with the service contact. The Company also entered into
the appointment letters with all the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Suen Chi Wai and Mr. Xu Jie on 26 September
2021, and Mr. Wei Shusong on 20 December 2021. These appointment
letters have a term of three years. All of them are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the AGM in accordance with the Articles
of Association. Their emoluments were determined by the Board by
reference to their experience, responsibilities and duties with the
Company and shall be reviewed annually by the Remuneration
Committee. The details of the remuneration of each of the Directors
are revealed in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has a service contract with the Company, which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS
THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE
COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance to which the Company’s
subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 25 to 33 of this annual report.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The change in the information of the Director of the Company, which
is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules, is set out below:

Name of Director Detail of change

EENGREEENEERE

EENSREEEBMNBEFBSHNAF
B ISE33H

B FHRBIFE135IBMIEZIRE BT
WEANREEENZEEHYWT :

B SEHF

Mr. Suen Chi Wai Mr. Suen Chi Wai, an independent non-
executive Director, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of
BoardWare Intelligence Technology Limited
(“BoardWare") (stock code: 1204) in June
2022. The shares of BoardWare were listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange in July

2022.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other change in information
required to be disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules during
the year and up to the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was established for reviewing the
Group's emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group having regard to the
Group's operating results, individual performance and comparable
market standard and practices. The Company has adopted a share
option scheme as an incentive to the Directors and eligible employees,
details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” below.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) ("SFO")
which will be required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or (b) to be entered into the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or (c) as otherwise to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules, are set out as follows:
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(a) Our Company (@ A2F
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding in
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held” our Company
RAATH
EENSA RERME FrERGEE® BEA B RELE 51
Mr. Xu Wenjun®@ Interest of controlled corporation 34,079,000 Shares (L) 7.75%
R ELED X EE R S 34,079,000 B B& 19 (L) 7.75%
Mr. Ding Yuzhao® Interest of controlled corporation 14,898,000 Shares (L) 3.39%
TE&EE® X EE RS 14,898,000 MRS 17 (L) 3.39%
Mr. Lin Shifeng® Interest of controlled corporation 17,478,000 Shares (L) 3.97%
MRt E2 S @ X EE RS 17,478,000 MR 17 (L) 3.97%
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Notes:
M The letter “L” denotes our Directors’ long position in the Shares.

) Perfect Bliss Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr. Xu Wenjun, an executive
Director. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xu Wenjun is deemed to be interested in
the 34,079,000 Shares held by Perfect Bliss Limited.

(3) Gigantic Path Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr. Ding Yuzhao, an
executive Director. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Ding Yuzhao is deemed to be
interested in the 14,898,000 Shares held by Gigantic Path Limited.

(4) Profit Source HK Trading Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr. Lin Shifeng,
an executive Director. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Lin Shifeng is deemed to be
interested in the 17,478,000 Shares held by Profit Source HK Trading
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions in which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be maintained pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2022 was the Company or its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or their spouses
or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for
the Share or debt securities of the Company or any other body
corporate, or had exercised any such right.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, so far as our Directors are aware, the persons
(other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) who will
have or be deemed or taken to have interests and/or short positions in
the Shares or the underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who
were recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the Company's issued share capital will be

FERRRERGRERERKRD S
BHERKRR

R2022F 128318 BEEHM - UT
AT (BEERARAIRSITERABRIN
1 PR 48 AR B S B VE A R 10 X A B iR
MHEEBRBEES R PEEMEXVIBE
2 REIDEEUESA TR BERED &K
KR RN ARARIREESFNRE
ERAIEBIREFTE 2B R » KEHEK
MEBEEARRREBEITRAS% A L/

as follows: s
Approximate
percentage of
Capacity/ Numberof  shareholdingin
Shareholders Nature of interest Shares held™ our Company
RAEQFH
R=R B HEmHE FERAEE ™ BEAY BR R L 1
UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL Beneficial owner 116,000,000 Shares (L) 26.36%
TECHNOLOGY (HONG KONG)
LIMITED®
RFEBRE(BE)ERAF E=HAA 116,000,000 A& A 17 (L) 26.36%
PROSPEROUS BRIGHT LIMITED® Interest of controlled 116,000,000 Shares (L) 26.36%
corporation
PROSPEROUS BRIGHT LIMITED® XA 116,000,000 A% A& 15 (L) 26.36%
Mr. Chen Maochun®@ Interest of controlled 116,000,000 Shares (L) 26.36%
corporation
BRIXF L ED XA 116,000,000 P& B9 (L) 26.36%
Ms. Ni Hualing® Interest of spouse 116,000,000 Shares (L) 26.36%
RER LT feiEE s 116,000,000 AZ A7 (L) 26.36%
Well Grace Trading Co., Limited® Beneficial owner 49,000,000 Shares (L) 11.14%
EREZHERAAO EnEB A 49,000,000 A% A% 17 (L) 11.14%
Mr. Lin Kaiquan® Interest of controlled 49,000,000 Shares (L) 11.14%
corporation
MERTED R EE R 49,000,000 A% 17 (L) 11.14%
Ms. Yang Lihua® Interest of spouse 49,000,000 Shares (L) 11.14%
BEELLO feiBER 49,000,000 A% B 17 (L) 11.14%

60 XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Report of the Directors

EEEHE

Approximate

percentage of

Capacity/ Numberof  shareholdingin

Shareholders Nature of interest Shares held” our Company

RAEQFH

IR By, Mg FrERGEE ™ BB AL B

HJ Technology Co., Limited® Beneficial owner 36,000,000 Shares (L) 8.18%

ESREAERARY E=BBA 36,000,000 REA 15 (L) 8.18%

Mr. Wu Kai® Interest of controlled 36,000,000 Shares (L) 8.18%
corporation

RlgEE® R AEER 36,000,000 A A5 (L) 8.18%

Ms. Pang Min® Interest of spouse 36,000,000 Shares (L) 8.18%

BERL L@ foiBtE= 36,000,000 R& A& 15 (L) 8.18%

Perfect Bliss Limited® Beneficial owner 34,079,000 Shares (L) 7.75%

Perfect Bliss Limited® BEnEEA 34,079,000 MR (L) 7.75%

Ms. Zhu Zhen © Interest of spouse 34,079,000 Shares (L) 7.75%

KL foiBtE= 34,079,000 R& A& 15 (L) 7.75%

Golden Boomer Limited® Beneficial owner 30,000,000 Shares (L) 6.82%

Golden Boomer Limited® BEnEAEA 30,000,000 FEEA% 15 (L) 6.82%

Ms. Lan Shaoyun® Interest of controlled 30,000,000 Shares (L) 6.82%
corporation

MBELLO X AE R 30,000,000 R& A& 15 (L) 6.82%

Mr. Hong Jianbin® Interest of spouse 30,000,000 Shares (L) 6.82%

HEER O [y 30,000,000 R& A& 15 (L) 6.82%

Industrial Bank Co., Ltd® Person having a security interest 30,000,000 Shares (L) 6.82%

in shares

BERITRD AR ARO HERMHRBEERNA 30,000,000 R&AE 5 (L) 6.82%

Forever Win Asia Trading Limited"” Beneficial owner 24,540,000 Shares (L) 5.58%

Forever Win Asia Trading Limited” E=BBA 24,540,000 A% A5 (L) 5.58%

Mr. Chen Chengmei®” Interest of controlled 24,540,000 Shares (L) 5.58%
corporation

PRAXIB S A O R AEER 24,540,000 A& RZ 15 (L) 5.58%
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Notes:

1.

Save
who

The letter “L" denotes a person’s long position (as defined under Part XV of the
SFO) in our Shares.

UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL TECHNOLOGY (HONG KONG) LIMITED is owned as to
100% by PROSPEROUS BRIGHT LIMITED, which is in turn wholly owned by Mr.
Chen Maochun. As such, each of PROSPEROUS BRIGHT LIMITED and Mr. Chen
Maochun is deemed to be interested in the 116,000,000 Shares held by
UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL TECHNOLOGY (HONG KONG) LIMITED pursuant to
the SFO. Ms. Ni Hualing is the spouse of Mr. Chen Maochun.

Well Grace Trading Co., Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr. Lin Kaiquan. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Lin Kaiquan is deemed to be interested in the 49,000,000 Shares
held by Well Grace Trading Co,, Limited. Ms. Yang Lihua is the spouse of Mr. Lin
Kaiquan.

HJ Technology Co., Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr. Wu Kai. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Wu Kai is deemed to be interested in the 36,000,000 Shares held by HJ
Technology Co., Limited. Ms. Pang Min is the spouse of Mr. Wu Kai.

Perfect Bliss Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr. Xu Wenjun. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. Xu Wenjun is deemed to be interested in the 34,079,000 Shares held by
Perfect Bliss Limited. Ms. Zhu Zhen is the spouse of Mr. Xu Wenjun.

Golden Boomer Limited is owned as to 100% by Ms. Lan Shaoyun. By virtue of the
SFO, Ms. Lan Shaoyun is deemed to be interested in the 30,000,000 Shares held by
Golden Boomer Limited. Mr. Hong Jianbin is the spouse of Ms. Lan Shaoyun.
Golden Boomer Limited provided an interest in the 30,000,000 Shares as security
to Industrial Bank Co,, Ltd, a person other than a qualified lender.

Forever Win Asia Trading Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr. Chen Chengmei. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chen Chengmei is deemed to be interested in the
24,540,000 Shares held by Forever Win Asia Trading Limited.

as disclosed herein, the Directors are not aware of any person
has, as at the date of this annual report (without taking into

account any options which may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme), an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares, which would be required to be disclosed to the Company and
the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or, directly or indirectly, be interested in 5% of the issued
voting shares of any other member of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Our Company has conditionally adopted the share option scheme on
6 September 2018 which became effective on the Listing Date (the
“Share Option Scheme”). Under the Share Option Scheme, Eligible
Participants (as defined below), may be granted options which entitle
them to subscribe for Shares, when aggregated with options granted
under any other scheme, representing initially not more than 10% of
the Shares in issue on the Listing Date.

As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, no
option had been granted or to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

(a) Purpose

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions the
Eligible Participants (as defined in paragraph (b) below) have had
or may have made to our Group. The Share Option Scheme will
provide the Eligible Participants an opportunity to have a
personal stake in our Company with the view to achieving the
following objectives:

() motivating the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of our Group; and

(i) attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going
business relationships with the Eligible Participants whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term
growth of our Group.
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(b) Who may join
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The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to
subscribe for such number of new Shares as the Board may
determine at an exercise price determined in accordance with
paragraph (f) below to the following persons (“Eligible
Participants”):

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers
of our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) any Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers and agents

to our Company or any of its subsidiaries; and

(iv)  such other persons who, in the sole opinion of the Board,
will contribute or have contributed to our Group, the
assessment criteria of which are:

(aa) contribution to the development and performance of
our Group;

(bb) quality of work performed for our Group;

(co) initiative and commitment in performing his duties;
and

(dd) length of service or contribution to our Group.
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(c)

Acceptance of an offer of options

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted
by the grantee and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer
document constituting acceptance of the options duly signed by
the grantee, together with a remittance in favour of our Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof, is
received by our Company on or before the relevant acceptance
date. Such payment shall in no circumstances be refundable. Any
offer for grant of an option to subscribe for Shares may be
accepted in respect of less than the number of Shares for which
it is offered provided that it is accepted in respect of a board lot
for dealing in Shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral
multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the
duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the option.
To the extent that the offer to grant an option is not accepted by
any prescribed acceptance date, it shall be deemed to have been
irrevocably declined.

Subject to paragraphs (I), (m), (n), (o) and (p), an option shall be
exercised in whole or in part and, other than where it is exercised
to the full extent outstanding, shall be exercised in integral
multiples of such number of Shares as shall represent one board
lot for dealing in Shares on the Stock Exchange for the time
being, by the grantee by giving notice in writing to our Company
stating that the option is thereby exercised and the number of
Shares in respect of which it is exercised. Each such notice must
be accompanied by a remittance for the full amount of the
exercise price for the Shares in respect of which the notice is
given.

Within 21 days after receipt of the notice and the remittance and,
where appropriate, receipt of the certificate by the auditors to
our Company or the independent financial adviser as the case
may be pursuant to paragraph (r), our Company shall allot and
issue the relevant number of Shares to the grantee credited as
fully paid and issue to the grantee share certificates in respect of
the Shares so allotted.

The exercise of any option shall be subject to our Shareholders in
general meeting approving any necessary increase in the
authorised share capital of our Company.
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(d) Maximum number of shares
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The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all option to be granted (including Shares in respect
of which options, whether exercised or still outstanding, have
already been granted) under the Share Option Scheme and
under any other share option schemes of our Company must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
on the Listing Date, being 40,000,000 Shares (the “Scheme
Limit"), excluding for this purpose Shares which would have
been issuable pursuant to options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme (or any
other share option schemes of our Company). The total number
of Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was
40,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 9.1% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this annual report. Subject to the issue of
a circular by our Company and the approval of our Shareholders
in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed
under the Listing Rules from time to time, the Board may:

(i) renew this limit at any time to 10% of the Shares in issue (the
“New Scheme Limit’) as at the date of the approval by our
Shareholders in general meeting; and/or

(i) grant options beyond the Scheme Limit or New Scheme
Limit to Eligible Participants specifically identified by the
Board. The circular issued by our Company to our
Shareholders shall contain a generic description of the
specified Eligible Participants who may be granted such
options, the number and terms of the options to be
granted, the purpose of granting options to the specified
Eligible Participants with an explanation as to how the
options serve such purpose, and the information required
under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules.
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(e)

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of our Company at any time shall not exceed
30% of the Shares in issue from time to time (the "Maximum
Limit"). No options shall be granted under any schemes of our
Company (including the Share Option Scheme) if this will result
in the Maximum Limit being exceeded. The maximum number of
Shares in respect of which options may be granted shall be
adjusted, in such manner as the auditors of our Company or an
approved independent financial adviser shall certify to be
appropriate, fair and reasonable in the event of any alteration in
the capital structure of our Company in accordance with
paragraph () below whether by way of capitalisation issue, rights
issue, consolidation, sub-division of shares or reduction of the
share capital of our Company but in no event shall exceed the
limit prescribed in this paragraph.

Maximum number of options to any one individual

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Company (including both exercised, outstanding options and
Shares which were the subject of options which have been
granted and accepted under the Share Option Scheme or any
other scheme of our Company but subsequently cancelled (the
"Cancelled Shares”)) to each Eligible Participant in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of
options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to:

() the issue of a circular by our Company containing the
identity of the Eligible Participant, the numbers of and
terms of the options to be granted (and options previously
granted to such participant) and the information as
required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules; and

(e)
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(i)

the approval of our Shareholders in general meeting and/or
other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from
time to time with such Eligible Participant and his close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) (or his/her
associates if the participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting. The numbers and terms (including
the exercise price) of options to be granted to such
participant must be fixed before our Shareholders’ approval
and the date of the Board meeting at which the Board
proposes to grant the options to such Eligible Participant
shall be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the subscription price of the Shares. The Board
shall forward to such Eligible Participant an offer document
in such form as the Board may from time to time determine
or, alternatively, documents accompanying the offer
document which state, among other things:

(@aa) the Eligible Participant’s name, address and
occupation;

(bb) the date on which an option is offered to an Eligible
Participant which must be a date on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities;

(co) the date upon which an offer for an option must be
accepted;

(dd) the date upon which an option is deemed to be
granted and accepted in accordance with paragraph

(©;

(ee) the number of Shares in respect of which the option
is offered:;

(ff)  the subscription price and the manner of payment of
such price for the Shares on and in consequence of
the exercise of the option;

(gg) the date of the notice given by the grantee in respect
of the exercise of the option; and

(hh) the method of acceptance of the option which shall,

unless the Board otherwise determines, be as set out
in paragraph (c).
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(f)

(9)

Price of shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save
that such price will not be less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open
for the business of dealing in securities;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.

Granting options to connected persons

Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of our Company or
any of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
is required to be approved by the independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director
who is the grantee of the options). If the Board proposes to grant
options to a substantial shareholder or any independent non-
executive Director or their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) which will result in the number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of options granted and to be
granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding)
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue;
and

(f)
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(i)

having an aggregate value in excess of HKS5 million or such
other sum as may be from time to time provided under the
Listing Rules, based on the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
at the date of each grant, such further grant of options will
be subject to the approval of our independent non-
executive Directors as referred to in this paragraph, the
issue of a circular by our Company and the approval of our
Shareholders in general meeting on a poll at which the
grantee, his associates and all core connected persons (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of our Company shall abstain
from voting in favour, and/or such other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time. Any
vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such
options shall be taken as a poll.

The circular to be issued by our Company to our Shareholders
pursuant to the above paragraph shall contain the following
information:

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

the details of the number and terms (including the exercise
price) of the options to be granted to each selected Eligible
Participant, which must be fixed before our Shareholders’
meeting and the date of the Board meeting for proposing
such further grant shall be taken as the date of grant for the
purpose of calculating the exercise price of such options;

a recommendation from our independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is the grantee of the options) to the
independent Shareholders as to voting;

the information required under Rule 17.02(2)(c) and (d) of
the Listing Rules; and

the information required under Rule 2.17 of the Listing
Rules.
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(h) Restrictions on the times of grant of options

(i)

A grant of options may not be made after inside information has
come to our Company's knowledge until such information has
been announced pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules and the Inside Information Provisions of Part XIVA of the
SFO. In particular, no options may be granted during the period
commencing one month immediately preceding the earlier of:

(i) the date of the Board meeting (such date to first be notified
to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules)
for the approval of our Company’s results for any year, half-
year, quarterly or any other interim period (whether or not
required under the Listing Rules); and

(i) the deadline for our Company to publish an announcement
of the results for any year, or half-year, or quarterly or any
other interim period (whether or not required under the
Listing Rules); and ending on the date of actual publication
of the results announcement.

Rights are personal to grantee

An option is personal to the grantee. No grantee shall in any way
sell, transfer, assign, charge, mortgage, encumber or otherwise
dispose of or create any interest whatsoever in favour of any third
party over or in relation to any option or attempt so to do (save
that the grantee may nominate a nominee in whose name the
Shares issued pursuant to the Share Option Scheme may be
registered). Any breach of the foregoing by a grantee shall entitle
our Company to cancel any outstanding options or any part
thereof granted to such grantee.
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(k)

U]

72

Time of exercise of option and duration of the share
option scheme

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon which the
option is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the
expiry of 10 years from that date. The minimum period for which
an option must be held before it can be exercised will be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that no
option may be exercised more than 10 years after it has been
granted. No option may be granted more than 10 years after the
date of approval of the Share Option Scheme by the Shareholders
of our Company (the “Adoption Date”). Subject to earlier
termination by our Company in general meeting or by the Board,
the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from the Adoption Date. The remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is around five years.

Performance target

A grantee may be required to achieve any performance targets as
the Board may then specify in the grant before any options
granted under the Share Option Scheme can be exercised.

Rights on ceasing employment/death
If the grantee of an option ceases to be an Eligible Participant:

() by any reason other than death, ill-health, injury, disability
or termination of his/her relationship with our Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries on one or more of the grounds
specified in paragraph (m) below, the grantee may exercise
the option up to the entitlement of the grantee as at the
date of cessation (to the extent not already exercised) in
whole or in part within a period of one month (or such
longer period as the Board may determine) from such
cessation which date shall be the last actual working day
with our Company or the relevant subsidiary whether salary
is paid in lieu of notice or not, failing which it will lapse (or
such longer period as our Company may determine); or
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(i) by reason of death, ill-health, injury or disability (all
evidenced to the satisfaction of the Board) and none of the
events which would be a ground for termination of his
relationship with our Company and/or any of its subsidiaries
under paragraph (m) has occurred, the grantee or, as
appropriate, his personal representative(s) may exercise the
option in full (to the extent not already exercised) within a
period of 12 months (or such longer period as the Board
may determine) from the date of cessation of being an
Eligible Participant or death.

(m) Rights on dismissal

(n)

If the grantee of an option ceases to be an Eligible Participant on
the grounds that he has been guilty of serious misconduct, or has
committed any act of bankruptcy or has become insolvent or has
made any arrangements or composition with his/her creditors
generally, or has been convicted of any criminal offence involving
his/her integrity or honesty, his/her option will lapse and not be
exercisable after the date of termination of his/her employment.

Rights on takeover

If a general offer is made to all our Shareholders (or all such
Shareholders other than the offeror and/or any person controlled
by the offeror and/or any person acting in concert with the
offeror (as defined in the Takeovers Code)) and such offer
becomes or is declared unconditional during the option period
of the relevant option, the grantee of an option shall be entitled
to exercise the option in full (to the extent not already exercised)
at any time within 14 days after the date on which the offer
becomes or is declared unconditional.
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Rights on winding-up

In the event that a notice is given by our Company to its
members to convene a general meeting for the purposes of
considering, and if thought fit, approving a resolution to
voluntarily wind-up our Company, our Company shall forthwith
give notice thereof to all grantees and thereupon, each grantee
(or his legal personal representative(s)) shall be entitled to
exercise all or any of his options (to the extent not already
exercised) at any time not later than two business days prior to
the proposed general meeting of our Company referred to above
by giving notice in writing to our Company, accompanied by a
remittance for the full amount of the aggregate subscription
price for the Shares in respect of which the notice is given,
whereupon our Company shall as soon as possible and, in any
event, no later than the business day immediately prior to the
date of the proposed general meeting, allot the relevant Shares
to the grantee credited as fully paid.

Rights on compromise or arrangement between our
company and its members or creditors

If a compromise or arrangement between our Company and its
members or creditors is proposed for the purposes of a scheme
for the reconstruction of our Company or its amalgamation with
any other companies pursuant to the laws of the jurisdiction in
which our Company was incorporated, our Company shall give
notice to all the grantees of the options on the same day as it
gives notice of the meeting to its members or creditors
summoning the meeting to consider such a compromise or
arrangement and any grantee may by notice in writing to our
Company accompanied by a remittance for the full amount of
the aggregate subscription price for our Shares in respect of
which the notice is given (such notice to be received by our
Company no later than two business days prior to the proposed
meeting), exercise the option to its full extent or to the extent
specified in the notice and our Company shall as soon as possible
and in any event no later than the business day immediately prior
to the date of the proposed meeting, allot and issue such
number of Shares to the grantee which falls to be issued on such
exercise of the option credited as fully paid and register the
grantee as holder thereof.
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With effect from the date of such meeting, the rights of all
grantees to exercise their respective options shall forthwith be
suspended. Upon such compromise or arrangement becoming
effective, all options shall, to the extent that they have not been
exercised, lapse and determine. If for any reason such
compromise or arrangement does not become effective and is
terminated, the rights of grantees to exercise their respective
options shall with effect from such termination be restored in full
but only upon the extent not already exercised and shall become
exercisable.

Ranking of shares

Our Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an option will not
carry voting rights until completion of the registration of the
grantee (or any other person) as the holder thereof. Subject to
the aforesaid, Shares allotted and issued on the exercise of
options will rank pari passu and shall have the same voting,
dividend, transfer and other rights (including those arising on
liquidation) as at attached to the other fully-paid Shares in issue
on the date of exercise, save that they will not rank for any
dividend or other distribution declared or recommended or
resolved to be paid or made by reference to a record date falling
on or before the date of exercise.

Effect of alterations to capital

In the event of any alteration in the capital structure of our
Company whilst any option may become or remains exercisable,
whether by way of capitalisation issue, rights issue, consolidation,
subdivision or reduction of share capital of our Company, such
corresponding alterations (if any) shall be made in the number of
Shares subject to any outstanding options and/or the
subscription price per Share of each outstanding option as the
auditors of our Company or an independent financial adviser
shall certify in writing to the Board to be in their/his opinion fair
and reasonable in compliance with Rule 17.03(13) of the Listing
Rules and the note thereto and the supplementary guidance
attached to the letter from the Stock Exchange dated 5
September 2005 to all issuers relating to share option schemes.
The capacity of the auditors of our Company or the approved
independent financial adviser, as the case may be, in this
paragraph is that of experts and not arbitrators and their
certificate shall, in the absence of manifest error, be final and
conclusive and binding on our Company and the grantees.
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Any such alterations will be made on the basis that a grantee
shall have the same proportion of the equity capital of our
Company (as interpreted in accordance with the supplementary
guidance attached to the letter from the Stock Exchange dated 5
September 2005 to all issuers relating to share option schemes)
for which any grantee of an option is entitled to subscribe
pursuant to the options held by him before such alteration
provided that no such alteration shall be made if the effect of
which would be to enable a Share to be issued at less than its
nominal value. The issue of securities as consideration in a
transaction is not to be regarded as a circumstance requiring any
such alterations.

Expiry of option
An option shall lapse automatically and shall not be exercisable
(to the extent not already exercised) on the earliest of:

(i) the date of expiry of the option as may be determined by
the Board;

(i) the expiry of any of the periods referred to in paragraphs (1),
(m), (n);

(i) the date upon which the scheme of arrangement of our
Company referred to in paragraph (p) becomes effective;

(iv)  subject to paragraph (o), the date of commencement of the
winding-up of our Company;

(v) the date upon which the grantee ceases to be an Eligible
Participant by reason of such grantee’s resignation from the
employment of our Company or any of its subsidiaries or
the termination of his or her employment or contract on
the grounds that he or she has been guilty of serious
misconduct, or has committed any act of bankruptcy or is
unable to pay his or her debts or has become insolvent or
has made any arrangement or has compromised with his or
her creditors generally, or has been convicted of any
criminal offence involving his or her integrity or honesty or
has been in breach of contract. A resolution of the Board to
the effect that the employment of a grantee has or has not
been terminated on one or more of the grounds specified
in this paragraph shall be conclusive; or
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(vi) the date upon which the Board shall exercise our
Company'’s right to cancel the option at any time after the
grantee commits a breach of paragraph (i) above or the
options are cancelled in accordance with paragraph (u)
below.

(t) Alteration of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme may be altered in any respect by
resolution of the Board except that:

() any alteration to the advantage of the grantees or the
Eligible Participants (as the case may be) in respect of the
matters contained in Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules; and

(i) any material alteration to the terms and conditions of the
Share Option Scheme or any change to the terms of
options granted, shall first be approved by our Shareholders
in general meeting provided that if the proposed alteration
shall adversely affect any option granted or agreed to be
granted prior to the date of alteration, such alteration shall
be further subject to the grantees’ approval in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme. The amended
terms and any adjustment to be made to the exercise price
of the Share Option Scheme shall still comply with Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules, the supplemental guidance of 5
September 2005 and any future guidance or interpretation
of the Listing Rules from time to time and any change to
the authority of the Board in relation to any alteration to the
terms of the Share Option Scheme must be approved by
the Shareholders in general meeting.

(u) Cancellation of options
Any cancellation of options granted but not exercised must be
approved by the grantees of the relevant options in writing. For
the avoidance of doubt, such approval is not required in the
event that any option is cancelled pursuant to paragraph (i).
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(v) Termination of the Share Option Scheme

Our Company may by resolution in general meeting or the Board
may at any time terminate the Share Option Scheme and in such
event no further option shall be offered but the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in force to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any option granted
prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance with
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

Options granted prior to such termination but not yet exercised
at the time of termination shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Our Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment and the development of the society. Details of the
Group's development, performance and operation in the
environmental aspect will be set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Our Group has adopted internal control and risk management policies
to monitor the on-going compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. As far as the Board is concerned, our Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the business and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries in
all material aspects.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, KEY CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

Our Group is in good relationship with its employees and we have
policies in place to ensure our employees’ remuneration, and welfare
package as competitive among other players in the industry and they
receive adequate continuous professional training. Our Group also
maintains a good relationship with its customers and suppliers, without
whom the production and operation success will not be guaranteed.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the
Group’s major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 22.9%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate 62.0%
Sales

— the largest customer 26.3%
— five largest customers in aggregate 71.0%

Save as Bilsea International disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” below, none of the Directors, their respective
close associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
interest in the five largest suppliers or customers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had the

FEEFRMHER
TEEFTEHEIRERPERFEMNK
BRENMHERA DLW

?“’ﬂﬁ%i

—ﬁ?ﬂ F’E?ﬁm/\ 62.0%
—HRARPF 26.3%
—hAREFPEH 71.0%
Br N3[54 \F%Lx%JﬁﬁﬁFﬂ&%m

Bilsea International #h * I B E =H - F &
BNER w%)\%ﬁé%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ
A15% A ERR AR B EMAR R - R A A E
R 5 o S {36 -

REBZE20202F12A3BIEFE  AEE

following continuing connected transactions: BUATEEBAERS

Annual actual
Annual cap transaction
forthe  amount for the
year ended year ended
Name of relevant Connected relationship 31 December 31 December
connected persons with the Group Nature of transactions 2022 2022
HZ222F HZ22f
12A31H 12A31H
ILFEH LLFER
EEBEALEE EAKENRERE XHHE FEELR ERRZEHE
US$'000 USS$'000
TR TER

Exempt

B#e
Bilsea International Holdings Note Property leasing N/A N/A
Pte Ltd (‘Bilsea Holdings")
Bilsea Holdings FitaE MEHE TEA TEH
Bilsea International Pte. Ltd. Property leasing N/A N/A
("Bilsea International’)

Bilsea International MERE TER TER
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Annual actual
Annual cap transaction
forthe  amount for the
year ended year ended
Name of relevant Connected relationship 31 December 31 December
connected persons with the Group Nature of transactions 2022 2022
BZz2022F BZz222F
12A31H8 12A31H
IEFER LLFER
ERBEALER REAKENBERE XHME FELR BEBRXZEE
US$'000 US$'000
FEr FEr
Non-exempt
TE#HE
Bilsea International Note Provision of asphalt tanker 28,500 11,099
chartering services
Bilsea International FitzE REESHERERS 28,500 11,099

Note: Bilsea Holdings, which is in turn wholly owned by Bilsea International (mainly
engages in asphalt trading and provision of transportation services), which is in
turn owned as to 64%, 34% and 2% by Ms. Liu Weipeng, Mr. Yan Xiankai (the
spouse of Ms. Liu Weipeng) and Ms. Gao Chuan, respectively. As Ms. Liu Weipeng
and Mr. Yan Xiankai are both the directors of some of our subsidiaries, Bilsea
Holdings and Bilsea International are associates of each of Ms. Liu Weipeng and
Mr. Yan Xiankai, and are connected persons of our Group at the subsidiary level.
As at the date of this annual report, our Company is owned as to 3.41% by Bilsea
International.

Bilxin Tenancy Agreements

Two tenancy agreements (the “Bilxin Tenancy Agreements”’) were
entered into between Bilsea Holdings and Bilsea International as
landlords and the Company’s subsidiary Bilxin Shipping Group Pte Ltd
(“Bilxin Shipping") as tenant, under which Bilsea Holdings and Bilsea
International agreed to lease properties for office use located in
Singapore and provide maintenance services to Bilxin Shipping, (i) for a
term of 6 months (from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2022); and (ii) for a
term of 12 months commencing from 15 April 2022 and ending on 14
April 2023, respectively. Total rental payable by the Group under the
Bilxin Tenancy Agreements amounted to approximately US$23,000
(equivalent to HK$182,000) for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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The transactions under the Bilxin Tenancy Agreements constitute de
minimis continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Rule 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Bilxin Tenancy
Agreements and the transactions thereunder are exempted from the
reporting, announcement, annual review, circular and the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The related party transactions for the year as disclosed in note
36(a) to the consolidated financial statements also constituted
exempted connected transactions as defined under the Listing Rules.

Bilsea Master Service Agreement

On 28 October 2020, the Company'’s subsidiary, Shun Yuen Group
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Shun Yuen HK"), as service provider, entered
into a renewed master service agreement (the “2021-2023 Bilsea
Master Service Agreement”) with Bilsea International, for a term of 3
years ending on 31 December 2023, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to provide asphalt tanker chartering services to Bilsea
International and/or its subsidiaries (the “Bilsea Group”).

The service fees payable by Bilsea Group to the Group were
determined after arm’s length negotiation between the parties thereto
with reference to (i) reputation of the customer; (ii) duration of charter
period; (i) the prevailing market circumstances; (iv) past business
relationship with the customer; (v) the financing cost of our vessel; (vi)
cost of shipbuilding and operation; and (vii) cargo quantity. Taking into
account that the Group has already provided asphalt tanker chartering
services to Bilsea Group in the past and that provision of such services
has offered stable and considerable profits to the Group historically,
the Directors consider that it is in the Group’s interests to continue the
relationship with Bilsea Group and to provide the asphalt tanker
chartering services under the 2021-2023 Bilsea Master Service
Agreement to Bilsea Group. For details of the renewal and annual cap
of 2021-2023 Bilsea Master Service Agreement of these continuing
connected transactions, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 28 October 2020.
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As for the sales amount, for the year ended 31 December 2022, the
annual cap for these continuing connected transactions in total was
US$28.5 million, and the actual transaction amount for the year was
approximately US$11.1 million.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, our independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the above non-exempt continuing
connected transactions and have confirmed that such transactions
were entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal or better commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the agreements for such transactions, the
terms of which are fair and reasonable, and are in the interest of
the Shareholders as a whole.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of all of its
non-exempt continuing connected transactions.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s non-
exempt continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the non-exempt continuing
connected transactions disclosed above.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the auditors of the
Company provided a letter to the Board confirming that nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the continuing
connected transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the Board;

(2)  were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group if the transactions involve the provision of
goods or services by the Group;

(3)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(4)  have exceeded the cap.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year ended 31
December 2022, there were no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which are required to be disclosed by the
Company in accordance with the provisions concerning the disclosure
of connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is
sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued shares
throughout the year ended 31 December 2022 and to the date of this
annual report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Company'’s Articles of Association, the Directors shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to the “Share Option
Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered into during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors
or the controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company nor any of their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) that competed or might compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interest which any such person had or might have with the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which any controlling shareholders
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended
31 December 2022.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
our Shareholders by reason of their holding the Company's securities.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not make
any charitable or other donations.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by RSM Hong
Kong who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company did not change its auditors in the past three financial
years.

By order of the Board
Mr. Chen Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is delighted to present our fifth Environmental, Social and
Governance ("ESG") report (the “ESG Report”’ or “Report’) to illustrate
our management approach and performance in sustainable
development.

Reporting Scope and Period

The reporting scope covers the performance and measures of the
Group’s ESG development of the operations of our offices in the PRC,
Hong Kong and Singapore, and our asphalt tanker chartering business
and bulk carrier chartering business in the reporting period from 1
January 2022 to 31 December 2022.

Reporting Standard and Principles

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Guide”) set out in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange in 2019.
This Report has strictly complied with all provisions of “mandatory
disclosure requirements” and “comply or explain” in the ESG Guide.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERHS

The following reporting principles have been adopted in the
preparation of the Report:

Materiality

Quantitative

Balance

Consistency

We have conducted a materiality assessment and
collected stakeholders’ feedback. The importance
levels of various ESG issues to the Group and
stakeholders in 2022 were assessed, thus serving as
the disclosure focus of the Report.

To evaluate the ESG performance of the Group
during the reporting period comprehensively, we
disclosed the applicable quantitative key
performance indicators in the ESG Guide, and stated
the standards, methods, assumptions and
calculation reference and basis used to quantify the
key performance indicators, including the sources of
major conversion factors.

The Report discloses the Group's progress and
challenges in sustainable development
management, to fully demonstrate our sustainable
development performance.

The statistical methods used in the ESG Report are
generally consistent with those used in previous
years, and an explanation is provided on any
changes in relevant factors, such as statistical
methods or key performance indicators.

Feedback on the Report
Your comments and recommendations on the Report and our

sustainability practices are valuable for our continuous improvement.
We welcome and appreciate your feedback through the following

channels:

Address:

Telephone:
Email:
Website:

Room 02-05, 40th Floor
International Commerce Centre
No. 23 Changting Street
Taijiang, Fuzhou

China

+ 86-591-87573330
angelazhu@xysgroup.com
WWW.XYSgroup.com
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
MANAGEMENT APPROACH

As we pursue business growth, we actively engage with stakeholders,
keenly monitor our impact on the environment and society, and
diligently fulfil our social responsibility to support the sustainable
growth of the community.

Oversight in Sustainability

The Group takes a proactive approach to ESG and sustainability
management. We have established a robust ESG governance structure
that enables the Group to manage ESG issues that reflect the Group's
significant environmental and social impacts, thereby protecting the
stakeholders’ interests and aligning with our corporate values.

SUSTAINABLE GOVERNANCE

ESG Governance Structure

ESG Governance in the Group

Our governance structure supports our commitment to the
environment and society. We have defined the roles and
responsibilities of the Board of Directors and established a Group-wide
governance structure. Together, they form the bedrock of our
sustainable development.

The Board has the overall responsibility for overseeing ESG practices
across the Group and defining the ESG management priorities,
approaches and strategies. The ESG Working Group has been set up
under the Board to facilitate and monitor ESG management. The ESG
Working Group is comprised of representatives from functional
departments who are committed to implementing ESG strategies in
our day-to-day operations. It is also responsible for linking the entire
Group by implementing the decisions of the Board of Directors and
reporting on the work progress and feedback from the functional
departments.
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With the assistance of the ESG Working Group, the Board effectively
oversees the overall ESG development of the Group, including
management of material issues, identification of ESG risks and
opportunities, review of ESG performance, etc. The ESG governance
structure ensures ongoing monitoring of the policies and procedures
implemented in our operations, and thus enables continuous
improvement in key ESG targets, performance and progress.

ESG Governance Structure

The Board

ESG
Working Group

R - e

FRE - g MERIENANHET
EESANEEASEERERE g
RERNER BREZMHZEENERE
HARE e REARARLEE
AIRE HERERBERT - RE i
ENEENEARBRAKEEEZE
BREPEBOBRLERF - TEREH
AR - HERERBR  RIRIER -

B -HEREBNERRSE

Marine Technical HR & Administration
Department Department

Dedicated ESG Dedicated ESG Dedicated ESG
work leader in work leader in

the functional the functional
departments departments departments

B BE BBFI 4R RERY (e HIE B AL BRPIFR 4R
5 : & %

Business
Department Department Department

BT E A% B AETHED ELE

Dedicated ESG Dedicated ESG
work leader in work leader in work leader in
the functional the functional

Accounting Purchasing

Department

5B

REEER

Dedicated ESG
work leader in
the functional
departments

the functional
departments
B BEEPPIT e E R
B Hgk

« ESG Governance Structure of Xin Yuan Enterprises Group Limited
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Responsibilities of ESG Working Group

The ESG Working Group meets at least once a year and whenever
necessary to closely work with the Board in managing ESG issues
regularly. The main responsibilities of the ESG Working Group include:

20

Organise the Company's ESG work, and formulate relevant
systems and procedures, according to the Company’s overall ESG
management goals, management strategies and guidelines;

Coordinate and supervise implementation and execution of ESG-
related work by various functional departments of the Group;

Review the progress of achieving ESG goals, and assist the Board
to review the progress of ESG goals and targets;

Coordinate relevant departments of the Group to prepare and
review the annual ESG Report, and submit it for the Board’s
approval;

Regularly report to the Board on ESG management work
(including but not limited to evaluation, prioritisation and
management of important ESG-related matters);

Communicate with stakeholders on ESG matters, and provide
feedback to the Board, management or relevant departments,
etc,, if necessary;

Perform other ESG-related work at the request of the Board,

including but not limited to providing ESG-related training to the
Board.
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ESG Risk Management

With the basis of the existing risk management and response
mechanism, we have conducted an ESG risk assessment in 2022 to
further identify and evaluate the potential ESG risks posed to our
business.

The ESG risks assessment is conducted based on the megatrend
analysis and peer benchmarking. The identified ESG risks are evaluated
and prioritised under two perspectives, namely “severity of potential
negative impacts” and “possibility of occurrence”. We classified ESG
risks into four levels: “Very Low”, “Low”, “Moderate” and “High”. The
"High" level ESG risks are identified as significant ESG risks.

In the reporting period, we have identified 19 ESG risks and
incorporated them into our ESG risk checklist. 9 “Moderate” level and
10 “Low” level ESG risks are identified and no significant risks are
identified.

We have formulated corresponding risk response strategies for
different levels of ESG risks, and implemented sound risk management
and control measures in business operations to prevent and mitigate
major risks. Risk response strategies include but are not limited to
launching internal policies to regulate our risk exposure, engaging
professionals to ensure compliance, product and technological
innovation to reduce environmental impacts in operations.

We will continuously monitor, analyse and review the potential ESG
risks and opportunities in our business.
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Stakeholder Engagement BEhEsH

The Group is committed to creating sustainable value for its AREBHORABEFMHERIERHEE
stakeholders. To ensure that our priorities are aligned with the needs B - BERBR PN ELE I FEEHEN
and expectations of our stakeholders, we maintain effective FHXRNHEIZE—%  HPEBFHERES
communication with stakeholders and regularly gather their feedback #E® - WiBBZBEEFHNREER
through diverse channels. We strive to maintain open dialogues and ~ #& - I8 W BBEHE R X ERET
foster trust with different stakeholders through continued and [FE&FH E RIS AFEE W HEHEET
systematic engagement efforts. The concerns and views of our {EF - EHMEMBET L E R YRR
stakeholders are crucial to strategically enhancing our sustainability FRI#EXRENRIREEEEES
performance.

The table below summarises the key stakeholder, their main concerns &% X B H E L  FREHTE

and the engagement channels adopted in our operations. BrmR R ERMEREEPHEREE -

Key Stakeholders Issues of Main Concerns Engagement Channels

FERHGE FEBIRE BBERE

Government and regulators . Compliance with laws and . Abiding by laws and regulations

BT R BEE S regulations EPARENBED
B RE KRG . Implementing relevant policies and
Corporate governance measures according to the laws
BEER and regulations

TR E IR K ik

Suppliers . Increasing production scale . Tendering
R e BAREERE IR
Open and fair purchases . Regular communication
NFERFERE E AR
Inspection and evaluation
MR T
Shareholders and investors . Financial and operating . Shareholders’ meeting
AR MR EE performances RERE
B R BRI - Roadshow
Growth strategies and business iz
prospect . Investor presentation
BREENEBATR REERES
Risk management . Announcement
[\ B i 3 NE
Information disclosure
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Key Stakeholders
FTEHNE

Issues of Main Concerns

TERIRE

Engagement Channels

BERE

Trade and industry associations
Irhe

Customers and potential clients

BEFENEREERR

Employees
BT

Local communities

ook

Labour issues

BT RRE

Safety

gogca

Sharing best practices for
operations
DEXEZEED

Pricing

EB

Quality of products and services
EmMREEE
Compliance with laws and
regulations

BFIRE KR

Salaries and benefits
HENEN
Career development
BERER

Team building
LIPSty

Community engagement
e

Environmental compliances
BH AR

Abiding by relevant laws and

regulations

BT HRBER MR D

Business communication

E Y i

Company website
NSIEEN

Email

&l
Satisfaction survey

mEEREE

Regular meetings
EHEEH
Training

23

Staff activities

ST

Company website
NSIEED
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Materiality Assessment

The Group strives to align its ESG strategies and practices with
stakeholder expectations. To this end, we engaged a third-party
professional consultancy to perform a stakeholder engagement and
materiality assessment for 2022 to identify ESG material issues.

Our material assessment process includes the following four steps:

Analysis of the
materiality
assessment results
OMEEN

ERET

Identifying
materiality issues
BRIEEMRRE

Conducting survey

FRAZR

After analysing the trends in the shipping industry, benchmarking our
performance against peers, and incorporating stakeholder feedback,
we have selected corresponding ESG issues based on our business
nature, strategy and market trends. We have expanded our selection of
ESG issues this year and have identified a total of 30 ESG issues related
to the Group. For ease of prioritisation, we divided them into three
major aspects, namely environmental, social and governance, and
performed assessment accordingly.

We engaged major stakeholders including the Board of Directors, the
management, the ESG Working Group, employees, shareholders and
investors, suppliers and customers in the materiality assessment
through online surveys. Stakeholders prioritised the importance of
relevant ESG issues to them or the Group. We identified high materiality
issues with scores higher than 5 out of 10 in environmental, social and
governance aspects from the dimensions of “Importance to
stakeholders” and “Importance to business operation”, which were
then reviewed by the ESG Working Group and confirmed by the Board.

The following materiality matrices and list summarise the high and
other materiality issues relevant to us.
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High

Importance to Stakeholders
HiFMENEEN

Low
1K

Materiality Matrix for Environmental Issues
RIRRENEEMEME

Emissions of
greenhouse gases
B R EEHER

Waste management
BEEYER

PNCSVEE Sk 30

Environmental and
ecological protection
IR R RERE

Marine pollution

ERIEES

i

T Ll

T

Energy efficiency
Climate change anq conservation
mitigation Water resources BE TR W M B RE
FES R AR ﬂ;(ag%e;wem
PR THERRIE
Importance to Business Operation of the Group Hi

HASEXEBEBENERM

BREEEBARAF / 202FFHR

ot S

95



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERHS

Materiality Matrix for Social Issues
HERENEEMIEME

High
= Employees' rights
= and support
BITHEF
Diversity
and equaI‘ Supply chain Employee training Proguc‘t ar?d ‘
OPPOTUNItY  management eiwd dgv‘elopment technologica
EP |94 HpESHEE TR mngvamons
FEE BEERE EmRAR
firalT Service quality
Customer and safety
W Customer services and fRisE=
E Cybersecurity privacy and f%e;%‘%; ARz
o T data protection X
e REESERL| | W BRE
g ol REEZRZE [ ]
X iR \
= e "
‘8 2 »
8 ﬁ - Talent acquisition
c _'-Hi- ] and retention
S 3 Labour AF RS
— standards e
= BTime
E Anti-corruption Maritime security
= RES and piracy
Industry and HEREER
legislative
Community engagement Occupational
engagement %ﬁ& health and safety
Fad =y v SRS E BEERZ2
Sustainable
procurement
QIESE 20
Low Importance to Business Operation of the Group High
{:3 HAEBEREENEEMN =
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High

Importance to Stakeholders
HiFMENEEN

Low
1K

Materiality Matrix for Governance Issues
ERRENEE M

Compliance operations
AR

Risk management
R ER \

Corporate governance
EER

Board independence
and diversity

EERBIMERETE

Importance to Business Operation of the Group
HAEBEREENEEMN
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We have identified the following ESG material issues: RPEEEUNTEEEHIRE He2hE
AR
Aspects High materiality issues Other materiality issues
B HE EEEEMERE HitEEMRE
Environmental 1. Marine pollution 1. Waste management
RIR UEIEDEP S BEEYER
2. Environmental and ecological 2. Sustainable investment
protection ARFERE
IRIB N ERRE 3. Water resources management
3. Energy efficiency and conservation KERERR
BEIRRE K i gE 4. Climate change mitigation
4. Emissions of air pollutants EERIEEL
RRTRYBE
5. Emissions of greenhouse gases
B EREBBEN
Social 1. Service quality and safety 1. Maritime security and piracy
tHe REEERT SR BELZREER
2. Talent acquisition and retention 2. Supply chain management
AT I #EREE HEEEIR
3. Product and technological 3. Labour standards
innovations BMTiEAE
2 mn BRI B3 4. Customer privacy and data
4. Employee training and protection
development REFEFPBALEEELRS
BTEIIERBEER 5. Sustainable procurement
5. Customer services and feedback GIESE 23
&P AR % B I 8 6.  Diversity and equal opportunity
6.  Occupational health and safety ZlbETERE
BERRZR 7. Industry and legislative
7. Employees’ rights and support engagement
8 THEN SR E ERNDESE
8. Anti-corruption
R&ES
9. Cybersecurity
GER e
10.  Community engagement
HERBRE2E
Governance 1. Compliance operations 1. Board independence and diversity
B AR ERgHEIUERZ T
2. Risk management
e i 38
3. Corporate governance
TrERER
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In preparing the ESG Report, we reviewed the latest developments in
our ESG management approaches and strategies and incorporated the
material ESG issues identified through the inputs and efforts of our
stakeholders. Disclosure of the material issues is provided in the

MR BRI
EmaRE
B H) SR - X

e kEamEr &M
HeEkEREEAANMEK

MABEBITFNENS
HEREABINERE HEREREE

following chapters: MEE FEEMZENRBEHNUTE
£
Chapters High materiality issues
=4:0] EEEEMEE
Sustainability Governance »  Compliance operations
AIFEERER BRKE
»  Risk management
[\ i 3R
> Corporate governance
EER
Environmental Performance »  Marine pollution
RIBE TR
»  Environmental and ecological protection
RIR MR RTE
»  Product and technological innovations
2 i MR Bl
»  Energy efficiency and conservation
BEIR A M B B
»  Emissions of air pollutants
RR)5 R IBERL
> Emissions of greenhouse gases
B EREBBE
Employee Development »  Talentacquisition and retention
BE#E AT 5| B A
»  Employee training and development
BTHIIEBRER
»  Occupational health and safety
BERERE
»  Employees’ rights and support
8 T HEF SR =
Responsible Operations »  Service quality and safety
BEERE RBEEEEZ S
»  Customer services and feedback
B RS B 88

We look forward to continuously improving our ESG performance
through a concerted effort with our stakeholders.

KPR ER D E KRS

HBERE

BRI - e REIRER

BREERBMERAF / 2022FFH 29



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R #HERERHS

Compliance Operations

We strictly adhere to the laws and regulations of the jurisdictions
governing our operations, as well as the requirements of international
conventions, with a focus on business compliance in various scenarios.
A comprehensive description of our business compliance actions,
relevant laws and regulations, and internal policies and guidelines is
provided in the appropriate chapters of this Report.

During the Reporting Period, we enhanced our employees’ awareness
of the latest international and regional regulations and policies through
various training and information sessions. The sessions covered key
regulations that we adhere to, including but not limited to the
International Ship and Port Facility Security Code ("ISPS Code”), the
International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea (“SOLAS"), the
International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships
("MARPOL"), Maritime Labour Convention, 2006 and IMO initiatives
such as Existing Ship Energy Efficiency Design Index (“EEXI"),
Operational Carbon Intensity Index (“Cll") and Ship Energy Efficiency
Management Plan Part Il ("SEEMP Part IIl"). Internal meetings on
research and findings related to the most recent industry
developments have been scheduled on a regular basis to ensure that
we remain in compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and best
practices.
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Stay up-to-date with changing environmental regulations
from the IMO and in the shipping industry

Changes in environmental legislations and policies may place
higher compliance risks on the Group, and damage our financial
performance as well as corporate reputation. Recently, the IMO
has released and updated a series of regulations and policies to
enhance environmental protection and resource conservation in
the shipping industry.

To keep abreast of the latest regulatory developments, we have
retrofitted our ships for better energy efficiency and lower carbon
emissions. We ensure that our operations are aligned with the
most recent international standards and industry trends.

Concrete actions have been taken across the Group to actively
respond to the latest rules and guidelines. We also worked closely
with our engineers, customers, shipyards, and international
communities to explore the latest advancements in ship
hardware and shipping systems. Through this concerted effort,
we investigated the feasibility to integrate cutting-edge low-
carbon technology into our ships and operations. The ESG
Working Group and our operations team will continue to pay
close attention to environmental compliance issues, monitoring
market dynamics and industry advancements and putting in
place the necessary preparations to mitigate compliance risks
and their potential impact on our business.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
%ﬁ%‘%ﬁ%ﬂi%ﬁﬁ
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

In line with our environmental commitments, we have intensified our
efforts to improve our sustainability performance across all business
units. We strive to minimise any adverse impacts resulting from our
operations, including environmental impacts related to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. We are dedicated
to complying with applicable international, regional, and local
environmental laws and regulations at sea and in ports, which include
but are not limited to the Marpol Convention, the International
Management Code for the Safe Operation of Ships and for Pollution
Prevention (“ISM Code”), the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC,
the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC and the
Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC. To
promote environmental consciousness among our customers and
suppliers, we have been implementing a diverse range of sustainable
policies and initiatives.

During the Reporting Period, there were no reported prosecution cases
for violation of laws and regulations related to environmental
protection.

Green Strategy Highlights in 2022

Having established a set of environmental targets and action plans, the
Board of Directors monitored and assessed our progress against the
targets in 2022 to review the effectiveness of the policies and initiatives
taken. In the future, we expect to set more meaningful targets based
on the material environment impacts of our operations.

Low-carbon transformation

IMO's decarbonisation goals have become our industry’s biggest long-
term technical challenge, which requires the development of new low-
carbon operations and related bunkering services worldwide. As such,
we have adopted measures and innovative technologies to reduce our
carbon intensity and improve our fuel consumption efficiency. Below
are our commitments to align with our industry goals:

102 XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

RERN

REAFRMOREAR  RASMKD
BiREMA EZHEPIN A FHERRRA -
BABOIREEEELENTNEZERD
RE(BEAHEERLEEREBHN - [
KETHAOFE S RELEEEREETRER
MORRTE) ENETERNEE -
Mol N B e F B QIRBIARER
BRETRNBEERD EMAERISTRR
WoBERMEATEEEMD LS RER
AMAI(TISMBR AL - E AR KME R
BREE  PEARKMENSREA
EA R R E AR KMBIARITRIDEE °
BABRFEESEN BB LE R -
e ERF R EEAIRERER -

RBERRN RE2REERBEBARSE
RERDARERMEEMBRMT -

2022 F R EEH M E
EEgCHE—EREEEZRITEE
W ZEBIZER 20N FHEREITER
KEEAE - AR ST AT ER BN R SR B e 0 B
Mo KRR BHMALEREBHEED
BARRYEHTEAZENER -

KA

BIFR/E FAMRRKE RE R AT
ERANKHZMEKE  FE22HRER
VAR 2 E R IRV EC S - F It
P92 BRERFE e B Bl T B A B K 2K 1P
BB 58 JE 3 4 = R PRV REDB R R R
AT RERMTETTEB IR AR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERHS

Our commitments and progress:

B ERERER

Increase in fuel efficiency, reduction in carbon intensity and air emissions

REMRBMER  RERRERBERHER

Short-term Indicators

EHER

All existing ships should meet the
latest IMO requirements of EEXI
and Cll from January 1,2023
B2023F 1A 1AL FERA
AR S 8 38 5F IMO 8T Y BE 2 R%
BECE T EP

Strengthen the fuel management
of our fleet, sulphur oxide emission
intensity and carbon emission
intensity will be reduced

Mo MR B2 - FREREA
eV R E KA HE R E

Align air pollutants reduction target
with the reductions of our carbon
intensity targets, as air pollutants
such as particulate matter (PM)
emissions and Nitrogen oxides
(NOx) emissions are closely
correlated

{58 R SR05 2 YRl BE B 13 B2 3 1P
BB TR BIRAREE — B0
ARBEHFERRTRYY
R A LB Y AR

Progress

ER

Target met
T

Target met
ZEF

Target met
IR

Actions in 2022
2022 FHREVNITE

>

Studied and strictly abided by the latest IMO regulations and
standards

T FE0 B B < B R F RSN ARITE
Monitored and reviewed fuel consumption and carbon
emissions

B2 Ko BE BRI FE K AR R

Used low-sulphur fuel oil in all operations to meet IMO's
sulphur limits and reduce pollutant emissions

RATE EBEEPERERMR  AFEREK g8
BRmEERG - RITRMEER

Strengthened fuel management and improved fuel
efficiency

SRR E IR - RS

Improved maintenance of engines, machinery and
equipment of ships to ensure combustion efficiency
SRR AR SXBIHE - M - RIB R IR E LATER A IR
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wE

Increase in fuel efficiency, reduction in carbon intensity and air emissions

REMRBMER  RERRERBERHER

Middle to Long-term Indicators

PHRREER

Continuously track and disclose
energy efficiency indicators and
performance
FREB M N B TR A IR AN BE & B
IR RAER

F+ﬁ+

Strive to meet the energy efficiency
obligations that are expected to
apply to our ships
HEBEITNA A I
MELE 1T

AR ) BE R

Keep a close eye on technological,
regulatory and related
developments in the shipping
industry to ensure we are well-
prepared

)BT ME R B - SRR M
HEAERE - BERRPETER

104

Progress

ER

In progress

#EITH

In progress

HETTH

In progress

HFEITH

Actions in 2022
2022 FHEVNITE

>

Performed and recorded routine inspection and
maintenance of ship machinery to keep them in the best
condition

AT RC A MR B0 11T i s % e o
(ESN-E

EERF R

Utilised computer-aided routing service to plan voyages
with fuel-efficient and economic considerations
) R B B 0 B B AR AR 15 HE 1T B A B O M AR AR &
Improved ship design, including trim and draft optimisation
to reduce drag
BUEMRARET - BIEAHE R KB AR EM RN
Increased the use of clean energy progressively through
measures such as installing solar panels on ships

BRI RABGREEMREREE - ZFENER
Hb/ﬁﬂj\ﬂiﬁﬁ

Conducted research and investment in clean energy
applications

EITBREREM AT RIRE
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Wastes and Resources management BYRERER
Marine Discharges & Waste Management BEHER R R E

Minimise hazardous waste and dispose responsibly

BRERLAEBRYYUEEENARNETER

Short-term Indicators Progress  Actionsin 2022

BHEE EBE 2022 FEREUH 1T B

Identify and prevent the Inprogress »  Established an inventory of hazardous substances for newly
application of hazardous #1TH commissioned vessels, developed rules for the use of
substances, and regularly update hazardous substances for purchased products to comply
the hazardous substances list with internal policies, and assured that all hazardous
BRI NEMEREEME & substances on board comply with relevant requirements
HEFESWEBE RIREMMEYAENEBE  SIERBERAS

MERERRBATEABBEE - BRM EABEREEY
BNAHEEENX

» Update the inventory of hazardous substances from
shipbuilding regularly and remain abreast of recycling
requirements at ports

EHEEMBENEBE - MFTEEORYIRE

Develop a hazardous waste Inprogress 3»  Hired professional waste management services to dispose of

management approach HEITH hazardous waste in accordance with laws and regulations,
HIEBEEMEEIE thereby reducing disposal at sea

KERLERBBRENEREREEXABRERR
REY) - temm s LRE

Regularly provide safety inspection Inprogress »  Performed regular inspection and maintenance of black

and maintenance of hazardous #1TH water and grey water storage tanks to avoid waste oil
waste storage equipment leakage

EHHEEREMFEFREETT TE B BOK RIROK K FEETIRE R AE#E - B R BRI
ZRIRE N iEE B
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Minimise non-hazardous waste and dispose responsibly

BERVEEBRMIUESENSNETER

Short-term Indicators Progress  Actionsin 2022

BHER HE 2022 FEREVNITE

Increase waste sorting and Inprogress »  Separated food waste from other household waste for
recycling devices #EITH recycling

BRENSBNEWEER 1 BT Ry 3% B H At A TR B 3% 53 A [B1 U

Middle-term Indicators Progress  Actionsin 2022

PEER E5E 2022 FEREVITE

Install and use more onboard waste In progress »  Installed devices such as garbage compactors and garbage
disposal machinery to reduce the #1TH mashers and used the devices installed in accordance with
waste amount the requirements of the anti-fouling convention
ZERIWERELZOMEEY R ZRNIPBEER LB ERERE - WIRRSA
BEURAEYE RBR L ER

Reduce plastic waste generation Inprogress  »  Implemented drinking water purifiers, reduced the
BB R E & HEITH consumption of plastic bottles and required suppliers to

decrease plastic packaging in product deliveries, etc.
Bk AR LR RO BRIRe R - EREHER
FEMEBTRIOBHBEES

106 XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R #HERERHS

Manage wastewater treatment to minimise harmful marine discharge

EEBRAKEEUSERDBENEFHER

Short-term Indicators Progress
EHEE ETE
Further equip and optimise In progress
wastewater treatment facilities HEITH
E—TEBREIETKERIER

i

Middle-term Indicators Progress
R BE

Manage and review ballast water In progress
management, implement ##77F
innovative techniques in reducing

potential harm

ERELRmABEKERE  Bif

BT R AT AR BB =

Actions in 2022
2022 FEHENVITE

» Ramped up investment to increase the number of
wastewater treatment facilities
MARENE - BINFKEIBREHE

> Prioritised vessels with more efficient wastewater treatment
facilities when purchasing or upgrading vessels
ERESARMME  EEERREHERRBEKER
A% it B A A

Actions in 2022
2022 FEREVHVIT B

»  Checked existing ballast water management plans and
relevant crew records regularly

B IR A BEUKE 2R 8| L AERM B iC ik
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Offshore Water Efficiency

Avoid unnecessary water wastage

BETLENKERRE

V& _F K&

Short-term Indicators

EHER

Increase the water-saving
equipment on ships
SRR KR

Middle-term Indicators

hHER

Regular maintenance of water
supply and storage facilities

TE B RE K R BT KER B

Long-term Indicators

RPER
Regularly check on the water-

saving initiatives progress
EHimEKE A ER

108

Progress

HE

In progress
HEITH
Progress
EE

In progress
#EITH
Progress
EE

In progress

HFEITH

Actions in 2022
2022 FEHENVITE

»  Managed and maintained faucets and pipelines to prevent
unnecessary water waste

EENMGERKEBNEE  HIETVENKERRE

Actions in 2022
2022 FHREVITE

» Developed a maintenance schedule for water supply
facilities
il T KR i M i 5T &

Actions in 2022
2022 FEREVHVIT B

»  Monitored water consumption and the effectiveness of
water-saving initiatives regularly

TE RREDRI AR 7K e B 7K e O AR AR
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Strengthen desalinating seawater work

gk T4

Middle-term Indicators Progress  Actionsin 2022

PHIER ETE 2022 FEREVNITE

Optimise and maintain desalination In progress »  Performed regular inspection and maintenance of
water generators, and strengthen #E1TH desalination units

desalinated water reserves HEKRCEBETE RS K&

B R #EEB KR - Insa

RIKGE

Strengthen the usage ratio and the Inprogress »  Increased the usage ratio of water from seawater
applications of seawater #1TH desalination

desalination 1R =8OR b A B K EY A A R

ISR AR B A A K K e

Reduce the fresh water demands from ashore

B F ERRKER

Short-term Indicators Progress  Actionsin 2022
BHER EE 2022 FEREVITE

Increase recycling uses of water Inprogress »  Added rainwater harvesting systems for non-potable use
resources TR 1 ANFEER R 7K A B RIZK IR R 4
IR E RO ERN A
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Sustainable Ship Designs

Our ship engineering experts incorporate eco-friendly features and
practices into vessel design and construction to minimise potential
environmental impacts across the entire business cycle. By utilising
advanced technology and integrating environmental protection
concepts into the design, we have achieved a pronounced decrease in
energy and fuel consumption at various stages, including design,
construction, operation and maintenance.

We strictly complied with the requirements of the IMO, which
stipulated energy efficiency and greenhouse gas reduction
requirements by 2025, and imposed limits on the sulphur content in
the fuel oil used on board ships. We have enhanced the Energy
Efficiency Design Index ("EEDI") of all the newly commissioned ships
significantly with their fuel consumption well below international
standards and contributing to the fight against climate change. During
the Reporting Period, we widely utilised very low sulphur fuel oil
("VLSFO") on our ships to ensure compliance with the IMO 2020 global
sulphur cap throughout our operations.

Shore power system :
EBRG E

dus
Twe
|
Monitor and alarm i
system and power

management system

ERRERGRTAEEMNE

LED lighting

Advanced ship type
AR R A

Eco-friendly refrigerant
RRRSH
Bigger black and grey water tank
BARBRIOKA

Stem tube SW. cooling system

KB RER

Ballast Water Management system
EHkRRRE

Low speed and long stroke M/E
BAEMERRBRENTIENOT MR

A MM RR ET

HANMMIREERBRAFEREE
MAERTREZEBES  UHKKRE
WD BEXGBERTNEBERZTE -
BB T AR RR T R BR A ST Y BT R AT
W ARFRE S - BAIERET - 2E
8 N M IRED KRR K REIR MR EHERE

I P9 BR A% 5T IMO 8 45 A 51 2025 F H9 Bt
MEOREREE R T MM MR E S
ERHIZENRTE - BEH TR MK
PERNER  RMEXBIERSMET
HEMMA L MRS ([EEDI]) + E
BERBEARBEBRZEE - RIEHAR - &K
A MMM LB EZIERRIE RS
(TVLSFOJ) -« TR T M91E 2 E:8 & 1B 12
4R 4238 ST IMO 2020 F HY 2 BR R R 2 7
2FR-

Hydraulic system uses plant-based oil (VGP compliant)
AR R AEYRRE (FAVCPIRE)

Halogen-free cable
HRATH

Non-Asbestos
RIRAM

Xin Yuan Enterprises Group Limited Eco-Friendly Ship Designs
FREEEEERD RRR T HMMRET
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«  Enhancing Energy Efficiency . BEREFH

Skeg stern, fin stabiliser, streamline style and other
advanced vessel designs are employed to reduce water
resistance and improve vessel efficiency.

Advanced energy management systems are in place to
enable efficient energy allocation. The systems are
monitored and adjusted continuously during sailing to
maintain high energy efficiency consistently.

Variable-frequency control system and energy-efficient
lighting system are introduced to reduce energy
consumption.

Ensure full compliance with the latest IMO regulations on
fuel and energy requirements, work towards compliance
with EEXI reduction requirements, and track and monitor
Carbon Intensity with reference to ClI.

Use onshore power systems during berthing to reduce
energy consumption onboard and emissions at the dock.

RAWERRME HEMLE
Ko #R AL ﬂ)ﬁ’ﬁ‘:—r?ﬁLﬁLﬁE B
5T 0 B A OKER 7 3 1R A A A R

% o

RAEENGEREERS &
BB R - RMITE

BPHRGETEELHE

VARG SRR ¥ = BE R ©

SI B SRR G Rt M L K AR BE
FREA R A DA D BEFE ©

AR 2 B ST IMOA Mk i
RREXKNEMBAT  BHE
BIERE NGB B R BE 2
Ko AR ERSER RE
EHEBEN GRS o

?/EHHFWQFHJ_J: jj/%lzn)b’
BASEL 2> fe A8 B9 BE R B 78 B 5 B8
PERR ©
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Preventing Pollution

Ballast water treatment devices are installed to prevent the
growth of microorganisms in ballast water and mitigate the
risk of biological water pollution during sailing.

Stern tubes along the seawater cooling system are fully
concealed to minimise the risk of oil leakage in the event of
a stern tube failure.

Eco-friendly materials such as halogen-free cable, fluorine-
free refrigerant, plant-based biodegradable hydraulic oil
and asbestos-free binder are used to minimise pollution
during vessel construction and operation.

Low-sulphur fuel oil systems are installed to reduce sulphur
emissions.

Copolymer antifouling paint is used in the coating of the
entire vessel to avoid potential marine pollution and
prevent marine species from attaching to the ship hull,
thereby minimising disruptions to the marine ecosystem.

Managing Waste

Hull-mounted incinerators are installed to treat solid waste
and oil waste at high temperatures.

A large-volume black/grey water tank is constructed to
store the oil waste generated.

In addition to incorporating environmentally friendly features into the
design of our vessels, we are committed to reducing our environmental
footprint through comprehensive management practices.
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Sustainable Operations

In the vessel management business, we acknowledge the potential
emissions produced by the two Capesise ships and have established a
Ship Energy Efficiency Management Plan (“SEEMP”) to collect data on
parameters such as fuel oil consumption, voyage distance, and
underway hours. This enables us to effectively manage environmental
pollution and ensure safe operations. All our vessels have received the
Statement of Compliance, which declares that our fuel oil consumption
collection is reported in accordance with the methodology stated in
the SEEMP. To further strengthen our efforts, the Energy Conservation
and Emission Reduction Measures for All Ships have been issued as
internal guidelines in the Reporting Period. Currently, all ships owned
by the Group have received the Engine International Air Pollution
Prevention Certificate, which certifies that the vessels comply with
international standards on air emissions.

To effectively mitigate the potential environmental harm caused by
hazardous materials and waste, we engage a team of qualified
professionals for managing hazardous waste generated on our vessels
during their operations. We also conduct inspections and sample all
possible hazardous materials on the vessels, thereby formulating a
more comprehensive management plan in the future.

During the Reporting Period, 10 vessels owned by the Group were
managed by outsourced third-party ship management companies. To
effectively minimise potential environmental impacts, we adopt a
holistic approach that covers not only the design, production and
maintenance of the vessels managed by third parties, but also ongoing
communication and monitoring of their environmental performance.
This helps to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations as
well as our internal standards. For example, we developed vessel-
specific ballast water management plans to minimise the
environmental impact of our operations. Besides conducting hazardous
materials inspections at our vessels to develop an inventory of
hazardous materials, we engaged Verifavia HazMat experts to ensure
proper IHM maintenance. With our effort in hazardous material
management, a ship owned by the Group was issued the Statement of
Compliance on Inventory of Hazardous Materials ("IHM").

AREEE
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Climate Change Response

In response to growing societal concerns and tightening regulations
on environmental protection, we have taken a proactive stance toward
mitigating climate change. Decarbonisation strategies have become a
collective priority for the international shipping industry as part of a
larger effort toward sustainability.

The Board of Directors and senior management are committed to
guiding the Group in identifying, monitoring, and addressing major
climate-related challenges in our operations. They have been fully
involved in formulating and implementing the Group's strategic
policies to comply with the latest IMO regulations on carbon reduction.
In addition, with the support of the ESG Working Group, we continue
to explore and evaluate climate-related physical and transition risks to
our operations, and adjust internal measures to respond to emerging
climate change risks. We aim to enhance the climate resilience of our
business and take proactive measures to prepare for any potential
impact.

Sustainable Procurement

The Group is dedicated to enhancing its overall environmental
performance by identifying, assessing and mitigating environmental
risks across the supply chain. Apart from cost consideration, we
prioritise environmental considerations in our procurement process,
looking at factors such as environmental-related technology
certifications, compliance with emissions and energy efficiency
standards set by the IMO and other international organisations, and a
vessel's energy efficiency compared to competitive models.

We have formulated the Green Procurement Standard to manage
environmental risks in the supply chain more effectively. All suppliers
are expected to adhere to the policies and requirements outlined in
the Standard, which include supplier evaluation procedures,
requirements for environmentally responsible production, and material
use. The Standard helps to ensure that our procurement processes are
aligned with our commitment to sustainability.
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We carefully evaluate the raw materials and components used by our
suppliers to mitigate the potential adverse environmental and health
impacts associated with the improper use of chemicals. We have
formulated the Environmental Load Material Management Standard
with reference to the Green Procurement Standard, specifying
substances with potential environmental impacts that require extra
scrutinies, such as paint, foam concentrate and hydraulic oil. Suppliers
are required to submit a Material Safety Data Sheet for each material
listed in the Environmental Load Material Management Standard to
represent that the materials they use are within relevant safety limits.

To ensure the proper management of environmental risks by our
suppliers, we perform an annual evaluation of the environmental
performance of our parts and materials suppliers in accordance with
the Green Procurement Standard. Suppliers are required to declare
their status in obtaining certifications , such as the ISO 14001
Environmental Management System and ISO 9001 Quality
Management System. The supplier that fails to achieve satisfactory
results in the environmental performance evaluation must develop an
improvement plan and provide updates on their progress regularly by
submitting supporting evidence. When selecting new suppliers, we
prioritise those who meet the criteria set forth in the Environmental
Load Material Management Standard, in addition to requirements for
quality, performance, and price. All suppliers are assessed on an annual
basis through the “Annual Evaluation Form on Suppliers”.

Sustainability Ashore

To create a sustainable and eco-friendly workplace, we have
formulated guidelines that outline our green office policies for our
employees. The policies include but are not limited to the Measures of
Energy Saving and Environmental Protection in Offices, the Principles
and Measures of Environmental Protection in Offices and the Waste
Management System.
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Green office targets and actions

To improve our overall environmental performance, we have
developed green office targets and action plans based on the scope of
our operations. Our progress in the Reporting Period is as follows.

Greenhouse Gases Emissions and Energy Saving Initiatives

Improve energy efficiency of office equipment

REBORBNERMRER

BRERAZEEERRTH

REERMANERRREYS  RFAZR
BEHLEREESERQBRENRT
BEtdl - RMEHAR - WAINERDET -

i SRS B K BPBETE e

Short-term Indicators Progress Actions in 2022

BHESR ER 2022 FHREMITE

Replace and phase out high Inprogress »  Utilised energy-efficient, environmentally friendly lighting

energy-consuming equipment EITH equipment in the office

B RBAS R E EM A= AEEIRRORARE

Regularly maintain and upgrade In progress » Upgraded office electronic equipment regularly to

office electronic equipment to #E1TH improve energy efficiency

improve energy efficiency FEHARPAEEFRFE AR SEERBE

EHRERTARPANEFRBE

AR E R R R

Middle-term Indicators Progress Actions in 2022

PHER ER 72022 FEREVHITE

Acknowledge the latest energy- In progress »  Attended a conference held by the Lloyd’s Register of

saving products and keep in touch #1TH Shipping to discuss the EEXI and Cll energy efficiency

with various technology management plan in June 2022

manufacturers 2022 F 6 A2 MEBE MBS - ghabKER

TRRRFEREEm R ES AR BECE O EAEE GO B b S e ki

Mo LS R R R A%

Promote energy-saving culture

HATEIRE 1L

Middle to Long-term Indicators Progress Actions in 2022

PHERMER ER 72022 FEREVHITE

Increase green office energy-saving In progress »  Set copiers, printers, and other office equipment to power

initiatives HEITH save or auto-off mode

=PIIES SR /N GI= 2 =y REENHE - FTENH R B ARBRERE B
BEEFE

Regularly check on the emissions In progress »  Reviewed the effectiveness of existing green office and

reduction progress HEITH energy-saving measures regularly

EHmERERER

EHR IR AR BN A METRE AR AL
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Waste Reduction L REY)
Reduce the production of solid wastes
WOERBEINESE
Short-term Indicators Progress Actions in 2022
BHER ER 2022 FHREMITE
Widely apply electronic media and  In progress »  Promoted paperless office to reduce paper waste
advocate paper-less practices HEITH REERLRHD  UBLEFRE
BzEREFXE EEEK
S YN
Prioritise the purchase of office In progress » Upgraded office electronic equipment regularly to
supplies that could be recycled and  #1TH improve energy efficiency
reused EHARPAEMNEFRME - LIRS RERME
1255 48 B ] [ 4 K B 7 A R o
NI
Middle-term Indicators Progress Actions in 2022
PEER ER 72022 FEREVHITE
Solid waste management In progress »  Ensured that the sorting, transportation, storage, disposal
BElEEEMEE HEITH and transfer of solid waste complied with relevant laws
and regulations
HREREDNDE B #F RENEBRR
BRBERMERNETE
»  Onshore offices employed dedicated cleaning staff to

clean solid waste weekly for proper sorting, recycling and
disposal

FEEIRMAEEAZEMNFREAE  GHEBIEREEREE
Y MEEITEEN SR - DU KRR
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Promote recycling culture

HATE WL

Short-term Indicators Progress Actions in 2022

BHESR ER 2022 FHREMITE

Increase waste recycling facilities In progress »  Set dedicated recycling points in onshore offices and

=y ENE i #HEITH employed cleaning staff to sort and recycle solid waste
EFEIRAZEXREZMANOKE  WEABRASR
HEBEYETT Y BN B

Middle-term Indicators Progress Actions in 2022

AR ER R 2022 FHRIMMITE

Organise activities to enhance the In progress »  Communicated waste sorting methods and organised

awareness of recycling, waste #E{TH
avoidance and reduction

HE B AIRS R - BPE
Y RO DB R B

Recycle and dispose kitchen waste  In progress >
[0 4s Kz B2 3 BT R 7 3] HEITH
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waste reuse and recycling activities

RmBEM D RITE - BB BRAR MBS

Separated kitchen waste from other waste and provided
dedicated kitchen waste bins in office buildings for
disposal
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Water Efficiency

K3 &

Encourage water conservation, and reduce average water consumption

SRBAAK B FIHRAKE

Short-term Indicators Progress
EHEE i3

Regular inspection and Inprogress
maintenance of water pipes and #7179
water systems
EHmE M EEKE MK

i

Organise activities to improve In progress
water efficiency awareness HEITH

AAEUE B AR S KR B

Middle-term Indicators Progress
RHEERR ER

Improve the water efficiency of In progress
sanitary ware HEITH
B o BT AR B R KR

Actions in 2022
72022 FEREIITE

>

Had the property manager of the office building check the
pipelines and water system daily and manage the faucets
and pipes to prevent unnecessary water waste
MABOYELEGRREEBRHKRSG B8
IKEEBENEE - IETBENIORE

Included water conservation education in employee
onboarding and established internal policies to reduce
unnecessary water use in the office

T’ ER A KA B T AR - 3 E M #B R A
B PR E AL EH K

Actions in 2022
742022 FEHREVVITE

>

Had the property manager of the office building check
and maintain water-saving devices daily to prevent
unnecessary water waste

MABHYEREGRBE REEEKEH DLt
PHEHIKRE
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Green office measures

To minimise the carbon footprint of office operations, we have
introduced and implemented a variety of energy-saving and emission-
reducing measures. Employees are encouraged to use natural light as
much as possible, and the office lighting system has been upgraded
with LED lights to improve energy efficiency. Computers, printers and
other electrical equipment are turned off when not in use and during
non-business hours to conserve energy. The air-conditioning system is
turned on during normal business hours only and set to a reasonable
temperature. Employees are also reminded to keep windows closed
when using air conditioning. When purchasing electrical appliances,
energy-efficient products with good energy labels are the preferred
choice. At the same time, we constantly review and update our internal
green office policies and procedures to contribute to an
environmentally conscious workplace.

To reduce emissions from vehicle use, we encourage employees to
carpool with coworkers or use public transportation whenever
possible. To standardise company vehicle management and prevent
unauthorised use, employees must submit a request before using the
vehicles.

Although we are not situated in areas affected by water scarcity, we are
dedicated to advocating and promoting water conservation through
our daily activities. To prevent water waste and increase water
efficiency, we prohibit washing cars with tap water, use water-efficient
appliances in the office and carefully manage and maintain faucets and
pipelines.

By fostering a culture of recycling among employees, we encourage
the use of environmentally friendly office supplies that are reusable,
recyclable, and biodegradable. We have established an electronic
document management system and an office automation system so
that documents can be accessed and shared electronically, reducing
the need for printing and the associated energy consumption. To shift
to a paperless office, we also encourage employees to print on both
sides of the paper when printing is necessary.
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In order to minimise the environmental impact arising from waste
generation, we have specified the handling and management
approach for non-recyclable general wastes, electronic wastes and
other hazardous wastes. To ensure proper waste disposal, we have
entrusted qualified professionals to handle the office’s waste.
Employees are also encouraged to reduce resource consumption and
recycle materials as much as possible, where materials with recycling
values are collected and sent to recyclers to extend their life cycle and
reduce waste generation.

To minimise the environmental impact of waste generation, we have
defined the handling and management approach for non-recyclable
general waste, electronic waste and other hazardous waste. To ensure
appropriate waste management, we engage qualified professionals to
handle office waste. Hazardous waste, such as batteries and ink
cartridges, is handled by professionals provided by product suppliers.
Our employees are also motivated to reduce the use of resources and
to recycle wherever possible, collecting recyclable materials for
processing by recyclers to extend their useful life and reduce the
generation of waste in the first place.

As stated, we are dedicated to promoting and maintaining a green
workplace and implementing environmentally responsible office
management practices. By implementing the policies and procedures
outlined in the Green Office Policy, we expect to significantly improve
our environmental performance against our established goals.
Together with our dedicated employees and state-of-the-art
environmental management methods, we are confident that our hard
work in this area will be increasingly recognised.
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EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT

We recognise our employees as our most valuable asset. Our human
resource strategies are therefore focused on acquiring and retaining
competent employees. By offering competitive remuneration
packages, diverse training and career opportunities, and
comprehensive health and safety measures, we strive to create a safe
and joyful workplace for all employees.

Protection of Employees’ Rights and Interests

In strict accordance with the Labour Law of the PRC, the Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Employment
Act of Singapore and other relevant laws and regulations of the
jurisdictions where we operate, we formulated our Personnel
Management System and the Employees’ Handbook, setting forth
employment policies on recruitment, promotion, and dismissal,
compensation and benefits, promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunities, anti-discrimination, training and development,
and other aspects. All employees are entitled to the rights and
obligations specified in the above internal measures.

During the Reporting Period, there were no reported cases of
prosecution for violation of labour laws and regulations and
employees’ rights and interests, nor did we receive any complaints in
this respect.

Employment Practices

To keep up with our business development, we formulate an annual
human resources plan to fill positions in each business unit and
develop a recruitment plan to invite suitable candidates for interviews.
Throughout the recruitment process, we adhere to the employment
principle of “Appointing employees according to their merits and using
their talents according to their ability” to promote a fair, diverse and
inclusive workplace. All employment practices are transparent and fair.
All employees and candidates are offered equal opportunities for
hiring, promotion and compensation based solely on merit. All forms
of discrimination based on nationality, ethnicity, race, gender, religion
or cultural background are strictly prohibited.
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The Group strictly prohibits the use of child labour and forced labour.
In accordance with relevant laws and regulations, we have formulated
the Child Labour Prevention and Remedial Procedures to avoid hiring
minors under the age of 16. Apart from a thorough background check
during the recruitment process, we conduct a routine investigation of
new employees within one month of hiring to prevent omissions and
avoid candidate impersonation. In the event that anyone under the
age of 16 has been improperly hired, we will immediately settle their
wages and take remedial action in accordance with the provisions of
the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour and other laws
and regulations pertaining to child labour and forced labour. In
addition, we sign employment contracts with all employees to ensure
that they understand and agree to our employment policies.

Employees’ Rights and Welfares

To further secure the rights and interests of our employees, we specify
the conditions for the mutual termination of employment, resignation
procedures, and settlement of wages and compensation. We have
defined working hours requirements in the Employees’ Handbook in
order to ensure that employees who work overtime are reimbursed
fairly for their efforts.

To acquire and retain talents, we offer competitive remuneration and
benefits, as well as a clear career ladder in recognition of employees’
contributions. Our salary system defines the principle and structure of
the salary policy, including standardised salaries for each rank and a
promotion and career development structure. We offer a competitive
compensation package consisting of base salary, performance bonus,
year-end bonus and allowances to employees based on their
performance, responsibilities, experience and industry salaries. Our
employees are also entitled to supplementary benefits such as
marriage allowance, maternity allowance, and consolation money.
Aside from statutory holidays, we also provide annual leave, sick leave,
marriage leave, maternity leave, bereavement leave and breastfeeding
leave to meet their needs. In accordance with relevant laws and
regulations, we provide our employees in the PRC with an insurance
package including pension insurance, unemployment insurance,
occupational injury insurance, medical insurance, maternity insurance
and the Housing Provident Fund.
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Staff Demographics BI&s

At the end of the reporting period, we had 40 employees in Hong R EREE XK BPIEFHE - B & X
Kong, PRC and Singapore. The composition of our workforce by 3£ H40Z 8 T - HFIH 8 THK IR M
gender, age group, employment category, and geographical region Bl - F #4857 - B 28R R IR E &
are as follows: DT

Employee Distribution
EI5M
As of 31 December 2022

#HZ2022%F12H31H

Distribution by
Geographical
Locations
R IBA E D

Distribution by

Gender
by il wax it}

@ MVale @ Female @ °rC O HK () Singapore
Bt it hE & HANK

Distribution by
Employee
Categories

Distribution by

Age Groups
BF AR D IRIES RS

30 or below . 31-40 . The Board and Senior Management
30BRFHAT 31-405% EXSRERERE
O 41-50 @ 51 0rabove @ Department Managers
41-505% 51BRk A L EBPIsEIR
@ Other Employees
HMET
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Employee Engagement

Effective communication with employees enhances employee
motivation and dedication and allows us to understand their needs
and expectations. We value feedback from our employees and strive to
resolve their concerns through communication and assistance
whenever possible. Our Employee Feedback System defines the details
of our complaint channels and complaint handling procedures. We
encourage employees to file complaints regarding their rights and
interests, or to express their opinions and suggestions through
channels such as daily face-to-face communication, e-mail, the OA
system, WeChat, or by letter. Upon receipt of complaints or comments
from an employee, our management team will meet with the
complainant in person to work out an appropriate solution. We
appreciate the opportunity to receive constructive feedback, and thus
solicit and respond to employees’ opinions on areas for improvement.

We pay close attention to the physical and mental well-being of our
employees and strive to create a happy and supportive work
environment. We strive to support a better work-life balance for our
employees and encourage them to enjoy family time and social life.
Team-building activities are also organised regularly to bring joy and
boost team morale.
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Our employees’ team-building events in Yunnan
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Occupational Health and Safety

The Group places top priority on the health and safety of its employees.
We strictly abide by the Law of the PRC on Work Safety, the Law of the
PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases, and other
laws and regulations pertaining to occupational health and safety to
shield our staff from occupational hazards. We have also formulated
the Occupational Health and Safety Management Measures ("Health
and Safety Measures”) to control and mitigate occupational health
and safety risks across our operations.

The Health and Safety Measures provide detailed and clear guidance
on the management and use of safety products and equipment,
procedures for dealing with potential occupational health and safety
hazards, and preventive measures for various occupational diseases
such as pneumoconiosis, eye diseases, and occupational deafness. To
prevent workplace accidents, we demand that all employees adhere to
the Health and Safety Measures. In addition, we offer pre-job training
to familiarise new hires with the above procedures and enhance their
emergency preparedness. All employees, regardless of seniority,
receive regular training on fire safety, electronic safety, and the use of
safety equipment.
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Qur regular safety trainings on fire drill and emergency evacuation
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We strictly follow the Maritime Safety Administration of the PRC, which
requires all Chinese crew members serving on international voyages to
hold a seaman’s book issued by the Harbour Superintendence
Administration of the PRC and other relevant certificates. Employees
holding crew qualifications are required to attend regular training to
ensure the validity of their seaman’s books and cargo operation-related
certificates on safety, firefighting, first aid, security awareness and other
aspects, that ensure their eligibility to board ships and perform repair
and maintenance work. Safety meetings, emergency drills and training
are organised to improve the preparedness of the crews for
emergencies such as oil spills, abandonment of ships, fire, collision and
communication blackouts, ensuring strict compliance with the ISM
Code.

BRMERETHREERMBRM - Bk
FTERBEBEMITHRREMERFFR
BB REBREENEGEFZREME
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2T UWEREBEBREL SR
HP 2R T2 EHRLEM T EAOM
BEERHEBEENERE  EHERE
EEER EMRETHERREIE-
BB H  BEEE B
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Our crew members participating in the safety training
K12 150 &

In addition to our vessels, we also put a strong emphasis on the health
and safety of employees in the office premises. We provide adequate
fire safety, first aid and sanitation equipment as well as emergency
medicines in the workplace. To ensure workplace sanitation, we
regularly arrange dedicated personnel to clean carpets, water
dispensers, air-conditioning systems and other equipment, and arrange
health check-ups for employees. During the Reporting Period, we
organised a comprehensive health check-up for all employees.
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Workplace Fatalities and Injuries

During the past three years (including the Reporting Period), there
were no accidents in which we suffered any injuries or death due to
work, nor were there any cases in which we were materially affected by
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to occupational
health and safety.

THESHTHRRES
RBE=F(BRERREH A BHMALE
HERTHBTNER NERNEREH
BEREREZZAERMAMZEE
REE-

Employee Health and Safety

EERRHEZE

Number of Work-related Fatalities'

ETT®HAR

2022 20224 Person A 0
2021 20215 Person A 0
2020 20204F Person A 0
Rate of Work-related Fatalities AT A= % 0
Number of Work-related Injuries AT ZEH A Person A 0
Lost Days Due to Work Injury ATIEELXTIIEEH Day H 0

COVID-19 pandemic prevention and control COVID-19 % 15 Bh

To combat the COVID-19 epidemic, we established the COVID-19
prevention and control taskforce in 2020 and launched various policies
and measures with regard to the pandemic situation. With the aims of
avoiding cross-infection situations and ensuring a safe working
environment, we have initiated several other working alternatives
across our offices, such as staggered working hours and work-from-
home, and distributed anti-epidemic supplies to our employees
including Ibuprofen, N95 masks, antiseptics, rapid antigen test kits and
other over-the-counter medicine.

The definition of work-related fatalities is determined in accordance with the
Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances, the Decision on Recognition of
Work Injury, the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, the Human Resources
Management System, etc.
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Learning and Development

Investing in employee development is vital to the overall success of
our business. Therefore, we provide employees with relevant and
consistent training to develop their skills, knowledge and
competencies, thus achieving the aim of “One post, multiple
functions”.

Employee training system

We have established the Employee Training System to design annual
training plans based on the employees’ level, position, and needs, as
well as our development priorities. Each year, a wide range of training
programs are organised for employees in accordance with the annual
training plan. During the onboarding process, new hires are required to
learn about our corporate culture and organisational structure. A copy
of the Employees’ Handbook is given to all new employees as they
become familiar with the responsibilities and operations of their
positions. Vocational training and professional training are also offered
to develop their skill sets on the job.

To monitor and assess training effectiveness, employees are required
to submit an Internal Training Evaluation Form and a Post-training
Review Report to provide feedback on the course material, the trainers’
expertise, and their learning outcomes after each training program.
Assessment of training outcomes will also take place in the form of on-
site evaluation, examination or experience sharing. The results of the
assessments are included in employee performance appraisal to
influence promotion decisions, which motivates employees to
participate in training programs actively.

During the Reporting Period, we provided training on external
regulations and internal policies, occupational health and safety, anti-
corruption, management, maritime safety and other topics to
strengthen employees’ professional knowledge. the well-designed
training sessions were given by external or internal experts with useful
materials. The average duration per training session is 2-16 hours
depending on the topic.
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RESPONSIBLE OPERATIONS

Responsible and clean operations are key to our long-term success at
all times. We uphold our commitment to responsible and sustainable
operations by communicating and partnering with stakeholders along
the value chain to ensure our expectations are matched and fulfilled.
By taking these actions, we promote the holistic, long-term growth of
our businesses.

Supply Chain Management

To continue our track record of service excellence, we recognise the
need for practical and thorough supply chain management practices.
Meanwhile, through constant engagement and interaction, we
maintain strong relationships with our major suppliers, including ship
brokers, ship management companies, ship manufacturers, and
suppliers of parts and materials.

To mitigate potential environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, we apply the strictest criteria in selecting new suppliers. We
analyse not only the suppliers’ quality, prices, product and service
quality, and ability in technical development, but also how well they
incorporate environmentally and socially responsible practices into
their operations. The annual supplier evaluation is carried out by the
Purchasing Department from August to October each year, taking into
account delivery performance, documentation quality, rectification
efficiency, and other factors.

We have also developed the Provisions on the Management of Spare
Ship Parts and Material Supply, the Instruction for Vessel Asbestos
Control, the Instruction for Management of Medicines and First-aid
Equipment on Ships and other internal guidelines to reduce the
environmental and social risks faced by our suppliers. For example, the
Vessel Asbestos Control Instruction prohibits the purchase of asbestos-
containing components and materials and requires suppliers to submit
an Asbestos Free Declaration Report or an equivalent laboratory
assessment report. Failure to provide proper documentation will result
in the rejection of parts and materials.
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The Group has formulated the Supplier Bidding Procedures, detailing
the format of tendering notice, criteria for supplier eligibility, contract
management, and other aspects. In addition, we have developed an
all-in-one portal to standardise communication throughout the
tendering and bidding process, ensuring openness, fairness and
transparency for all suppliers.

AEECFIE(REBARRERF)  F4
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Supply Chain Management

HEEEE
. Northern China . Eastern China Northeast China Southern China . Overseas Region
Eld EH Fib Ectea) BN [E
Locations NE Number 2 £
Northern China E: Sl 6
Eastern China HFEH 11
Northeast China E5id 1
Southern China IR 3
Overseas Region G & 6

During the Reporting Period, we have maintained close collaboration
with 27 suppliers.
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Service Excellence

We uphold the mission of “Safeguarding personnel health, ensuring
ship safety, and protecting the marine environment” in our relentless
pursuit of service excellence. We are committed to enhancing the
quality and reliability of the ships in our fleet.

In addition to strictly complying with applicable domestic and
international laws and regulations, such as the ISM Code, to ensure
navigational safety and protect the marine environment, we have
established a comprehensive quality control system to closely monitor
the vessel production process. In our Product and Service Health and
Safety Policy, we have outlined our management policies, targets and
quality assurance procedures for safety, environmental protection, and

quality.

Customer complaints and feedback

We value client feedback and consider it an important part of our
initiative to enhance the quality of our products and services. As such,
we have developed the Complaint Handling Procedure, detailing our
policies for responding to and investigating customer complaints. We
maintain easily accessible channels for customers to raise their
complaints, including mail, hotline, and in-person visit. During the
Reporting Period, we did not receive any complaints regarding the
quality of our services.

Customer privacy and information security

The Group upholds a high level of integrity and professional ethics to
guide its overall operations. Apart from strictly complying with laws
and regulations related to intellectual property rights and privacy such
as the Contract Law of the PRC and the Specifications for the
Administration of Intellectual Property Rights of Enterprises, we have
registered patents for our logo and domain to protect our intellectual
property. To avoid data breaches and other information security
incidents, we have formulated the Confidential Information Security
System with reference to the above laws and regulations to guide our
hierarchical management of confidential and sensitive information.

During the Reporting Period, there were no cases in which we were
materially affected by non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations concerning health and safety, advertising, labeling and
privacy.
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Anti-corruption

The Group takes a strong stance against any act of bribery, extortion,
fraud, money laundering and other unlawful practices. In the Anti-
corruption and Anti-bribery Code of Conduct (“CoC") and the Integrity
and Self-disciplinary Regulations (Provisional), we have outlined the
standards of conduct we demand from our employees as well as our
anti-corruption mechanism.

To ensure fair, open and impartial business practices, we strive to
maintain the highest standards of ethics and governance. We comply
with laws and regulations pertaining to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering rigorously, including the Company Law of the PRC,
the Criminal Law of the PRC, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the
PRC, and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). During the Reporting Period, there were no cases of
bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering involving the Group or
any of our employees, nor were there any cases in which we were
materially affected by any breach of anti-corruption-related laws and
regulations.

Internal control of corruption risks

To promote integrity and prevent unethical pursuits, we have
implemented a range of preventive measures. All employees are
required to sign the statement in the CoC as a declaration that they
acknowledge and comply with all relevant requirements to strictly
uphold business ethics. As stated explicitly in the CoC, fraud and
corruption-related risks should be included in the scope of the annual
corporate risk assessment.

To eliminate all irregularities within the Group, a whistle-blowing policy
has been formulated to report suspected cases of fraud and corruption.
We encourage our employees and any parties related to us to raise
concerns about possible impropriety in any matter by mail, telephone
or email. All reported cases will be kept confidential to protect the
whistle-blowers. The Audit Department is designated as the dedicated
business unit to manage any relevant matters. Reports should be made
regularly to the Board and the Audit Committee to ensure the risks are
managed systematically. Once the alleged violations are confirmed, the
parties involved will be subject to disciplinary action or immediate
dismissal.
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Business ethics for the Board and employees
To enhance anti-corruption awareness within the Group, we include
anti-corruption education in employee onboarding, with all related
requirements and standards set out in the Employees’ Handbook for
employees to take reference whenever necessary.

In addition to anti-corruption training for newcomers, we continued to
organise anti-corruption education for the Board and employees at all
levels during the Reporting Period, such as the training on warning
education and conferences to strengthen their awareness of self-
discipline. From June to November 2022, we organised six training
programs on integrity and legal compliance for senior managers and
key employees from the Ship Chartering Department, Purchasing
Department, Technical Department, and other departments. On
November 30, 2022, in response to the Ethics Promotion Programme
for Listed Companies of the Hong Kong Independent Commission
Against Corruption ("ICAC"), we distributed the “Compliance and
Beyond Training Package on Business Ethics for Listed Companies”
published by the ICAC to Directors and senior managers. Comprising a
hypothetical case, three training videos and lessons, the publication
covered typical ethical challenges faced by these individuals and
effectively enhanced their awareness of business ethics and integrity.
We will organise and carry out more integrity education and deliver
regulations and case studies on integrity practices, anti-corruption,
anti-laundering etc. through platforms including OA, email, WeChat
etc, to strengthen employees’ awareness of integrity practices.
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COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

The Group values positive, long-term relationships with stakeholders
and actively engages with the communities in which we operate. We
aim to promote the growth of communities and achieve a more
sustainable future.

As a socially responsible corporate, we have formulated the
Management Measures for the Administration of Charity and Public
Welfare Activities to guide our community investment efforts, such as
managing charity funds and organising community engagement
activities. In addition, we encourage our business units and employees
to give back to the community by volunteering their time in areas such
as environmental education and protection.

Effective partnerships formed with communities are key to the long-
term success of the Group. Looking ahead, we expect to explore
strategic philanthropy and community engagement on a broader
scale. We continuously fulfil our corporate social responsibility to create
a more sustainable world for future generations.
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KEY PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

FRREAREE

Environmental Performance? RIBEN?
Indicator Units 2022 2021
BE B 2022 F 2021 4F
Air Pollutant Emissions**
ZERISRMBEH

NO, Emissions Tonnes 1,213.92 1,867.58
BECWHER WA

NO, Emissions intensity Tonnes/nautical mile 0.02 0.01
A MEEREE LY SEE:]

SO, Emissions Tonnes 135.11 208.78
k=Rl a7Ez 31 A

SO, Emissions intensity Tonnes/nautical mile 0.002 0.001
e B EE WE, 5 2

CO Emissions Tonnes 129.50 202.16
— LR WA

CO Emissions intensity Tonnes/nautical mile 0.002 0.001
— LR R Lyi=3=]

PM, s Emissions Tonnes 22.26 34.35
PM,s BFIR 8

PM, , Emissions intensity Tonnes/nautical mile 3.60x10* 2.29x10*
PM, s HE BB Mg, e B

PM,, Emissions Tonnes 23.89 36.89
PMo BEIR WA

PM,, Emissions intensity Tonnes/nautical mile 3.87x10* 246x10*

PMyo HEIR R B

W, B

d One of the two ships within our scope of the operation was sold in August 2022,

136

and one car was not in use in 2022, contributing to a reduction in emissions and
resource consumption.

Air pollutant emission comes from vehicles owned and managed by us in PRC, as
well as ships managed by us. The emission data was calculated in accordance
with the Technical Guidelines for the Preparation of Air Pollutants Emission
Inventory for Road Vehicles (Trial) and the Technical Guidelines for the Preparation
of Air Pollutants Emission Inventory for Non-road Mobile Source (Trial) published
by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of PRC and the EMEP/EEA air
pollutant emission inventory guidebook 2019 of the European Environment
Agency.

The wide adoption of VLSFO in ships during the Reporting Period has contributed
to a significant decrease in SO, emission. We will continue to implement more
green measures in the future to minimize our environmental impact.
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Indicator Units 2022 2021
BE B 2022 F 2021 4F
Resource Consumption and Intensity
BEREEREE

Direct Energy Consumption®
HEREFURFES
Total Direct Energy Consumption MWh 191,386.06 271,695.03
EHEREFHERE THE T R B
Natural Gas Consumption® MWh 4.50 4.25
RARAE® FEF F s
Natural Gas Consumption Intensity MWh/person 0.11 0.12
RARAEZE FREFEEA
Petrol Consumption’ MWh 24.96 52.72
AoRHFE THE T R B
Petrol Consumption Intensity MWh/person 0.62 1.46
AHHREEE FETFEEA
Marine Gas Oil and Very Low MWh

Sulphur Fuel Oil Consumption® 191,356.60 271,638.06
RS REmERA S THE T FLEF
Marine Gas Oil and Very Low MWh/nautical mile

Sulphur Fuel Oil Consumption Intensity 3.10 1.81
RS REREIRERE TETEE,8E
Indirect Energy Consumption
BiERERE
Electricity Consumption? MWh 34.37 30.56
FAEE° THE T R B
Electricity Consumption Intensity MWh/person 0.86 0.85
REZRE FETFEEA
Other Resources Consumption
H & FEFE
Water Consumption'® Cubic metre 182 171
F7K& 10 SR
Water Consumption Intensity Cubic metre/person 4.55 4.75
kI SRS A

5 Direct energy consumption refers to the direct consumption to the non- 5 BEEREFREN A RBFTEFAERIER BAR

renewable fuel consumed in the Group. The data have shown by type of fuels and
the intensity have shown in the unit of productions (employee and nautical mile)

accordingly.
K The natural gas consumption data comes from our kitchen at PRC office. 6
/ The increased consumption on petrol is related to the latest ownership on 7

vehicles, as we purchased one more vehicle for business development during the

reporting period.

8 As we strictly follow the IMO MARPOL regulations, we have widely applied the &
VLSFO on all of the ships we owned in the reporting year. All VLSFO related
calculation is based on the scientific data stated on the Review of 2020 Marine
Fuels Quality document, which is the agenda Item 5 submitted to the IMO Marine
Environment Protection Committee on the 76th Session.

o The electricity consumption data comes from our offices at PRC and Hong Kong. 9
10 The water consumption data comes from our office at PRC. 10
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Indicator Units 2022 2021
BE B 2022 2021 %
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Intensity
BEREBHREREE

Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions Tonnes 51,067.42 78,409.06
BERBHEREE g
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions Tonnes/person

Intensity 1,276.69 2,178.03
BERBHERBEERE PN
Scope 1 Emissions (Direct Emissions)'! Tonnes 51,050.19 78,392.86
E PR (EERER g
Scope 1 Emissions Intensity Tonnes/person 1,276.25 2,177.58
HE1BEREE LEYN
Scope 2 Emissions (Indirect Emissions)'? Tonnes 17.23 16.19
&2 2 B (RHEHERR) 2 I
Scope 2 Emissions Intensity Tonnes/person 0.43 0.45
HE2BEREE PN

138

Scope 1 emissions refer to direct emissions from vehicles owned and managed by
us, the ships and the diesel generator on ships managed by us and the natural
gas combustion at PRC. The emission data was calculated in accordance with the
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs of the Stock Exchange, the Guidelines
for Accounting and Reporting Greenhouse Gas Emissions by China Land
Transportation Enterprises (Trial) and the Guide for Calculating Methods and
Reporting of Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Enterprises in Other Industries (Trial)
issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of PRC, the Reduction of GHG
Emissions from Ships: Fourth IMO GHG Study 2020 — Final Report, and the
Greenhouse Gas Inventory Guidance — Direct Emissions from Mobile
Combustion Sources by the United States Environmental Protection Agency.
Scope 2 emissions refer to indirect emissions resulting from electricity generation
that is purchased by us. The emission data was calculated in accordance with the
2021 emission factors of CLP Group and 2022 China Regional Power Grid Average
Carbon Dioxide Emission Factor published by the National Development and
Reform Commission of PRC.
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R #HERERHS

Indicator Units 2022 2021
BE B 2022 2021 %
Non-hazardous Waste Generation and Intensity'
BEBRRYELBREE"

Household Waste Tonnes 0.42 0.46
HERIR 07

Household Waste Intensity Tonnes/person 1.06x107 1.30x107
EENIRERE W, A

Wastepaper Tonnes 2.50x10° 2.00x10°
& 4 8

Wastepaper Intensity Tonnes/person 6.25x10°® 5.00x10°
BEREE PN

Wastepaper Recycled Tonnes 6.00x10* 5.00x10*
[0 45 E AR WA

Kitchen Garbage Tonnes 0.20 0.21
Y e 4 7]

Kitchen Garbage Intensity Tonnes/person 4.92x10°3 6.00x10°
B ERBT IR B S Wa,/ A

Hazardous Waste Generation and Intensity™
EEREYELERTE"

Waste Batteries Tonnes 1.10x103 0.01
FEEE M 7}

Waste Batteries Intensity Tonnes/person 2.76x10° 3.40x10°
EREEMEE LEYN

Waste Fluorescent Tubes Tonnes 8.00x10* 4.00x107
BEERNIEE g

Waste Fluorescent Tubes Intensity Tonnes/person 2.00x10°° 1.11x10*
BERNBERE LZYN

Waste Ink Cartridges Tonnes 8.00x10°3 0.01
BEEED WA

Waste Ink Cartridges Intensity Tonnes/person 2.00x10* 3.00x10*
BERREE PN

Waste Ink Cartridges Recycled Tonnes 2.00x10°3 2.00x10°
EREE ey A

Waste Electrical Equipment'® Tonnes 0.028 0.015
ERE M WA

Waste Electrical Equipment Intensity Tonnes/person 7.00x10* 4.17x10*
BEEENRERE LEYIN

Waste Electrical Equipment Recycled Tonnes 0.028 0015
E e WA

3 The non-hazardous waste generation data comes from our office in PRC. B BEFEVELSHBERETRERER o
14 The hazardous waste generation data comes from our office in PRC and Hong ~ * EEREYVEASHEBERETEREBHE
Kong. B °

During the reporting period, we have one broken office monitor recorded and it B
has been recycled.
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Social Performance HEER
Indicator Unit 2022 2021
B B 2022 20214
Employee Distribution
EED M
Total Number of Employee Person 40 36
BEER A
By Gender
ZIERIZ 5
Male Person 23 20
5t A
Female Person 17 16
g A
By Employment Type
ZIEFIEA E 7
Full-time Person 40 36
a7 A
Part-time Person 0 0
e A
By Employee Categories
% 1E S 1552 75
The Board and Senior Management Person 9 8
EEghaREEE A
Department Managers Person 7 7
BRI 4RI A
Other Employees Person 24 21
HiET A
By Geographical Locations
1% &) 77
PRC Person 32 31
a3 A
HK Person 3 2
B A
Singapore Person 5 3
AN A
By Age Groups
1B I 5 Z 5
30 or below Person 7 6
30BRIA T A
31-40 Person 11 14
30-40 5% A
41-50 Person 14 9
41-50 5% A
51 or above Person 8 7
51RREA £ A
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RIE HERERHS

Indicator Unit 2022 2021
=g B 2022 F 20214
Employee Turnover'®
EERK ™
Total Number of Employee Turnover Person 5 6
BEEMEAR A
Total Turnover Rate % 12.50% 16.67%
HmRL =
By Gender
#1152 5
Male Number of Turnover Person 3 5
B MR AN A
Turnover Rate % 13.04% 25%
MR L=
Female Number of Turnover Person 2 1
g MR ANEL A
Turnover Rate % 11.76% 6.25%
ML
By Geographical Locations
el 1 5
PRC Number of Turnover Person 5 6
ey MR ANE A
Turnover Rate % 15.63% 19.35%
MK
HK Number of Turnover Person 0 0
BB MR AN A
Turnover Rate % 0.00% 0.00%
DN S
Singapore Number of Turnover Person 0 0
TN MR ANEL A
Turnover Rate % 0.00% 0.00%
MR L=

16 The turnover rate is calculated based on “Total Number of Employee Turnover per 16 MALRE [ GHEEEBARAIAG BEE
category/Total Number of Employee per category”, which is with reference to the BREIFE WKL ECRE -HE2KE
guideline provided by the ESG guide. JBHESl) °
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RIE -#HE8RERRE

Indicator Unit 2022 2021
=g B 2022 F 2021 4F
By Age Groups
1EF B Bl 2 575
30 or below Number of Turnover Person 2 1
30BREKEA T MR AN A
Turnover Rate % 28.57% 16.67%
PPN RS
30-40 Number of Turnover Person 2 2
30-40 5% MR ANE A
Turnover Rate % 18.18% 14.29%
ML
41-50 Number of Turnover Person 0 2
41-50 5% MR ANE A
Turnover Rate % 0.00% 22.22%
TR
50 or above Number of Turnover Person 1 1
50 3R A | MR ANEL A
Turnover Rate % 12.50% 14.29%
MR L=
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Indicator 2022 2021
B 2022 2021 4F
Employee Training Distribution
ZIEES M
Total Number of Employees Participated in Training Person 35 32
XlfE & B8 A
By Gender
It 5 E] 7
Male Person 22 20
Ef A
Female Person 13 12
gk A
By Employee Categories
% E 81852 77
The Board and Senior Management Person 9 7
EEgREREEE A
Department Managers Person 7 7
BPFT AR IR A
Other Employees Person 19 18
HmET A
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Indicator Unit 2022 2021
BE B 2022 &F 2021 F

Employee Training Hours"’

EEZIEGHT

Average Training Hours Completed per Employee Hour 11.98 2.62
BREE KX TR /N

By Gender

It 5 E] 7

Male Hour 15.9 18.10
Ef AN

Female Hour 6.59 7.88
it /INE

By Employee Categories

% E 81852 77

The Board and Senior Management Hour 9.11 7.38
BEEehaRERE /INB

Department Managers Hour 20.79 20.70
EBPI 4RI B

Other Employees Hour 10.65 13.50
H8T /N

i The average training hours completed per employee are calculated for 2022 77 RN FEBHEBTHKEINEAREZ &

based on “Total employee training hours per category/Total Number of HEBZIBRE SEZIEE L]
Employees Participated in Trainings per category”, which is with reference to the B E2EGRE - HgRERESD -

guideline provided by the ESG guide.
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Indicator Unit 2022 2021
B B 2022 20214

Percentage of Employees Trained®

ZIfRET DL

Total Percentage of Employees Trained' % 87.5 88.9
XiEERBE DL
By Gender
It 5 E] 7
Male % 62.9 62.5
Eogis
Female % 371 37.5
Z
By Employee Categories
% E 81852 77
The Board and Senior Management % 25.7 21.9
EEgREREEE
Department Managers % 20.0 219
BRI AR 38
Other Employees % 54.3 56.3
Hi8T

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category are
disclosed and calculated for 2022 based on “Employees took part in trainings in
the category/Total Number of Employees*100%", which is with reference to the
guideline provided by the ESG guide.

The total percentage of employees trained are disclosed and calculated for 2021
and 2022 based on “Percentage of employees trained = Employees who took part
in training/Number of employees*100”, which is with reference to the guideline
provided by the ESG guide.

K202 F MR REEBERNESHZIIEES
B R IZERNZIEE AR EE L
HH00% |58 K2 ECRE LRk
EIaESl) -

R2021 F K202 FEBE K Z B E DL
ZIEEXIBEDL=EEZINBEE T
EBEBHEM00 | BERFTE K2 ECGR
B -HgkERIESD -
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I%iﬁ * %ig};i%/ﬁ

CONTENT INDEX OF THE ESG GUIDE OF THE STOCK

wE

BMX(RE T8 RERESD

EXCHANGE RERGI
Mandatory Disclosure
Requirements Description Section
REIREER it -]
Governance Structure A statement from the Board containing the Sustainable Governance
EREE following elements: TRESRE R
HEFSHLNEH  BEFRHATINAE
(i) disclosure of the Board’s oversight of ESG
issues;
() HEEFGHRE HghEAZENE
e
B -
(i) the Board’s ESG management approach and
strategy, including the process used to
evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-
elated issues (including risks to the issuer’s
businesses); and
(il BESEMNRE HELEREEAIER
B - B BN EREENIR
BoekECHBEEE(BEEETA
EBeER) B Kk
(iii)  how the Board reviews progress made against
ESG-related goals and targets with an
explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s
businesses.
(i) EFSWREER  HEREREBAER
el ER - WERE TP EEIT AR
HEEE
Reporting Principles A description of, or an explanation on, the About This Report
& FE A application of the following Reporting Principles in B AR
the preparation of the ESG Report:
S EBRERERSE g hEalERN
I EA T5ERRA :
Reporting Boundary A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of ~ About This Report
WEHE the ESG Report and describing the process used to B ARIRE

identify which entities or operations are included in
the ESG Report. If there is a change in the scope, the
issuer should explain the difference and reason for

the change.
RERIE Mg kEoRENERSEE - &
UIRTSE: @Bﬁbfﬁfiii‘% MAIRE - g keEn

WEMIBIE - EERBEBAE - BITARE
RETRZENEBRA -
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Aspect
Em

KPI

wE

Disclosure

wE

Section/Remarks

MEES

A. Environment

B
A1 Emissions

A1 R IR

General
Disclosure

—RIEE

A1.1

A12

A13

Information on:

BRABERSORERBIN - KR LH

WEES AERBEEEEVNELSH

(@)  the policies; and

@ BE: R

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

(b)) BETHEITAETBEAXENHERE
LRI

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,

discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

BYE RS o

The types of emissions and respective
emissions data.

e R AR BB EE -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy direct (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

B (8BE—-) kepREE (BEZ)AE
REE@BERE (LAMERTE) & (103 A ) =
E(MNBESEN BERBHE

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
FEEREEEYRE (CAMETE) k(0
HA)EE (WMASEEEN - BERM
T

Environmental Performance
Sustainable Operations
Sustainability Ashore
f;%%%ziﬁ

BESE 3

Tiiitﬁﬁ‘iz FETE

Key Performance Summary

FARERRE

Key Performance Summary

B ESRE

Key Performance Summary

FARENRE
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wE

Aspect KPI Disclosure Section/Remarks
B BREANER BKE MBES B
Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in Key Performance Summary
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity FRENREE
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
FREEEEEEYRAE CANETE) R
Lﬁﬁ))‘ B (N BESEN - BIERE
AE
A15 Description of emission target(s) and steps Green Strategy Highlights in 2022
taken to achieve them Sustainable Ship Designs
HIMFTET L HERE B IR R AZEREL  Sustainability Ashore
B IZPTERENEY 22 8% 2022 F 4% @%ﬁwﬂiﬁ
AIFFEM MR
AREERE EiIT’E
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- Green Strategy Highlights in 2022
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction Sustainable Ship Designs
target(s) and steps taken to achieve them Sustainability Ashore
AR R ENEEEZYNITE B 2022 FRAEBIRER
PR R REIEL BRI EER o AIHEEMMRET
AREERF LT
A2 Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, Environmental Performance
Resources Disclosure including energy, water and other raw Sustainability Ashore
A2 BRI —RRIREE materials. RR&H
BRUEA é/J_( BIERER  KREMEN FIREERE-TE
) BB
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption Key Performance Summary

by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total
(kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
?**E’*'JEIJ > BB &SRB REIR (4R
B RIOh) BAFEE (UTETREE
&fr‘(ﬁmﬂ%gﬁu BIAR A

st
= o
Ean
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wE

Aspect KPI Disclosure Section/Remarks
B BREANER BKE MBES B

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity Key Performance Summary
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per RS E
facility)
BIEKERTE(WMABESEMN - BE
axﬁmaJr#)

A23 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) — Green Strategy Highlights in 2022
set and steps taken to achieve them Sustainable Ship Designs
g RERAMGR B IR R RERELE  Sustainability Ashore
TRPTEREREY T B o 2022 FAR B BB E B

—J'?:titﬂ)L A'}'LA'
AEERERE rLIVE

A24 Description of whether there is any issue in Green Strategy Highlights in 2022
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water Sustainability Ashore
efficiency target(s) and steps taken to 2022 FAREBESEE
achieve them. ARBERRFLETE
i SKEGE A 7KR_E R B AR - A
MRFARKBGHE R AEGELER
PREREREY 2088 -

A25 Total packaging material used for finished The use of packaging materials

products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

IR mPTABEM R EE (AT E
R (ER) BEEBU(hE -

is not material to the Group
due to our business nature.
HREMHEBILEE -
KM EHEAEAREE
mMELFAERX °
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Aspect KPI Disclosure Section/Remarks
B BREANER BKE MBES B
A3 The General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant ~ ESG Risk Management
Environment Disclosure impact on the environment and natural Sustainable Ship Designs
and Natural —RRIRER resources. Sustainable Operations
Resources BIRBEITABRBERRAAEREKXNEKR  ESGREEIRE
AZERIE I FERBUR ° AR BN M RR AT
RAEIR AIREEE
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of ESG Risk Management
activities on the environment and natural Sustainable Ship Designs
resources and the actions taken to manage Sustainable Operations
them. ESG ke B 1
MO EHEHRRRAARERNEKR A HEMMER
TENCRIRNERBBELENTTE - AIREEE
A4 Climate General Policies on identification and mitigation of Climate Change Response
Change Disclosure  significant climate-related issues which have &3 R E &1L
Ad R IREME — R impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
BRI N EE R AR g H BT AEL
TENERRIREBAEENECER
A4 Description of the significant climate-related  Climate Change Response

150

issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

B RIS HEITAELERLEN
BARGHEESZSE  REKDREHBH
TENTH -
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RIE HERERHS

Aspect KPI Disclosure Section/Remarks
B BREANER BKE MBES B
B. Social
e
Employment and Labour Practices
EBRETER
BT Employment  General Information on: Protection of Employees’ Rights
B1{ET® Disclosure B : and Interests
— MR EE (@ the policies; and {RBE B THMER &z
@ BEE: R
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
(b) BTFTHEITABEAZENMERE
FERROIRER -
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment Key Performance Summary
type(for example, full- or part-time), age PAREIRE
group and geographical region.
IR ERER (2BEFEE) - Fie
ARl MR E D E BB -
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age Key Performance Summary
group and geographical region. FRERRE
BRI - FieR Mt EE S EER
R o
B2 Health and General Information on: Occupational Health and Safety

Safety Disclosure
B2 E —MRIWE

BFRARHZ2TERREIRERER S BERRELSD

BEMEEN

(@)  the policies; and

@ BEE: &k

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

(b) BTEHEITABEAZENMERE
EYST X

relating to providing a safe working

environment and protecting employees

from occupational hazards.

BB R -
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Aspect KPI Disclosure Section/Remarks
B BREANER BKE MBES B
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Occupational Health and Safety
occurred in each of the past three years BEpgRrELe
including the reporting year.
RBE=F (BREREFE) A TEBR
ML THIA B St 3 -
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health and Safety
HIEEEXTERS - BEEmELe
B2.3 Description of occupational health and Occupational Health and Safety
safety measures adopted, how they are BEERHEZE
implemented and monitored.
A TR B R AR R B 2485 A
NEBRITRERTE -
B3 Development  General Policies on improving employees’ Learning and Development
and Training Disclosure knowledge and skills for discharging duties SRR
B3BER KIF & —REE at work. Description of training activities.
BRERIMEEB BT TIERE AN AMB N
BERVBUR - FEMIBTIES -
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by Key Performance Summary
gender and employee category (e.g. senior  BESREMTME
management, middle management).
BRI REBER (NS REERE - h R
EREF)EINXIEERSL -
B3.2 The average training hours completed per Key Performance Summary

152

employee by gender and employee
category.

RIERI R EBEREI DN EREBTK
Xl TR EL o
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Aspect KPI Disclosure Section/Remarks
B BREANER BKE MBES B
B4 Labour General Information on: Protection of Employees’ Rights
Standards Disclosure BBy ILE T 3k8 545 THY and Interests
B4 45 T 48 — MR EE (@  the policies; and RIS 8 THREA K a8
@ BX: R
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
(b) BTFTHETABEAZENHERE
B NARB
relating to preventing child and forced
labour.
EH -
B4.1 Description of measures to review Protection of Employees’ Rights
employment practices to avoid child and and Interests
forced labour. {RFE B THIRER R F 2
AR 5T BB ] AR o 2 T Je 08 1] 45
THERE ©
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such  Protection of Employees’ Rights
practices when discovered. and Interests
RMAEZRIREREAERBAERN  REE TR KR
PRERH) P 8% -
Operating Practices
=EEY
B5 Supply Chain General Policies on managing environmental and Sustainable Procurement
Management Disclosure social risks of the supply chain. Supply Chain Management
BSHEHEIE —RIEE EIRMHEEIRIE LAt S REREGR CEST =3
HrEgEEIR
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.  Supply Chain Management

iR D HEHEE -

BREEEBARAF / 202FFHR
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wE

Aspect KPI Disclosure Section/Remarks
B BREANER BKE MBES B
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging  Sustainable Procurement
suppliers, number of suppliers where the Supply Chain Management
practices are being implemented, how they — AJ#F & &
are implemented and monitored. ﬁJEﬁ&iiiE‘.:f@
A BRI R EEHED - MHEATT
BRAEBOHERSEE - URBBIED
ETTREEETTE -
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Sustainable Procurement
environmental and social risks along the AR EER
supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored
g BB RS ERE A IRIE &
tERENED - AREBEESNBIT
NERITE -
B5.4 Description of practices used to promotes Sustainable Procurement

154

environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
A EREHERR XS ARRER
NARTEEVE R - LA KB BB DR IIT &

BERTE -
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Aspect KPI Disclosure Section/Remarks
B BREXEE ®E MHERER, fHE
B6 Product General Information on: Service Excellence
Responsibility Disclosure  BEAFTIRHEEMMARFNEREZSE - 28RS
B6EmEfF —RRIRER B - BELILBEEARBER AR © Due to the business nature of
(@)  the policies; and the Group, matters related to
(@) BR: & advertising and labelling of
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and products and services
regulations that have a significant provided are not covered
impact on the issuer in this Report.
(b) BTFHBETABEAXENERZEZ BANRAEENEBNLE -
eSS X RN AR R B
relating to health and safety, advertising, IRBEERIEHEEHENEH -
labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and
methods of redress.
HERL -
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped  Not relevant to the Group's
subject to recalls for safety and health business.
reasons. HREEEETER -
EENDEXEMBEP AL T HEE
EhmARWE A S
B6.2 Number of products and service related Service Excellence

complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

REBNEMMRBHIRFEE AN R
YA -

BREEEBARAF / 202FFHR

=R

155



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERHS

Aspect KPI Disclosure Section/Remarks
B BREANER BKE MBES B
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing  Service Excellence

and protecting intellectual property rights. £ R
fat B A T SR RIE M E B R B o

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and  Recall procedures are not relevant
recall procedures. to the Group's business.
S 28T BIERERBYERF - = mm [ U A2 Fr B AR R B R 75
K
The group will consider disclosing
relevant information on the
quality assurance process
in the future.

RERE R KL B FR

B EmTEBIiza
HEAER -
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection Service Excellence
and privacy policies, how they are HHR®

implemented and monitored.
OB B E ERMRIE RILBEER - AR
MHEITRER X -
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Aspect
Em

KPI
BARERIER

Disclosure

wE

Section/Remarks

MEES

B7 Anti-corruption General

BV RE)S

Disclosure

— R ER

B7.1

B7.2

B7.3

Information on:

BEEM LR - BR - BGEFROERER

(@)  the policies; and

@ BX: R

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

(b) BTFTHETABEAZENHERE
LRI

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and

money laundering.

BB R -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer
or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.
REEHAHETASEEEREYE
BRENETHRARTHEE LFRER

Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

et by &5 i M SR ERAR T - LA AR R
TRERTE -

Description of anti-corruption training
provided to directors and staff.

Rt AESE N B TRENRESE

Anti-corruption
R&EH

Anti-corruption
k&S

Anti-corruption
k&S

Anti-corruption
RES
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Aspect KPI Disclosure Section/Remarks

B BREANER BKE MBES B

Community

B8 Community General Policies on community engagement to Community Engagement
Investment Disclosure understand the needs of the communities w2

B8t @R E —RR IR ER where the issuer operates and to ensure its

activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

BN ERSER T HBEITALEME
HERENEREXEESHEEBHLR
MEREVBUR ©

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport).

ETERERE (HE  RESEE 4T
Tk R2ER b BEH) °

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time)
to the focus area

HEIBBEERNER(NEEXEH) -
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Community Engagement
w2

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
there were no community
service activities held in this
reporting period. The Group
will consider disclosing relevant
information in the future.

HRFERZE - RARE R
I A ETTAH R RISVEE -
REBEBFRARRE BIRE
HEAER -



Independent Auditor’s Report
B A RS

RSM Hong Kong

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

T +852 2598 5123
F +852 2598 7230

www.rsmhk.com

RSM

RS- B ES
%Ei:

EE +852 2598 5123
£ H +852 2598 7230

www.rsmhk.com

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Xin Yuan
Enterprises Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group’) set out on pages 167 to 258, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AT HRE

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key audit matter
we identified is the impairment assessment of vessels:
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BEETSEE G

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRETEE BN ES DM EEBRET SR
Impairment assessment of vessels

foa BB R4

Refer to Notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

IRAR G B TS RERMIFE18 19 0

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's vessels amounted
to US$168,927,000, representing 79% of the Group's total
assets. They are key assets held by the Group and drive its
significant cash flows from the asphalt tanker chartering
services and bulk carrier chartering services. The Group
reviews the carrying amount of its vessels at the end of
each reporting period if impairment indicators are
present.

202212831 EE B K M M8 EE
1689270003 7T » 1 EREIEEMEET% - ZFM
Mm EEERENIEZEEE  URESMEMR
BRABEMEMBREEAERRERE - BEE
RERE B EMMn REERE S FERED
xR o

The impairment assessment requires management to
consider both internal and external sources of
information, in determining whether there is any
indication that any vessel may have been impaired. The
assessment of whether impairment indicators are present
requires significant management judgement.
Accordingly, we considered this area as a key audit
matter.
BEMAEFEEEBEEET RS ANRB R E M
RART 8L ERE R B B NER R INEBE KL IR o 7Tk 2
BFEERETRFEZEANEIEEHIE - Bt - &
MRBUBEBEREFE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment included:

ZMBEREEERENHIEFEE

— Understand management’s impairment assessment
process, and evaluated the key control procedures
related to management’s identification of indicators
of impairment for vessels;

— THREEEMRENGEBE  RAREREER
RN AR E N R B BRI HIAE T

—  Review profitability analysis for each vessel, current
vessel price and any changes in time and voyage
charter rates; and

— EBHEEMMOBNEED SN REHMEER
AR RIZTEE R EMEE) 0 &

— Challenge management’s assessment of whether
indicators of impairment are present.

— EREEBHRLFEREDFRHE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AT HRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A RS

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AT HRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

R HBF RS M B RRARE
MEE (&)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AT HRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. Ng Wai Kwun.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants

24 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

2022 2021

2022 F 2021

Note US$’000 US$'000

B 5 FEx FET

Revenue 1'@N 8 64,124 52,331
Cost of sales SHER AN (48,882) (44,022)
Gross profit EX 15,242 8,309
Other income 8= 9 6,196 1,299
Administrative expenses THFEX (4,580) (3.664)
Other operating expenses HigEmy (341) (1,034)
Fxchange gains/(losses), net bE N e, (E518) 7B 58 (143) 417
Profit from operations KEREEN 16,374 5327
Finance costs & g 11 (5,442) (3,596)
Profit before tax BRF A% F 10,932 1,731
Income tax expense PSR < 12 (1) (10)
Profit for the year FERA 13 10,931 1,721

Earnings per share BRER 17

Basic (cents per share) EAR (FRAL) 2.48 0.39
Diluted (cents per share) B (mal) N/A 7 iE A N/A i A
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HeBEERkREtMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
USss$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
Profit for the year FERAN 10,931 1,721
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2 mEUKE :
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: AJREH ERT AR R ) HE -
Exchange differences on translating MEBINEER Z58
foreign operations (83) 2
Other comprehensive income BRRENFEHEM2EIE
for the year, net of tax (83) 2
Total comprehensive income FEXHWRHALE
for the year 10,848 1,723
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e AR R R

At 31 December 2022 722022 12 A31 H

2022 2021
2022 F 2021
Note US$’000 US$'000
B 5 FEx FET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mz BENRE 18 122,710 113,455
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 19 47,218 77,872
Total non-current assets FREBEELE 169,928 191,327
Current assets RBEE
Derivative financial instruments TTHEER T A 20 58 -
Inventories FE 21 1,777 2,165
Trade receivables g F i saa 22 600 1,299
Other receivables, deposits HEMEWHIE - 2
and prepayments TafTRIE 23 570 463
Pledged bank deposits EEIRITIFR 24(a) 1,412 1,399
Bank and cash balances RITRIR S &S 24(b) 38,306 3,846
Total current assets REBEEHE 42,723 9,172
TOTAL ASSETS EEHE 212,651 200,499
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEkE8E
Share capital &% A 25 4,400 4,400
Reserves B 27 127,478 116,630
Total equity FEAEEE 131,878 121,030
LIABILITIES =K
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Borrowings EB® 28 47,158 23,620
Lease liabilities HEBE 29 645 14,332
Total non-current liabilities FREBEERRE 47,803 37,952
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e AR R R

At 31 December 2022 7220229 12 A31 H

2022 2021

2022 F 2021

Note US$’000 US$'000

B 5 FEx FET

Current liabilities RBEE

Derivative financial instruments PTHEeRmT A 20 = 160
Contract liabilities aHatE 30 = 257
Borrowings =N 28 13,080 17,058
Lease liabilities HEaRE 29 14,340 17,121
Trade payables 2 SR FRIE 31 3,062 5,898
Other payables and accruals HiENZIB N ETE R 32 2,488 1,023
Total current liabilities REEERE 32,970 41517
Total liabilities BEHE 80,773 79,469
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERRABEHEEE 212,651 200,499
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (AfE)FE 9,753 (32,345)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERABERE 179,681 158,982

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2023 and are signed 20233 4B EEE=2 /& - W A

on its behalf by: TAALTREEE
Xu Wenjun Chen Ming
38 PR 88
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

MEREZBEXR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

it 1IN 4
Foreign
currency
Share Share Capital Merger  translation Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
Ra  ROEE  ERRE  AHEE MERERE  REEA act
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
T T T T T T TET
At January 2021 R E1 718 4400 74892 9310 833 (37) 29909 119,307
Total comprehensive income and FE 2 AN EER
changes inequity for theyear  EREH) - - - - 2 1721 1723
At 31 December 2021 R0 E12A31R 4400 74892 9310 833 (35) 31,630 121,030
At 1 January 2022 RONEI1AE 4,400 74,892 9310 833 (35) 31,630 121,030
Total comprehensive income and FE2 AN EER
changes inequity for theyear R EE) - - - - (83) 10,931 10,848
At 31 December 2022 RNNE1AE 4,400 74,892 9,310 833 (118) 42,561 131,878
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERIRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Note US$’000 USS$'000
B EE FEx F=T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING  E&ZEHHEHRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B B % A 10,932 1,731
Adjustments for: BT EIEEL AR -
Bank interest income RITH B MR 9 (189) 3)
Depreciation of property, Y - BB NMRETE
plant and equipment 13 7,407 6,426
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEESETE 13 3,424 3,867
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BB MR EWE
plant and equipment 13 (5,472) (3)
Gain on early extinguishment of leases 32 R4 IFFAE /I (8) -
Fair value gains on derivative financial  $T4 4B T A QA F(E
instruments, net e F 58 13 (218) (118)
Finance costs BB KA 1 5,442 3,59
Unrealised exchange gains R E N W (25) (253)
Operating profit before working LEE PRI E R A
capital changes 21,293 15,243
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERAD,/ (38 hm) 388 (756)
Decrease in trade receivables E 5 e W IE R 699 163
(Increase)/decrease in other Hib e IE « 8e &
receivables, deposits and FEfTFRIE (),
prepayments (107) 161
Decrease in contract assets BHEERYD = 76
Decrease in contract liabilities BHEERD (257) (275)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B 5 B3I (R4 ) /1N (2,836) 3,989
Increase/(decrease) in other payables  E fih fB S 3x 18 & fE 51 &
and accruals G 1,465 (357)
Cash generated from operations KEFTSIR S 20,645 18,244
Income tax paid BERAEH (1) (10)
Interest and bank charges paid BEFBERIBITFES (3,289) (1,928)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE (1,487) (1,650)
Net cash generated from operating KB ISR G T8
activities 15,868 14,656
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEHRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021
Note US$’000 US$'000
B 5 FEx FE
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Increase in pledged bank deposits B IR ERI 717 FIG h0 (13) M
(Increase)/decrease in restricted TR ERITEESR (B ), R
bank balances 24(b) (3,650) 787
Interest received B FE 189 3
Net proceeds from disposal of property, HEME « MERREZ
plant and equipment FR1S5RIE 558 20,533 -
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE  WENM&E
equipment 18 (3,804) (2,763)
Net cash generated from/(used in) B RS (FTA)
investing activities B& %5 13,255 (1,974)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METEBRENE
ACTIVITIES
Principal elements of lease payments ~ FAE T K AE 25 33(b) (17,253) (14,223)
Borrowings raised BAER 33(b) 51,935 13,900
Repayment of borrowings EBEER 33(b) (32,924) (16,503)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BRSNS (FTA)
financing activities HeFE 1,758 (16,826)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASH & RIEESZEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i, (L) B8 30,881 (4,144)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes M E RS & (71) 2
CASH AND CASHEQUIVALENTS AT REFNRERBRLZEY
BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,739 5,881
CASH AND CASHEQUIVALENTSAT REAMNRERBELZEY
END OF YEAR 32,549 1,739
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERBESEEYIW
EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances IRITNIR SRR 38,306 3,846
Less: Restricted bank balances B 2R BIIRTT A SR 24(b) (5,757) (2,107)
32,549 1,739
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

1.

174

GENERAL INFORMATION

Xin Yuan Enterprises Group Limited (the "Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands on 28 June 2016.
The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 31119, Grand
Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman KY1-
1205, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of
business in Hong Kong is 40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre,
No. 248 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company and its
subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“"HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"). HKFRSs comprise
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRS”); Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKAS"); and Interpretations. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
and with the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted by
the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

—REH

SREEEEARAR ([XRQH))
R2016F6 A28BIREBEHREFHS A
AEERERETMKIAERE
Aa] o BTl EEE ik 23 P.O. Box
31119, Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802
West Bay Road, Grand Cayman
KY1-1205, Cayman Islands > H & & &
ZEXWHMIH RBEBEFERK
BR2MA8F AR @ B 04048 o K
REIRDREBEABMERIZABERA
Al ([BESR P ]) EAR 7 e

ARARREZEBR AR - HMER
AN EBREHNERE B BwR M
E37 e ARRI REMBRARRER
[A&EE] -

HEFEEPHHRRDRBEEG
rg ((BEBEFMAE]) HEMHZ
PrEEREBMBREER (&
PMBERELED]) MER - FAEME
BEERNBREREBYHREEA (&
BMBHREEN])  HEEER
(BEBEERAND: KRE-ILF
REMBBRRMTAMRIMES L
mARA(TERRAD) 2 EAWER
E o R EnrlEpl (Fe28) 2 %
BRE AEEMEANERSA
BRI TR -

FRGRTHIAGERMHETRAE
B R g 5t B B R A RSk T ER AT AR
MR RRERI BBV B R EE
Al - e8P E N FHE W5
WERPRRZEERERARE /&
BESTHRERNEEBAR  RE
MER s EABRESH 2B -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONGKONG 3. A HIIREEIIEBBTK
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS R

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (@) BRAFEI RKIEIT BB
£ 3t

The Group has applied the following amendments to BREAMBEHERE  ~AEEH

HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are EEXERATIBEBGETRD

mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or NERMILF2022F1 A1 8

after 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated IZ(? 5 10 1) 5 2 HA AT o 1l A

financial statements: BB B ImEEANSET AN -

Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment: BELENE 167 NE BEIRE:
HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use (B3I K) ERTRERZ

A

Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of ERSHENE R BRAN-ETEY
HKAS 37 Fulfilling a Contract (CHES) KK

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual EERBRESER  HAERED
HKFRS 3 Framework FIR(ETX)

Amendments to Covid-19 Related Rent ERAMBEREEN  200F6 AN E
HKFRS 16 Concessions beyond F16%(BIAR) M Covid-19478
(March 2021) 30 June 2021 (021%3A8) BEEH

Annual Improvements  Annual Improvements to HKFRS FENEER 2018 Z 20205
Project Standards 2018-2020 BB BRLES|

LERE

Amendments to Merger Accounting for Common o e HEEE S5
Accounting Control Combinations (BETR) afteiti
Guideline 5

The Group did not change its accounting policies or make ANEEIW HE AN F il &IE5T

retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting the RSN EEREMENRE S5t

abovementioned amended standards or annual RS sk 1738 W 2E o

improvements.

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet (b) EEMEEKRERNVIHITR

effective

The Group has not applied any new standard, amendments
to standards and interpretation that have been issued but
are not yet effective for the financial year beginning 1
January 2022. The new standard, amendments to standards
and interpretation include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

RIEFTEBYKHREEAR
REBWEEATAEEME
HR202F1A1BRABZH
BRFE MR E KB FTRT 2R -
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Al - AR AR ZRERIER
BB ARENA TSI
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3.
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

R RGBT ERBBK
HEZER (450

(b) SEMERERERWHET K
RETEEMBREER

(%)
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUT B 2%
RIS B ER
Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024
FERGERFE 1R (BFIA) —BEIBRARDIIERD 202451 A1 H
Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
EEETENFE 1R (BRIAR) — B RANFERBEE 202451 A1 B
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of 1 January 2023
Accounting Policies
FEGFENE 1 R RBEMERELERNEBRREE 25 (BRI X) 20231 A1H
— SR KE
Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
FEGFERESHE (BFTA) — FHEFNESR 20231 A1H
Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities 1 January 2023
Arising from a Single Transaction
BEEENFE 2R (ERIAR) —BHE-—XFEANEENEBERED 20231 A1 H
BT IR
Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback 1 January 2024
FEMGHEERNE 65 (BFTA) —EREEANEEARE 202451 A1 H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be determined
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture by the HKICPA
BBV BHREERFE 10X NEEGTERNE 285 (BFTR) —KREEHR SRRl VN
HEE NI AE bR ANEEHEIIRA EE
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements — 1 January 2024
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause
FERER S (Q020F) BHRERZ 25 —ERXAHEE 202451 A1 H

R EREE Y Y ERERY S

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it
has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FEGIHHEE

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise
in the accounting policies below (e.g. certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of

these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.
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4.

178

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the
Company. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between the non-controlling shareholders and
owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investments. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received or
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency translation

(c)

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
United States dollars ("US$"), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using
the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the
end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items
that are measured at fair value in foreign currencies
are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates
on the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of monetary items that form part of
the net investment in foreign entities are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences
are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of
the gain or loss on disposal.
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4.

182

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Property, plant and equipment

(i)

Vessels

Vessels, other than vessels under leases which were
classified as right-of-use assets (Note 4(e)(i)), are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Vessels (other than the abovementioned vessels
under lease and the dry-docking component) are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of 10-25 years, after taking into account
the estimated residual values. Depreciation method,
estimated useful lives and estimated residual values
are reviewed, and adjusted, if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

Upon acquisition of a vessel, the components of the
vessel which are required to be replaced at the next
dry-docking are identified and their costs are
depreciated over the period to the next estimated
dry-docking date. Costs incurred on subsequent dry-
docking of the vessels are capitalised and depreciated
over the period to the next estimated dry-docking
date. When significant dry-docking costs incurred
prior to the expiry of the depreciation period, the
remaining costs of the previous dry-docking are
written off immediately.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
(ii) Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are recognised in profit or loss during the period in

which they are incurred.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment
is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost
less their residual values over the estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates

are as follows:

Office equipment and motor vehicle
Leasehold improvement

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant

asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

(e)

(i)

The Group as lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

(e)

(i)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments to be
made under reasonably certain extension options are
also included in the measurement of the lease liability.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated
using the effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or rate are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for
leases held by the individual lessee, which does
not have recent third-party financing, and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.
term, country, currency and security.
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4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

(e)

(i)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to
the lease, then the Group entities use that rate as a
starting point to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

(e)

(i)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in the
Group's estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration
for a lease that is not originally provided for in the
lease contract (“lease modification”) that is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification. The only
exceptions are any rent concessions which arose as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
which satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph
46B of HKFRS 16. In such cases, the Group took
advantage of the practical expedient not to assess
whether the rent concessions are lease modifications,
and recognised the change in consideration as
negative lease payments in profit or loss in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the rent
concessions occurred.
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4.

188

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Leases (Continued)

(ii) The Group as lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified
as an operating lease.

Inventories

Inventories comprise bunker and lubricant oil for vessels
remaining on board at the end of the reporting period.
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis.
Net realisable value is the expected amount to be realised
from use as estimated by the directors/management.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected credit
losses (“ECL") in accordance with the policy set out in Note
4(w) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to
the consideration has become unconditional.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)
A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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4.

190

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Recognition and derecognition of financial

(i)

instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

(k)

()

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method less
allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to

which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(n) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.

(o) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FE@HEHZE (&)

(p) Derivative financial instruments (p) TTEEWMITA
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a MTHETREUVBRRITEIESR
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently SN HEI A FEER Hig
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting HEMERRNAFEEEH T
period. 2o

(q) Revenue and otherincome (q) WA RHMWKE

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from voyage charter and contract of affreightment
("CoA") is recognised over time when the asphalt tanker
chartering services are performed.

Revenue from vessel management services is recognised
over time when the management services are performed.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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charter, except where an alternative basis is more RoEWMEBEERRREREE
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from éf%’”tx B 5 48 ) H B

the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
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payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are MENATESBENAREERN
recognised as income in the accounting period in which etHRER AW A -

they are earned.
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4.

194

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits

(r)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits, and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset. Any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended
use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
orloss in the period in which they become receivable.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(u) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(u) Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of
the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment and
where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its
estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the
case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value less
costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-
generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values
are computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-
generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated
pro rata amongst the assets of the cash-generating unit.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused by
changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the
extent that they reverse the impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(w) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade and
other receivables and contract assets. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(w) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects of the
industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained
from economic expert reports, financial analysts,
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that
relate to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk for a particular financial instrument;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(w) Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the

Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has

increased significantly since initial recognition when

contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,

unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(w) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

() The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(I The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and

(I Adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset
has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there are no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(w) Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)
Definition of default
The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

4. FESTTEHEE)
w) EREERSGHNEERE

(&)

BHNER
AEBRA/UATERARAIE
ERBREERNMSHENED
S ARBEKBRRATE
PATN A ] — IR {5 2 FE M FRIR
— AR -

— RZPUFERMBEH
"

—  NEBELSKEEA MK
RZERKE  BHAN
AKAgEREEA (BREA
SH)2EER(TEER
SEFANEAERR) o

Tam bt o A & R fe] - R
ERerEERREBOBM
BRTRBEELEELN BRI
AEEBERERAREBEXFZ
BRBTRERBRHNENREESR
REBEAERGR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries
made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the
assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(w) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

(x)

assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was
used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation. The
discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x)

(y)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In applying the Group's accounting policies, which are described
in Note 4, the directors are required to make judgements (other
than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact
on the amounts recognised and to make estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are discussed below.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2022 were
approximately US$122,710,000 (2021: US$113,455,000) and
approximately US$47,218,000 (2021: US$77,872,000)
respectively.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made. The Group’s
income from vessel owning and chartering is derived from
overseas sources which is not liable to Hong Kong Profits
Tax or Singapore Corporate Income Tax. During the year,
income tax of approximately US$1,000 (2021: US$10,000)
charged to profit or loss represented underprovision for
income tax in prior year.

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets based on the credit risk of trade receivables and
contract assets. The amount of the impairment loss based
on ECL model is measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. Where the
future cash flows are less than expected, or being revised
downward due to changes in facts and circumstances, a
material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of trade
receivables was approximately US$600,000 (2021:
US$1,299,000) and no allowance of doubtful debts was
made (2021: Nil).

5.

B8 o I M ) = E AL ET ()

fhEr FABERERNEZRIR(B)

(b)

(c)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. TRIERERE

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk
The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as
some of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of respective Group entities such as Singapore
dollars ("SGD") and Renminbi (‘/RMB"). During the year, the
Group entered into foreign currency forward contracts to
hedge the foreign currency risk in respect of bank loans
denominated in SGD. The Group monitors its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

At 31 December 2022, if USS had strengthened/weakened
5 per cent against SGD with all other variables held
constant, consolidated profit after tax for the year would
have been approximately US$224,000 (2021: US$411,000)
higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gains/losses on bank loans denominated in SGD.
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e

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to
credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade
receivables) and from its financing activities, including
deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign
exchange transactions and other financial instruments. The
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and derivative financial assets is limited because
the counterparties are banks and financial institutions with
high credit-rating assigned by international credit-rating
agencies, for which the Group considers to have low credit
risk.

(i) Tradereceivables and contracts assets

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit
subject to the Group's established policy, procedures
and control relating to customer credit risk
management. Individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables, for voyage
charter, generally are due within five business days
after completion of cargo loading. For CoA, the
balances generally are due within three business days
after completion of cargo discharging. For demurrage
claims, the balances normally are due within 30 days
after the finalisation. For asphalt trading, the balance
is normally paid within 30 days after the invoice date.
Debtors with balances that are more than 3 months
past due are requested to settle all outstanding
balances before any further credit is granted.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.
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6.

214

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Trade receivables and contracts assets
(Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group's historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases. The
ECL rate of current trade receivables and contract
assets is assessed to be 0% (2021: 0%). No loss
allowance provision was recognised during the year
(2021 Nil).

Other receivables

The Group assessed that the ECL for other receivables
are not material under 12-month expected losses
method. No loss allowance provision was recognised
during the year (2021: Nil).
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

6. THERERE®)

Liquidity risk () REBEZ£RAR
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and AREBSOBREEEHERB A
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains LIEEAR RN E & F K LAFE
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements RAEEEEEWIRSHEERE
in the short and longer term. NEESE R REESENK -
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted AEBEFTESRBBERED
cash flows of the Group'’s non-derivative financial liabilities AR RE 2R E
is as follows: T :
On demand Between Between
or within 1and 2and Over
1year 2years 5years 5years Total
RERS
R1ER 122% 2E5F 5FNLE st
US$'000 USS$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
T FEn Fxr FE TER
At 31 December 2022 R2022%512831H
Borrowings L 17,506 13,822 36,243 5,161 72,732
Lease liabilities HEAR 15,126 240 512 - 15,878
Trade and other payables B 5 R EHt R IR 4,192 - - - 4,192
At 31 December 2021 R2021512831H
Borrowings fE 18210 9,774 15214 339 43537
Lease liabilities HEaR 18342 14615 79 - 33,036
Trade and other payables & 5 J B FE (3008 6,555 - - - 6,555
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6.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk mainly arises from
its bank deposits, bank loans and other loans. Bank deposits
of approximately US$5,413,000 (2021: US$2,149,000) and
other loans of approximately US$14,049,000 (2021: USSNIil)
bear interest at fixed interest rates and therefore are subject
to fair value interest rate risk. Bank deposits of
approximately US$15,060,000 (2021: US$1,444,000), bank
loans and other loans of approximately of US$41,571,000
(2021: US$23,636,000) bear interest at variable rates varied
with the then prevailing market condition.

The Group has been using interest rate swaps in order to
mitigate its exposure associated with fluctuations relating
to interest cash flows.

At 31 December 2022, if interest rates had been 100 basis
points lower/higher with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
approximately US$643,000 (2021: US$707,000) higher/
lower, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest
expense.
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 (e)

(f)

December 2022

6. THERERE®)

R2022F12A31H 2 &/
TEER

Financial assets:
Financial assets mandatorily
measured at FVTPL
— derivative financial instruments
Financial assets measured
at amortised cost

ERMEE

SRR N A S E
MEREE
—TEERIA

HEHRKATENTREE

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at FVTPL

— derivative financial instruments
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Lease liabilities

SHAME:
AT EE AR
SREE—TELRTA
MR A B SR A E

2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4
US$'000 US$'000
BT FE
58 -
40,659 6,971
- 160
64,430 47,325
14,985 31,453

Fair values

(f)

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair values.
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7.

218

& B %5 8RR M aE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The following
disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy
that categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.
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7.

(a)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. DFVEFEE)
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 (a) M2022F12A31HZ22¥
December 2022: BEELHKE

Fair value measurements using: At 31
ERATIERN A FETE : December
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
#2022 F
it E-& EZR $£=#% 12A31H
US$’000 US$'000 US$’000 US$’000
TEx TEx FEn FTEn

Recurring fair value REMATENE:

measurement:
Financial assets CREE

Interest rate swap contracts | RiEHA 4 - 58 - 58
Fair value measurements using: At 31
FATIERN AT ETE December
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021
P 2021 6
faat EF—R F_H F=#H 12A31H
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 USS$'000
FET FET FTExT FTEr

Recurring fair value REMAFENE:

measurement:
Financial liabilities cRBE

Interest rate swap contracts | RiEHA 4 - 160 = 160
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AVETFE®E
(b) Disclosure of valuation process used by the (b) X&EBKN2022F12A831H
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used B EERFURAFEE
in fair value measurements at 31 December STEFFRAEESEREBA
2022: HERE
Level 2 fair value measurements E_HNFEETE

Assets/(liabilities)

Valuation BE (A8
Description technique Inputs 2022 2021
it fRER % WABE 2022 F 2021 4
Uss$’000 US$'000
FER FxE7
Derivatives
PTHETA
— Interest rate swap Discounted cash flows Interest rate 58 (160)
contracts Discount rate
— MEEHE L FRIMEME M I =&
During the two years, there were no changes in the KWMEEE - FTRAEEHFEL
valuation techniques used. HAEAE) o
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8. REVENUE 8. WA
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by FE NIRRT M AR 25 /Y
services and the timing of revenue recognition for the year are as KEREPALHHUEALT -
follows:
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
USs$’000 USS$'000
FERx FET
Revenue from contracts with EBMBRMEEAE 155
customers within the scope BEEARBEFESHNHKA
of HKFRS 15
— Voyage charter and contract of —REBHELBESY  DEBRER
affreightment, recognised over time 30,808 26,986
Revenue from other sources K EHMRFRHWKA
— Time charter — HATH 33,316 25,345
64,124 52,331
9. OTHERINCOME 9. Hiblhz:
2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 4F
USs$’000 USS$'000
FEx FET
Bank interest income RITH B W ER 189 3
Compensation income EE = 271 1,162
Fair value gains on derivative financial MTEESRMITAAFERRFE
instruments, net 218 118
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BE & REWE
plant and equipment 5,472 3
Government grants (Note) BT # B (M) 4 10
Gain on early termination of lease RELKIEHEERZ 8 _
Sundry income HMIE U S 34 3
6,196 1,299

Note: During the year, the Group recognised government grants in respect of
COVID-19 related subsidies provided by the governments of Singapore
and Hong Kong (2021: from government of Singapore).

Mzt - F A AE BRI MERE BB
(2021 : FIME K FT) BEH
COVID-19 tH A AL 2 BUN F B) ©
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 7 &B&E ¥

222

The Group has three operating segments as follows:

Asphalt tanker chartering  —
services

Provision of asphalt tanker
chartering services

Bulk carrier chartering —  Provision of bulk carrier

services chartering services

Asphalt trading —  Trading of asphalt

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units that
offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different technology
and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as those described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements. Segment profits or losses do not include unallocated
interest revenue, unallocated interest expense, unallocated
corporate income and unallocated corporate expenses. Segment
assets do not include certain other receivables, deposits and
prepayments and certain bank and cash balances. Segment
liabilities do not include certain lease liabilities and certain other
payables and accruals. Segment non-current assets do not
include certain property, plant and equipment.
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 2 EPER (&)
Information about operating segment profit or loss, FRKEs RN EE EE
assets and liabilities: REBENEHR :
Asphalt
tanker Bulk carrier
chartering chartering Asphalt
services services trading Total
b= A& M
HHR®E  EMERE  ES5ES st

US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000
TER TER TER TER

Year ended 31 December 2022: EZ2022%F12 831 H

LFE:

Revenue from external customers 2R B 9MEBE P RIUA 53,536 10,588 - 64,124
Segment profit 7 Bh s A 6,897 8,144 - 15,041
Interest expense FERZ 3,859 1,487 - 5,346
Depreciation e 8,465 2,076 - 10,541
Income tax expense FTiSfi X 1 = = 1
Other material item of income and EfhE AU TER :

expense;

Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BEX

plant and equipment BLE - 5,472 - 5,472

Additions to segment REDBIERBEE

non-current assets 2,243 1,337 - 3,580
As at 31 December 2022; R2022F12H3108 :
Segment assets DHEE 177,996 15,622 = 193,618
Segment liabilities DEHEE 64,860 14,049 - 78,909
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. D EBEHR (8)
Information about operating segment profit or loss, ERAREHEFNABE -BE
assets and liabilities: (Continued) FEEMNER  (8)
Asphalt
tanker  Bulk carrier
chartering chartering Asphalt
services services trading Total
Viig=gia} BEM
M RS MR BEE st

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$000
TET TET TET T=T

Yearended 31 December 2021: & ZE 202112 8318

HEFE -

Revenue from external customers 2% B 4pEE % F By U A 41,851 10,480 - 52,331
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF,(E8) 781 4,019 ® 4,792
Interest expense MEMX 2,966 576 - 3,542
Depreciation E 8316 1,791 - 10,107
Income tax expense FTEBFAX 4 - 6 10
Additions to segment REDBIERBEE

non-current assets 1,488 1,183 - 2,671
As at 31 December 2021: 2021124318 -
Segment assets DEEE 167,672 31,440 6 199,118
Segment liabilities NHEE 64,507 13,427 - 77,934
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Reconciliations of segment profit or loss:

7 EE R ()
7 8P a N 2 IR AR

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
US$’000 USsS$'000
FEx F=ET
Revenue WA
Total revenue of reportable segments ATERDEBRABRE 64,124 52,331
Profit or loss %*UERE? B
Total profit or loss of reportable segments 78 F 2 i 75 5 4 K1) sk B 18 42 58 15,041 4,792
Unallocated interest revenue R @E*'J A 71 1
Unallocated interest expense PN @Eﬂ SNEba (96) (54)
Unallocated corporate income E NS 10 4
Unallocated corporate expenses N NG5 (4,095) (3,022)
Consolidated profit for the year EF;_,%&\ &5 A 10,931 1,721
Reconciliations of segment assets and liabilities: PTHEEREBYHE
2022 2021
2022 2021 6
US$’000 USS$'000
FEx FET
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments BYERDBEERE 193,618 199,118
Unallocated amounts: AOBLFIAE -

Other corporate assets Hi A m&E 19,033 1,381
Consolidated total assets IREEERE 212,651 200,499
Liabilities =t
Total liabilities of reportable segments ATEHMHEBAEERE 78,909 77934
Unallocated amounts: ROBEFIA :

Other corporate liabilities HMARIAE 1,864 1,535
Consolidated total liabilities IREBERE 80,773 79,469
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10.
Geographical information:
Revenue
The Group's business is managed on a worldwide basis. The
revenue generated from provision of asphalt tanker chartering
services and provision of bulk carrier chartering services which
are carried out internationally, and the way in which costs are
allocated, preclude a meaningful presentation of geographical
information.

Non-current assets
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, over 99% of the Group’s non-
current assets are vessels.

The vessels are primarily utilised across geographical markets for
shipment of liquid asphalt and dry bulk cargo throughout the
world. Accordingly, it is impractical to present the locations of the
vessels by geographical areas and thus no segment analysis is

7 EEF (5

wEER :

A

AEBNEBEME2IK - RHES
e L o AR 75 B 4 A AR e 7E i BR 75
(E2BREBEARMER) EENRA R
DERANTASTH2IEE R

IRBEE
R2022F K2021F12A31H A&
B 5 99%MIEREIEEAMM

MMEZRREERSHWET S
BEERBIES RIFR A EM -
It R IR (S 15 2 5 M AR B I A
B M EZ5 D EHON

presented.
Revenue from major customers: REFEEFHWBA :
2022 2021
2022 2021 4
USss$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
Provision of asphalt tanker RAME S M8 M PR
chartering services
Customer A ZEA 11,099 12,108
Customer B =FB 16,884 10,348
Customer C (Note (a)) BFEC(M3E@) 6,958 N/A 738 A
Provision of bulk carrier R E M8 M PR S
chartering services
Customer D (Note (b)) %5 D (MtEE (b)) N/ATER 5,346
Notes: BsE
@  Revenue from Customer C represented less than 10% of the Group's @ REEPCHUW AL A% EE ZE 2021

revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021.

(b) Revenue from Customer D represented less than 10% of the Group's
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

11. FINANCE COSTS 1. BEKE
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Interest expense on lease liabilities MEaEZN B (H5E19)

(Note 19) 1,579 1,668
Interest rate swap expenses F=E HARA 2 57 281
Interests on borrowings BRI B 3,806 1,647

5,442 3,596
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FRIEBHAX

Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as follows: REBRANERHMEHAT
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
USs$’000 US$'000
FEx FET

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax ENEATIE — BAENEMR

Underprovision in prior year TFEERBETR S 6
Current tax — Singapore Corporate BNEATIE — FrhNIE I FTIS AR

Income Tax

Underprovision in prior year TFEERETR 1 4
Income tax expense PSR 2 1 10

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") and Singapore.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since the
subsidiaries’ income are derived from overseas sources which are
not liable to Hong Kong Profits Tax or the subsidiaries have no
assessable profit for the year (2021: Nil).

Singapore Corporate Income Tax has been provided at a rate of
17% (2021: 17%) except that the income of the subsidiaries in
Singapore derived from vessel owning and chartering is
exempted from Singapore Corporate Income Tax.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax was made since the
subsidiaries in the PRC have no assessable profit for the year
(2021: Nil).

AEBIEERE PEARKAM
B (THR B ) R 3T s 48 2 36 75 o

B B 2 R W AUIR B 78 SN SRR
MEAGREBNER  KHBL
AR I A B ER Bt ) (2021 4 -
&) WAEARBANEHR -

AN ETE R IR 17% /) B K5
12 (2021 4F  17% ) - HE PR 37 A0 3% Bt
BRARKREHEAMMEMMEERE
BRI AIERR RFT IR S HEFTISRL o
B A R B B BB R B R I 4B i R

REIR TSN o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 12.
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
product of profit before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits
Tax rate is as follows:

FrE R < (40)
P15 5 78 S SRR BE A s M SR DA BB
NEBRREXMEERNERNOT

2022 2021

2022 2021 4F

US$'000 US$'000

FEx FET

Profit before tax ey =Tl 10,932 1,731
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 12 &8 MS T &K 16.5%

(2021: 16.5%) (2021 4F < 16.5%) sH EHTHIE 1,804 286
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BARBW SO ETE (11,613) (8,945)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 7~ A] F175% B Sk #9165 57 28 9,515 8437
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERNIBEBNEE 453 342
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries M B AT TR R L (159) (120)
Underprovision in prior year FTFERETR 1 10
Income tax expense ST X 1 10

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately US$4,609,000 (2021: US$4,867,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax assets have been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams
from those loss making subsidiaries. The aforesaid unused tax
losses of the Group have not yet been agreed by respective tax
authorities. The expiry dates of unrecognised tax losses are
summarised as follows:

PR2022%F 128318 REBHXRE
FA % 78 /&5 18 49 4,609,000 3£ 7T ( 2021
F 1 4867,000%70) AT AR EE R
FHEF - AR ZFHREBE B E
N A B R K m A S B FER - Bk
BEREEMBEE - FllAEH
KRB A IE B 18 18] R S HE A T S
BARE - RERHIBBENEHA
o

228

On 31 December 2022
On 31 December 2023
On 31 December 2024
On 31 December 2025
On 31 December 2026
On 31 December 2027

202212 8318
MR2023F 12 A318
R2024F 12 A31H
202512 A31H
R2026F 12 4318
R2027F 12 A318

2022 2021
2022 F 2021
US$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
= 46

799 842

971 1,071
1,225 1,539
1,017 1,369
597 -
4,609 4,867
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e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 13. FE&RA
The Group's profit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) KEBFERZGZF LN (GEA)
the following: T3 &BEEZT
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
Us$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
Auditors’ remuneration % BH B 357 T 132 126
Depreciation of property, Y - BB NMRETE
plant and equipment 7,407 6,426
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 3,424 3,867
Fair value gains on derivative TEem T AR T ERRFE
financial instruments, net (218) (118)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BE KRBT
plant and equipment (5,742) 3)
14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 14. EERAAX
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
Uss$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
Employee benefits expense: EERNFAX
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e - fEAL ROERL 1,716 1,228
Retirement benefit scheme R FIFT B K
contributions 130 105
1,846 1,333

EREEEEERAT / 20202FFH 229



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Continued)

230

(a)

Pensions — defined contribution plans

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
plans which are available for eligible employees in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the Group has joined defined contribution retirement
schemes for the employees arranged by local government
labour and security authorities (the “PRC Retirement
Schemes”). The Group makes contributions to the PRC
Retirement Schemes at the applicable rates based on the
amounts stipulated by the local government organisations.
Upon retirement, the local government labour and security
authorities are responsible for the payment of the
retirement benefits to the retired employees. Contributions
made to the Central Pension Scheme vest immediately.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong
Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws
of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and the employees
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to
the MPF Scheme vest immediately.

Under the central retirement benefit scheme to which the
Group’s subsidiaries operating overseas are required to
make contribution, no forfeited contributions will be used
by the employers to reduce the existing level of
contributions.
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AEERTBERBBEERRE
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8  AEEREE BT
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O BR R ET Bl R o AR
% BEMBRNSBHLRERA
B AR E B STARIKAEF) o
A AR SRR IR 5 8 H RO SR
THENRSER BB -

REBREEF B EFIFE48E
SR HERTEESFTEMEGIE e —
Hog b ATEEE ([RES
B BWRAEBBEHFEST
ERBEAIEEHEE T 2R
B g Eertal i —HERE M
FORRETE - BB U ETAR
EEE -RERESE &
FREEERBELKEERH
W A B 5% [A) 58 & € 71 &) 1F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Continued)

(@) Pensions — defined contribution plans (Continued)
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under the PRC
Retirement Scheme and MPF Scheme and which may be
used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions. There were also no forfeited contributions
available at 31 December 2021 and 2022 under the PRC
Retirement Scheme and MPF Scheme which may be used
by the Group to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included four (2021: three) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in Note 15. The emoluments of
the remaining one (2021: two) individual(s) are set out

below:

(a)

(b)

14. EEEBABAX (®)

Bhe — EBEMEREFTE E)
B E 20219 &%2022% 12 A 31
HIEFE  AREERFBERNK
FrEI MR ST &I TR
RUIH MR Mz FH 2w
HARAUBAEEARNRLIRE
HEFOK T o 72021 F F 2022 F
12A31H @ ARRIKETEI &o&
BerrEIIE TR A #
KOBAAEBEARB D RRE
[ERERTEIHER -

TEEESHFMAL
FRAAEERERSFHMHAL
FEENEZ (Q021F: =%)&
EHEFGMAM IS RE - H
B—HB (2021 F : WH) ALH
FEE T

2022 2021

2022 F 2021

Us$’000 USS$'000

FEx FET

Salaries and allowances Fre ML 96 202
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 59 47
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R /K& K1 5T 2= = 4 10
159 259

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

BRAFMI R TIIEE

Number of individuals

AE
2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z 2 1,000,000 7T - 1
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 /& 70 & 1,500,000 T 1 1
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15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 15. ESEMNRES
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EZHM
The emoluments of each director are set out below: REZNHFIES 0T

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

PEEXAAFHNE L DESRERBME N AEUHH

Retirement

benefit

Salariesand  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonuses  contributions Total

RIER
e  HEREH BiETA HE U2 Azt
Us$'000 USs$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
TER FER FER TEn TER

Year ended BZ2025
31 December 2022 12A318LEE

Mr. Chen Ming BRet A 89 - 58 - 147
Mr.Chen Jiagan (Notea)  BRR &% £ (Hizta) 149 - 93 4 246
Mr. Xu Wenjun wxagsE 161 - 103 - 264
Mr. Ding Yuzhao TES%AE 30 - 9 - 39
Mr. Lin Shifeng Mt 4 108 - 69 5 182
Mr. Suen Chi Wai BREERE 31 - 7 - 38
Mr. Wei Shusong RENRESE 31 - 7 - 38
Mr. Xu Jie RERE 31 - 7 - 38

630 - 353 9 992
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 15. EEEARER (B)
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEHM (B

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

SUEEARD RS EM B L A E FRARA M 5 UM

Retirement
benefit
Salariesand  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonuses  contributions Total
SRR
e Fekal BRI st B et
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TEL FEL TEL TEL TEL
Year ended BZ21 %
31 December 2021 12A31ALEE
Mr. Chen Ming R4 7 - 19 g 91
Mr.Wang Faging (Note b) - £7£)8 %5 4 (FizEb) 187 - 16 = 203
Mr. Xu Wenjun wxa%sE 168 - 49 - 27
Mr. Ding Yuzhao TEH%AE 31 - 2 - 33
Mr. Lin Shifeng Mtk 4 78 - 19 4 101
Mr. Lai Guanrong (Note b)  #BERZR %4 (W5t b) 3] . = = 3]
Mr. Suen Chi Wai REREE 34 - - - 34
Mr. Wei Shusong RENLE 1 - - s 1
Mr. Xu Jie R 34 - - - 34
636 - 105 4 745
Notes: B 5T -
(@  Appointed on 11 March 2022 (@) M2002F3A11BEZE
(b)  Resigned on 20 December 2021 (b)  FA20214F 12 A20 A& E
There were no arrangements under which a director waived FRBHEEFHENFBNE
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year, and ERF M= B - Rt EES
there was no director received any emolument from the B 7R 5% [ WO A 4] B <2 1 7= A
Group as an inducement to join the Group (2021: Nil). AR SR E2 R (2021 4F « ) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)
(b) Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors of the Company received any
termination benefits during the year ended 31 December

2022 (2021: Nil).

(c) Consideration provided to receivable by third
parties for making available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
did not pay considerations to any third parties for making

available directors’ services (2021: Nil).

(d) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

Saved as disclosed in Notes 28 and 36, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities with directors

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no
loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into by the
Company or subsidiary undertakings of the Company,
where applicable, in favour of any directors, their controlled
bodies corporate and the directors’ connected entitles

(2021: Nil).

16. DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend

(2021: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE 17. BREF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the BREARBHOGFAEERNUATEIE
following:
2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 4F
US$’000 US$'000
FTER FET
Earnings &%
Profit for the year attributable to owners ~ ZNA BB A FE(RFEZHF
of the Company 10,931 1,721
‘000 ‘000
FI TR
Number of shares B8 E
Weighted average number of TR N T 8
ordinary shares 440,000 440,000
No diluted earnings per share was presented for the year ended BRI EBIE R RS - Bt
31 December 2022 (2021: Nil) as there was no potential ordinary W25 EHE2022F 12831 IEE
share outstanding. EHEREERF (2021F : ) o
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ - BERRE
Office
Vessels and equipment and Leasehold
dry-docking motor vehicle improvement Total
MARE
M R B3R RARE HEEWMERE Bt
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TEr FEn TEr FEr
Cost B
At 1 January 2021 #0211 18 108,545 135 - 108,680
Additions NE 2,671 92 - 2,763
Disposal HE - (71) - (71)
Transfer from right-of-use assets 8% B i & & 26,786 - - 26,786
Write-off Paskic| (797) - - (797)
Exchange differences bE i Z R - 2 - 2
At 31 December 2021 and K221 ANAR

1 January 2022 202%1818 137,205 158 - 137,363
Additions NE 3,580 62 162 3,804
Disposal HE (18,415) - - (18,415)
Transfer from right-of-use assets 8% B & i &&= 47,778 - - 47,778
Exchange differences bE 5 =5 - (12) (9) (21)
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A31H 170,148 208 153 170,509
Accumulated depreciation Rt E
At 1 January 2021 R202151 18 13,230 67 - 13,297
Charge for the year FERkK 6,389 37 - 6,426
Disposal HE - (36) - (36)
Transfer from right-of-use assets % B {F RS E 5017 - - 5017
Write-off ik (797) - - (797)
Fxchange differences bE X = HE - 1 - 1
At 31 December 2021 and R2021F12A31B %

1 January 2022 202F1A1H 23,839 69 - 23,908
Charge for the year FERkR 7,355 30 22 7,407
Disposal HE (3,354) - - (3,354)
Transfer from right-of-use assets % B {F & & 19,842 - - 19,842
Fxchange differences BE 5 =58 - 3) (1) (4)
At 31 December 2022 20212 A31H 47,682 96 21 47,799
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2022 R202%F12A31H 122,466 112 132 122,710
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12A31H 113,366 89 - 113455
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18.

19.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of vessels pledged
as securities for the Group’s bank loans and other loans
amounted to approximately US$29,331,000 (2021: US$61,023,000)
and approximately US$89,673,000 (2021: US$51,911,000)
respectively (Note 28).

18. ¥ - MERRE ®)

20228128318 BifEANE
ERITTER R EMEREROMM
BREIE S Bll A4 29,331,000 3 7T (2021
% 1 61,023,000 7T) K #789,673,000
FE 7t (20214 : 51,911,000 75) (K
5T28) ©

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EAEEE
Leased
Vessels properties Total
g HEWE mat
Us$'000 Us$'000 USs$'000
FEr FET FTE7
At 1 January 2021 20211 A1 H 103,070 136 103,206
Additions NE - 301 301
Depreciation e (3,718) (149) (3,867)
Transfer to property, BEME - BEREE
plant and equipment (21,769) - (21,769)
Exchange differences b 4, =58 - 1 !
At 31 December 2021 2021 F 12 431 H 77,583 289 77,872
Additions NE - 993 993
Depreciation e (3,186) (238) (3,424)
Early extinguishment BRI 1L - (230) (230)
Transfer to property, BEYE - REREE
plant and equipment (27,936) - (27,936)
Exchange differences b H Z5E - (57) (57)
At 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 46,461 757 47,218

Lease liabilities of approximately US$14,985,000 (2021:
US$31,453,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets of
approximately US$47,218,000 (2021: US$77,872,000) as at 31
December 2022. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor (Note 29). Except for leased vessels
with carrying amount of approximately US$46,461,000 (2021:
US$77,583,000), there is no other leased asset that was used as
security for borrowing purposes.

R2022F12A831H  HREEEE
#914,985,0003%& jT (2021 F :
31,453,000%7T)  HHEAFE AEEE
#947,218,0003& j& (2021 & :
77,872000%70) cBREEAFE R
HEEEERER (M3E2) 5 - M
EWE Y EmMNTMEE - BRET
18 4946,461,000 & 7T (2021 4 :
77,583,0003 7T) K E M AR AN - I
mAMBESEREEFER -
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19.

238

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 19. EREEE (&)
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
US$’000 US$'000
FER FET
Depreciation expenses on ERAEEENTEEAR
right-of-use assets 3,424 3,867
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEERNFERAX
(included in finance costs) (Gt ARERKA) 1,579 1,668
Expenses relating to short-term leases HEHEERENRAX
(included in administrative expenses) GTATTHAX) 25 37
Details of total cash outflow for leases are set out in Note 33(c). MERSRH BB FIH NN
33() °
For both years, the Group leases certain vessels and offices for its AREAFE ~AEBAHRELEA
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed terms EETHMERAT VN E
ranging from 1 to 5 years (2021: 1 to 5 years). Lease terms are SHETER A1ZE5F (20214 1
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of EoE) o FlE KR TYIRE Bl ELERE
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and HBEESEBEITEMIER IR -
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group PAEE TE AR EA N NPT R es HAPR B
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for REFBERASYNTELEBETEYL
which the contract is enforceable. A] o8 Hl 7T AY HAPR o
No lease of the Group includes an option to renew the lease for RNEENBEERTBESRAEYNE R
an additional period after the end of the contract term. BB X YR IEHE o

XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

20. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 20. fTHEE€®MIA
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
US$’000 US$'000
FER FET
Financial assets tREE
Fair value of interest rate swap contracts ~ #| &5 & 49N F(E 58 -
Financial liabilities THEE
Fair value of interest rate swap contracts ~ #| &g Hi & 49N F(E - 160
The Group entered into certain foreign currency forward FR - ANEFBEEITEI LS FINE
contracts and interest rate swap contracts with banks to manage REAA A NN EREEH AL AESEEH
its exchange rate and interest rate exposure during the year. PE & N FI| K & B o
The foreign currency forward contracts are measured at FVTPL. SNERERS AR EEE ABZEE
The fair value has been estimated using discounted cash flows E-NFEENEAENZHERE
that are based on forward exchange rates and contract forward SAREIEXRNITIRIR SR EbET -
rates. At 31 December 2022, there was no outstanding foreign R2022F 128318 AR T4
currency forward contract (2021: Nil). ZBEIINES K (2021 F - f|) o
The interest rate swap contracts are measured at FVTPL. The fair FERES R AT E AEBEET
value has been estimated using discounted cash flows that are S - NTFENDNFERAENFEREITR
based on interest rates and discount rates. KRB e mEhEt -
21. INVENTORIES 21. &
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
US$’000 US$'000
TER FET
Bunker and lubricant oil for vessels AR AR KRB 1,777 2,165
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. EZEWFEIE

23.

240

For time charter, the Group generally receives monthly
prepayments from customers. For voyage charter, the Group
generally receives full payments within five business days after
completion of cargo loading. For contract of affreightment, the
Group generally receives full payments within three business
days after completion of cargo discharging. For demurrage
claims, the balances are normally paid within 30 days after the
finalisation. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the
directors.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

AHEmNS  AEE-—KREZARNE
FPYETENZ -piglEmE » A&
E-ReaRETKEAMEEXA
MU 2 EF0E - LEEARNIME
AEB-—RREXREHER =E=X
BRKEBREEHE - ERNFHPER
B ARER - MRNEERIAA
Xft - BEREFPHERSEERRE
AR B BARE B R EERIR -
ESTEHmABRER -

REZHHZ2IINE 5 RKFIAR
BoMT

2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4F

US$'000 US$'000

e FE

0 to 30 days 0&30H 600 1,299

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are
denominated in USS.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS

REEE 5 UG IR AR E B DA
JLETE °

HMBWRIE - BERANR
H

2022 2021

2022 FF 2021 4F

Uss$’000 US$'000

FEx FET

Other receivables H fth fE YLK IE 60 149
Deposits and prepayments e RIEN IR 510 314
570 463
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24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK AND CASH
BALANCES

(a

The Group's pledged bank deposits included deposits
pledged to a bank to secure bank loans granted to the
Group (Note 28). The deposits were denominated in US$
and bore fixed interest rate of 3.65% (2021: 0.15%) per
annum, and therefore were subject to fair value interest rate
risk.

At 31 December 2022, bank balances of approximately
US$4,098,000 (2021: USS1,529,000) were restricted from
being used and charged over the Group'’s bank and other
loans (Note 28).

At 31 December 2022, bank balances of approximately
US$1,659,000 (2021: US$578,000) were restricted from
being used and charged over the Group's lease liabilities
(Note 29).

At 31 December 2022, the bank and cash balances of the
Group denominated in RMB and kept in the PRC amounted
to approximately US$8,087,000 (2021: US$65,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.

24 CEARTERURRITR
REHER

(@)

BREEEBARAF / 202FFHR

AEEMERBRTERERE
KB TRITERR FAEER
TEREROFR (MiE28) °
ZEFRAETLE  KEE
FEFF 365%(20214F : 0.15%)
HE B EEAFERNER

LA
a

o o
A

R2022F12A31H8 &
4,098,000 JT (2021 4F :
1,529,000 7T) WU IRTT A 4 = [R
SR REAASRBRITRE
HEFEH (HI5E28) o

R2022F 128318 &
1,659,000 3 7T (2021 4F : 578,000
X)) MIRTTE BRI R GIE A
MMEAAEEEEGEND I
(MF7E29)

R2022F 128318 ' KEBE A
ARG ELFERF B IR
17 R IR & 48R 40 58,087,000k
JC (20214 : 650003 7C) ° A
R¥ i BINEAEZ R BRI (IN
EEREO) R(ERE EER
NEERHE)HR °

241



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. R
Number of
shares Amount
RoEE &5
USsS$'000
F=
Authorised: ETE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, 7202151818 »
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 2021412 A31H -
(USS0.01 each) 202F 1 A1ER
202212 A31 H
(8 0013%7T) 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR :
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021,  R2021%F1 A1 H -
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 2021512 A31 8 -
(US$0.01 each) 2022F 1 A1BR
2022 12 A 31 H
(8R%001%7T) 440,000,000 4,400

242

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maximise the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that, for the
Group to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange, it has to have
a public float of at least 25% of the shares. Based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required by the Listing Rules. As at 31
December 2022, over 25% (2021: over 25%) of the shares were in
public hands.
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26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 26. AN FHMBRRARRFHHEE

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 3
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) A=A TEBARRAEK
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
Note US$’000 USS'000
B EE FEx FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B A RHIRE 37 55,603 55,603
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits Hib U8 e &
and prepayments TR RRIR M 22
Due from subsidiaries A EENGIE ] 37 17,346 18,785
Bank and cash balances WITRBEES 22 63
Total current assets REBEEAE 17,409 18,870
TOTAL ASSETS EEHE 73,012 74,473
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEhEasE
Share capital P& AN 4,400 4,400
Reserves HE 26(b) 68,046 69,724
Total equity A 72,446 74,124
LIABILITIES =L
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables and accruals HiEIBEREREA 492 234
Due to subsidiaries X NGRS 37 74 115
Total current liabilities RBEEHE 566 349
TOTALEQUITY AND LIABILITIES ## R B E& % 73,012 74,473

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2023 and
is signed on its behalf by:

MR203FE3IF B EEETSH -
WHTIINATRRESE

Xu Wenjun Chen Ming
38 PR 8%
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26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 26. XD E M BRRRE FEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY B (%)
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) XTI EEEE

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
R0 % E ZEtEER et
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FET FET FE
At 1 January 2021 K221 1 A1 H 74,892 (4,017) 70,875
Loss for the year FEEE - (1,151) (1,151)
At 31 December2021and 2021 F12 A31H X
1 January 2022 202F 1 H1H 74,892 (5,168) 69,724
Loss for the year FEEE - (1,678) (1,678)
At 31 December 2022 7202212 A31H 74,892 (6,846) 68,046
27. RESERVES 27. f#E
(a) Group (a) A&EE
The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements AREEOEESBELEEEHE
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of IR GEEERREMETE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and Was kA RFEEmEEHE -
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (b) REEHNHEEREN
(i) Share premium i) RHRE
Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, the BEHSHELQATE ®
funds in the share premium account of the Company ARalRhaERNES
are distributable to the shareholders of the Company IR FARDARRE
provided that immediately following the date on AR ABEEZED RKE
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the 2 BEARAEIHENEE
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as HASEBPOEEER

they fall in the ordinary course of business.
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27. RESERVES (Continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserve (Continued)
(ii) Capital reserve
The capital reserve represents wavier of amount due
to the controlling shareholders. As the waived amount
is in substance equivalent to a capital contribution to
the Group, hence, it has been accounted for as capital
reserve.

(iii) Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the cost of investment in Xin
Yuan Ocean Shipping (HK) Group Limited (“Xin Yuan
Ocean’) over the nominal value of shares of Xin Yuan
Ocean acquired pursuant to a reorganisation for the
purpose of an initial public offering of the Company
which was completed on 19 December 2017.

(iv) Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange difference arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance

27. #EH)
(b) REEHNHEERBEHN(E)

(i) EXRfHE
B R A AR B R
FIBER - AR ER R K
BEYE FTHERAAEE
WEE - A ARIESR
AfEE

(iii) EOtFEE

AEBREHHEEANE
R TER (B8 KBAE
RAR([ERERE] W&
BERAHBERARAGE
IRARBEMEITER (B
2017512 A198 HK)
Fri BB IR FRMHEE
ZFE?E’U%%E\ °

(iv) SheE iR
SNEE BRI B RIRE S
SMNETS B TSR] T EE AR P
BINEZR - EETIRE
AR B B 75 ¥R 3R Y RE 4(0) i)

with the accounting policy set out in Note 4(b)(iii) to R st BRERE -
the consolidated financial statements.
28. BORROWINGS 28. B
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
USs$’000 USS$'000
FEx FEx
Bank loans, secured IR{TE - HiKE 4,618 16,742
Other loans, secured EmER - HiKE 55,620 23,636
Loan from a related company, B —FHEE A R 2 IR
unsecured (Note) B (M) = 300
60,238 40,678

Note: Mr. Xu Wenjun, the director of the Company, had beneficial interests in the
related company.

The aforesaid related company agreed to provide unsecured and interest
bearing loan to the Group up to US$4,000,000 and be repayable by 30
December 2023. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has not utilised the
loan from the related company.

HEE AR R ERR G LR KEBA A
A E S -

At BB N R R B (A A & E R 4 IR
5t B B 3 & % 4,000,000 7 AR
2023 12 A30 8 Z AT{EE R 20224
128318 ANEBIES) A KA B
NEIZEK »
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28.

246

BORROWINGS (Continued)

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
US$’000 US$'000
FEx F=ET
Within one year —F AR 13,080 17,058
More than one year, but not exceeding —FE LA BT BBMRE
two years 10,309 8,959
More than two years, but not more than ~ WA B ERE G
five years 31,730 14,335
More than five years AELE 5,119 326
60,238 40,678
Less: Amount due for settlement B R 1R2E AR EEE S
within 12 months (shown (B BREEE)
under current liabilities) (13,080) (17,058)
Amount due for settlement after RREABEBEESE
12 months 47,158 23,620

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are

AEBERNEREEATIERS

denominated in the following currencies: 5 :
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
US$’000 US$'000
TER T=T
Us$ e 55,620 32,336
SGD AT 4,618 8,342
60,238 40,678
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28. BORROWINGS (Continued) 28.

The effective interest rates as at 31 December were as follows:

f& =K (80

K12 A3 HEBRRRNMT :

2022 2021
2022 & 2021

Bank loans IRITER
Other loans HmER
Loan from a related company RE—MBEB AR 2ER

Bank loans of approximately US$4,618,000 (2021: US$16,742,000),
other loans of approximately US$41,571,000 (2021:
US$23,636,000) and loan from a related company of
approximately USSNil (2021: US$300,000) are arranged at floating
rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Bank loans were obtained for the sole purpose of the
construction of the vessels. At 31 December 2022, the bank loans
were secured by the following:

() Mortgage over the Group's vessels (Note 18);

(i) Corporate guarantee provided by the Company; and

(i)  Pledged bank deposits (Note 24(a)) and restricted bank
balances (Note 24(b)).

Other loans were obtained for the additional working capital of
the Group. At 31 December 2022, the other loans were secured
by the following:

() Mortgage over the Group's vessels (Note 18);

(i) Corporate guarantee provided by the Company;

(i) Restricted bank balances (Note 24(b)); and

(iv)  Shares of certain subsidiaries.

2.90%-6.68%  2.88%-2.95%
7.07%-8.95%  3.90%-3.91%
N/a B 411%

$R1TE B #94,6180003 7T (2021 4F :
16,742,000% L) - Eh E R L
41,571,000 7T (2021 £ : 23,636,000
En)RRE—HBBEARZER
A= 3£ 7T (2021 4F : 300,000 7T) Tb
BEHNELZHE  AEASER
fRIREMEN ERE -

RITER AR EEEMNMMES -
M2022F 128318 SRITERUT
HITE B e -

() ANEEMMAEE (HFE18)
(i) ARAIREMDFER: &

(i) BEEWEITFER (FMI5E240) &
SRR HIER 174585 (B 5 24(b)) ©

EMWEREAASERTEEELES
MmAELTS - B2022F 12 A31H » £
BERATSEE EHE T -

() AEEMMAIRIE(HFE8)
(i) ARAEHEHEHMARIER

(i) PR B ER1T A ER (BT RE 24(0))
&

vy HTHBRENRND -
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29. LEASE LIABILITIES

248

2. HEESE

Minimum lease payments

REHEEMR
2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 4F
Us$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
Within one year —FE PN 15,126 18,342
More than one year, but not exceeding —F LA LB TEBBRE
two years 240 14,615
More than two years, but not more than ~ WA _H{ETHRB R F
five years 512 79
15,878 33,036
Less: Future finance charges B RREEER (893) (1,583)
Present value of lease obligations HEEMTIHREAE 14,985 31,453
Present value of
minimum lease payments
BREHEMNRRAE
2022 2021
2022 2021 4
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FXET
Within one year —FE A 14,340 17,121
More than one year, but not exceeding ~ — LA HBTERIBMR S
two years 185 14,256
More than two years, but not more than ~ WA HETEBBRF
five years 460 76
Present value of lease obligations HEEMTRE 14,985 31,453
Less: Amount due for settlement B R 1R2EARRBEE SR
within 12 months (shown B AEREBEE)
under current liabilities) (14,340) (17,121)
Amount due for settlement after RNREAZIBEES
12 months 645 14,332
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29. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 29. HEBE )
The carrying amounts of the Group's lease liabilities are AEBEHEEGENEREDAENTIE
denominated in the following currencies: KEEHE -
2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 4F
Us$’000 US$'000
FERx FET
Hong Kong dollars BT 62 14
Us$ e 14,149 31,157
RMB AR 774 282
14,985 31,453
At 31 December 2022, the lease liabilities were secured by the R202F12H31H HEBEUT
following: HIIE B B -
(i) Charges over the Group's right-of-use assets (Note 19); () AEEFERAEEEMNTRT
#£19)
(i) Corporate guarantee provided by the Company; (i) ANRBREHRAER
(i) Restricted bank balances (Note 24(b)); and (i) ZPBRHIEITEER (BT 240)) :
K
(iv)  Shares of certain subsidiaries. vy HTHBARKRKRND
30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 30. EHNAE
Contract liabilities 2022 2021
BREE 2022 F 2021 4
USs$’000 US$'000
FEx =T
Billings in advance — voyage charter TESEMARE —EHEK
and CoA BEASY - 257
Contract liabilities relating to the advance payments made by the BHRBBELEEREP R ARREED
customers or billing in advance to the customers (whichever is A8 AR 15 FE 5 FRIE 3k [A) & P 7E ST
earlier) while underlying services are yet to be provided. Such BERE (UREERE) HREPR
liabilities decreased as a result of decrease in advance payments BRRERAEPAAKRERD
made by the customers or billing raised to the customers. EBEBREEMRED -
There were no significant changes in the contract liabilities REHANEHNEBEERRELEER
balances during the reporting period. Bt o
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30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 30. BB W)
Movements in contract liabilities: AEHBEES
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
US$’000 US$'000
FEx F=ET
Balance at 1 January ®1 A1 B 2R 257 532

Decrease in contract liabilities as aresult ~ FRNERFEIT AL N BED

of recognising revenue during the year WA BUEA W B &R D

was included in the contract liabilities

at the beginning of the year (257) (532)
Increase in contract liabilities asaresult 2N BEALTALFHAKE

of billing in advance of voyage charter BEE B EEM

and CoA - 133
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of B PFEMFIBBEFEA N EE

advance payments made by customers 0 - 124
Balance at 31 December 12 A31 B #8% - 257
The amount of billings in advance of performance received that B RTBE—FANERAEWZEZ
is expected to be recognised as income no more than one year is EBARBELHAARESEANTE
approximately USSNil (2021: US$257,000). 7C (2021 4F : 257,000 7T) °
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31. TRADE PAYABLES 31. ESBEIRE
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, REZAHEINE HENKIER
is as follows: BROMTT -
2022 2021
2022 2021
Us$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
0 to 30 days 0% 30H 2,074 4,243
31 to 60 days 312 60H 373 1,455
Over 60 days 60 B A+ 615 200
3,062 5,898
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are NEEZ S EMNFIBEBNE®mENE
denominated in USS. TTEHE ©
32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 32, HinENRIERETEH
2022 2021
2022 2021 4
US$’000 US$'000
FERx FET
Receipts in advance TalFRIE 1,160 87
Other payables and accruals Hib e R IBE R ETE R 1,328 936
2,488 1,023
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

252

33. MEBHERERME

CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@) EXFBERS
Additions to right-of-use assets during the year of F AR A E ERE %) 993,000
approximately US$993,000 (2021: US$301,000) were T (2021 4F : 301,000%7T) )
financed by lease liabilities. MEESERNMN -
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) BMEITBHELEENHE
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRFVNAEEMETEHES
arising from financing activities, including both cash and BENET  BFERE KR
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities cEFH MEITYELENEE
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows RRERECLLIARKEE M
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of EREgRNAEEZERERE
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. KEEAMBIEIEAEBRESR
ENEE-
At Additions Non-cash At
1 January oflease  Cashflows, transactions Exchange 31 December
2022 liabilities net (Note) differences 2022
H20226 M RERE FRERF R2022%
1818 HEERE i (i) EXZE  12A31H
Uss$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Uss$'000
TEn TR TEn TEn TR TEn
Borrowings B3 40,678 - 19,011 574 (25) 60,238
Lease liabilites HEAR 31,453 993 (17,253) (146) (62) 14,985
Total e 72,131 993 1,758 428 (87) 75,223
At Additions At
1 January of lease Cash flows, Non-cash Exchange 31 December
2021 liabilities net  transactions differences 2021
R & i Rene 201
1A1H HEER FE OFRERS ERZE®E  12A31B
US$'000 US$000 US§'000 USS'000 US§'000 USS'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL S TEL
Borrowings &3k 43534 - (2603) - (253) 40678
Lease liabilities HEERE 45,355 301 (14223) 18 2 31453
Total @t 83,889 301 (16,826) 18 (251) 72,131

Note: The non-cash transactions represented non-cash interest and early
extinguishment of leases.
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(c)

33. MEBEERERNT (B

Total cash outflow for leases (¢ HERESRLHEEE
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash HEFAGEBE S RERNS
flows for leases comprise the following: BEIEUT :
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
US$’000 USS'000
FEx FET
Within operating cash flows BRGEHReRE 1,512 1,681
Within financing cash flows BREtERenE 17,253 14,223
18,765 15,904
These amounts relate to the following: ZESFETYIER M
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
US$’000 USS$'000
FEx FET
Lease rental paid ENHERS 18,765 15,904

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant

contingent liabilities (2021: Nil).

34, FREFE
M2022F 128318 » KNEB W EF
AIERKAEE (2021 F : £) -
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35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 35. KEMERH
The Group as lessor rEEEREHBEA
Operating leases relate to future aggregate minimum charter hire &2 FH & AR IE T R] Hal HA AE E Uk
income receivable under non-cancellable time charters. The HMARFERSWABEAER - &
lessee does not have an option to purchase the vessel at the AN EAERLEmEEENAD
expiry of the lease period. EIERE o
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: THEERKNKEEENRNOT -
2022 2021
2022 20214
Uss$’000 US$'000
TER FET
Within year 1 —F LR 12,346 16,111
The following table represents the amounts reputed in profit or TERAFTAEBRZNSEE
loss:
2022 2021
2022 2021 4
Uss$’000 US$'000
TER FET
Lease income on operating leases EHENHEERA 33,316 25,345
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. B AR S

(@) In addition to those related party transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with
its related parties during the year:

(@)

BRi A B IS SRR HL M3 7 B R
BB RS REBRI A
55 B0 P SREL BRI T 4T T
T35 :

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 5
US$’000 USS'000
FEx F=T
Interest paid to related companies B NEIFEN RIS
(Note) (FfH3E) 5 36

Note: Ms. Liu Weipeng and Mr. Yan XianKai (the spouse of Ms. Liu
Weipeng), the directors of some of the Group's subsidiaries, and Mr.
Xu Wenjun, the director of the Company, have beneficial interests
in the related companies.

(b)  The remuneration of directors and other members of key

Mick - AREBEETHEAGEELu
Weipeng Z == & Yan XianKai %t 4
(Liu WeipengZ &= Z B2 18) M &
RRBEFRNARERZS
B AR A EmiER -

EERTEEREHMKER

management during the year was as follows: FEXNHE T
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
US$’000 US$'000
FEnx F=T
Short-term benefits 5 HAtE A 985 795
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R /K+& F1 5T 2= Fx 13 15
998 810
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37. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

256

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022

37. TEME QT

MR202F 128318 TEHBE R A

are as follows: WEFBIT -
Place of Particular of Percentage
incorporation/ issuedand fully  ownership interest/
Principal place  kind of paid-up voting power/
Name of operation legal entity share capital profitsharing  Principal activities
BRAR  FER/RER/
8 IEERNE  ARAIBE/LEME BRBAFE BRARLA  TEXE
Directly held:
EERR:
Virtue Glory Holdings Limited Hong Kong The British Virgin Islands/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Investment holding
Limited liability company of USS1 each
Virtue Glory Holdings Limited A ZBREEE/ 10000 R BREE 00% AR
I EGNG 1 ETHERR
Indirectly held:
BiEEs:
Baustella Shipping (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited Limited liability company chartering
KHENT (FR)ERLHA R BE/EREALA 10000 R B 100%  FERMARNAES
Begstella Shipping (HongKong) Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited Limited liability company chartering
BREMB(ER)BRAR BB B8/ BRELAT 10000 R E AR 100%  BEAKMRMAMEE
China Union Sealand Group Limited  Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Investment holding
Limited liability company
hEEEEEARAA B B/ ERERAAA 10000 &Rk 100%  REER
Jastella Shipping (Hong Kong) Limited - Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited liability company chartering
RAEMTH (FR)ERLA &R BB/ BREALA 10000 R B 100%  FERMARNHES
Lotstella Shipping (HongKong) Limited  Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited liability company chartering
FHEEME (BR)BRAR &R B8/ ARELAT 10000/ E B 100%  FERARRHES
Oasis Oriental Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Inactive
Limited liability company
RAENERAR i &8/ BRELAT 10000 R & AR 0% WEEE
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37. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. TEME AT (&)

Place of Particular of Percentage
incorporation/ issuedand fully  ownership interest/
Principal place  kind of paid-up voting power/
Name of operation legal entity share capital profitsharing  Principal activities
BRAR  FiERE/REE/
£ TEEENY  AMAUNYLEHE BRRAFE BRARLE  TEER
Indirectly held: (Continued)
Bigss « (E)
Phoenix Shipping (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited Limited liability company chartering
BEHH (FE)ARAT ) B8/ BREEAT 10000 R E AR 100% FEESARMHEE
Shun Yuen Group (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Investment holding
Limited Limited liability company
[EREE(BE)BRAA &k &%/ BREALT 10000/ &R 100% AR
Xin De Yuan (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 59,000,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel owning and
Shipping Limited Limited liability company chartering
[E2R(BE) RBERAT ) B8/ BREELT 59000000 B 100% BEEMMRMHEE
Xin Yuan Ocean Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 70,000,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited liability company chartering
{EREF EE B8/ AREELT 70000000 R @R 100% FEAEMARMHEE
Xin Yuan Ship Management Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel management
(Hong Kong) Limited Limited liability company
BREMER(BE)BRAR  &B B/ BREALA 10,000 R &3 100% REERE
781 Blue Whale Shipping Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited liability company chartering
ERNBERAR Bib &b/ BREALH 10000 &A% 100%  EARMRAMEE
Z8L Dolphin Shipping Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited liability company chartering
BESBERAR EE &8/ ARELAT 10000 R E A 100% FEAEMARMHEE
Z8L Flying Fish Shipping Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited liability company chartering
RAHBERAA &k &8/ BRELRT 10000 & Mk 100% HAMMRMHES
Bilxin Shipping Group Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore/ 1,000,000 ordinary shares 100%  Investment holding
Limited liability company of US$1 each
Bilkin Shipping Group Pte. Ltd. HR g/ AREELAT 1,000,000 R BREE 00% REER
1ETHERR

BREEEBARAF / 202FFHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

37. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

37. TEME QT (&)

Place of Particular of Percentage
incorporation/ issuedand fully  ownership interest/
Principal place  kind of paid-up voting power/
Name of operation legal entity share capital profitsharing  Principal activities
BRTR  FER/REE/
£ TEEENY  ARMAUBELEHE BRRARE BRARLE  TEER
Indirectly held: (Continued)
MiEE (R
Poestella Shipping Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore/ 50,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited liability company of US$T each chartering
Poestella Shipping Pte. Ltd. gl g/ BRELAT s0000 R BIREE 100%  FERARRHES
1 ETERR
Rostella Shipping Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore/ 50,000 ordinary shares 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited liability company of US$T each chartering
Rostella Shipping Pte. Ltd. g s/ BEREFRR 50000 R EREE 1000 BEHMRMHNEE
1 ETHERR
Fujian Xinyuanxinlanhai Importand ~ The PRC The PRC/ Registered capital of 100%  Sourcing of mechanical
Export Trade Company Limited Wholly foreign RMB50,000,000 equipment and hardware
(Xinlanhai') (BEERAES owned entity Paid-up capital of product for the Group's
ELOEZBRAT) RVIB47,075,566 vessels and provision of
(2021: RMB37,019,648) administrative services
t0 group companies
BRERVESELNES hE hE/EBELE HMER 100% AREEHHREEHR
BRAA(HEE) ARE 5000000070 BREGERARAEE
BRRA DA TR
AR 47075566 T
(2001 & -
ARE 37019648 TT)
The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which FREVTEZEREFBHEE B

principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities.

The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-

free and repayable on demand.

38.

period.

258

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed above, there are no important events affecting
the Group which have occurred since the end of the reporting
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Definitions

“Agreement”
EAE
“Audit Committee”
ErE 3

“Bareboat Charter Agreement”
[SeAaE &t

“Bareboat Charter Agreement |
Bicrizk=wicEl

“Bareboat Charter Agreement II”
[t E ]

“Bareboat Charter Agreement Il
e & eI

“Bareboat Charter Agreement V"
[ SeAaiE & ey |

“Board”

[EFg]

the memorandum of agreement dated 29 June 2022 entered into
between the Vendor and the Purchaser in respect of the Disposal
BEHHEEFRHEFEMET B HIA2022F6 H29B &

oy

JEA 2K

the audit committee of the Board

FEFEEZZERE

the bareboat charter agreement dated 4 March 2022 entered into
between Charterer (as charterer) and Owner (as owner) in relation to
the bareboat chartering of XYMG Noble

EHEMA (ERMEMA) BEEBEAN (EREEBA) BLXYMG Noble
B ERTR] M B H9A202283 A48 KL E s

the bareboat charter agreement dated 5 May 2022 entered into
between Charterer | (as charterer) and Owner | (as owner) in relation to
the bareboat chartering of Lilstella

EHEMAI ERMEMA) BEFAN (EREAA) mtlistellaft
AR EFTRT M B B 5202265 AsHE TR E e

the bareboat charter agreement dated 10 June 2022 entered into
between Charterer Il (as charterer) and Owner Il (as owner) in relation
to the bareboat chartering of Orcstella

EHRMAN ((ERBEMA) BEBAI (EREAA) Biorcstellady
KM ERTET S A #IA2022F6 A 108 KM E e

the bareboat charter agreement dated 7 July 2022 entered into
between Charterer lll (as charterer) and Owner Ill (as owner) in relation
to the bareboat chartering of San Du Ao

EHEMAN (ERBEMA) BEEAI (EREAA) BH=#EH
KM ERTRT B EA20225 7 A7HE AR E R

the bareboat charter agreement dated 7 July 2022 entered into
between Charterer IV (as charterer) and Owner IV (as owner) in relation
to the bareboat chartering of Zhuang Yuan Ao

EHEMAN (EREMA) BEAAV (EREBAN) SURTR
B AT ERTR] M B B B202267 A7 B TR E i

the board of Directors

RESE
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Definitions

B
"Charterer”
[ Al
“Charterer I"
[ AR AL
"Charterer II"
EishoN
“Charterer III"
A8 A A
"Charterer IV"
[ AR AIV]

“Companies Act”

NGV

“‘Company”

R VNCIN

“Director(s)”

[E%]

Z&L Dolphin Shipping Limited (8B M 75E R AF)), a company
incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

BEBPMBAERAR » —HREEEEEEIMEINRF - /AR
ANEEEE2ENE AR

Z&L Blue Whale Shipping Limited (B2 #3575 G BR 2 7)), a company
incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

BESMBAERAR  —RREEEEEREIMEZORF - BA
NENEEE2ENB AR

Z&L Flying Fish Shipping Limited (FREME B R A 7)), a company
incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

EREMBAERAR » —EREEEEEEIMEIZIORF - /AR
RENEEEZENB AR

Xin Yuan Ocean Shipping (HK) Group Limited ({5 JR:&F &8 (&) 5%
B AR AR, a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
BEREFER (F8) EBARAR - —RREEEEETM
B HVAR] - RAARINEEEZEWEAR]

Xin De Yuan (Hong Kong) Shipping Limited ({128 (&8) M5B R A
7)), a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BERR (BE) MBERIR - —RREEEEETMAA
N RARENHEEZENE QA

the Companies Act (2022 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, as amended,
consolidated or otherwise modified from time to time
EREBEERANE (2022FhR) - BIRER] - e A M
gk

Xin Yuan Enterprises Group Limited ({E/R{EE £ BB R A F]), an
exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability whose Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1748)

BEREEEEBRAR  —REFASHSEMALNER LA
RAAE] - HROMRBAAER M (BROHRSE - 1748)

director(s) of the Company
EARNBIES
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Definitions

Bx

“Disposal”
[HEEE]

“Group”
[AREH |

"HKS"
(&7t

“Hong Kong"
S

“Jastella”
[Jastella ]

“Lilstella”

['Lilstella ]

“Listing Rules”

[ LR8N

“Memorandum of Agreement”

[ et i |

“Memorandum of Agreement "

[ 15 ade s |

“Memorandum of Agreement Il

[ 5% il )

the disposal of XYG Fortune under the Agreement
FEARIE Z W H B XYG Fortune

the Company and its subsidiaries

AN A K E Y8 A

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEBEEEEET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic
of China

EHEARKNERBSITRE

the vessel Jastella with IMO No. 9812121
MM Jastella » IMOARSR9812121

the vessel Lilstella with IMO No. 9794771, being the subject of the Sale
and Leaseback (May 2022) Transactions

EfiffALilstella - IMO#REE 9794771 » BIEREIF (20225F58) &
2128

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

YRR X FTRE 7 LT AR B

the memorandum of agreement dated 4 March 2022 entered into
between Charterer and Owner in relation to the sale and purchase of
XYMG Noble

EFAM A S ABLE BEXYMG NoblefT:] 3 B #1/42022F3 A4H
B 100 5 A T 8%

the memorandum of agreement dated 5 May 2022 entered into
between Charterer I and Owner | in relation to the sale and purchase of
Lilstella

ST AIEREA AIBLE ElilstellafTa] 32 B 88202245 A5 HE
ot

the memorandum of agreement dated 10 June 2022 entered into
between Charterer Il and Owner Il in relation to the sale and purchase
of Orcstella

1EFEM AIELHEA AlIBLE B OrcstellafTz] 32 B #i520224F6 A 10H
B 10 % T 8%
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Definitions

“Memorandum of Agreement [II”
[ Vhad ekl
“Memorandum of Agreement V"

[ 15z s v |

“Nomination Committee”

=34
"Orcstella”

[ Orcstella)

"Owner”
(%A A
“Owner |

EZ=PNE

"Owner "

EZZ=PNI

“Owner II”

(A Al

“Owner V"

(%A AV

the memorandum of agreement dated 7 July 2022 entered into
between Charterer Il and Owner Il in relation to the sale and purchase
of San Du Ao
EEMANEZER A E S =48R A 88202267 4708
IiE A hoN 2

the memorandum of agreement dated 7 July 2022 entered into
between Charterer IV and Owner IV in relation to the sale and purchase
of Zhuang Yuan Ao

fEfMAIVEES AIVEE B B TURFTRT S B #1 /202267 A78
E@Tﬁﬁiﬂ%/mﬁ

the nomination committee of the Board

EEFSREERES

the vessel Orcstella with IMO No. 9794783, being the subject of the
Sale and Leaseback (June 2022) Transactions

FEMIMAOrCstella » IMO#RSR9794783 » BNEREIFE (20225F68) %
SIFH

Fore Marine Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated under the laws of
Singapore

¥gFore Marine Pte. Ltd. * — AR IR T I EE A B A 7

Bright Lilstella Shipping Ltd, a company incorporated under the laws of
the Republic of Marshall Islands

F5Bright Lilstella Shipping Ltd * —REF AR S HMBIARE T
7 AvAzOPN=]

Bright Orcstella Shipping Ltd, a company incorporated under the laws
of the Republic of Marshall Islands

#EBright Orcstella Shipping Ltd * —RIRE AR S L MBAE
EEai VA= /NG|

Bright Sandu Shipping Ltd, a company incorporated under the laws of
the Republic of Marshall Islands

#&Bright Sandu Shipping Ltd * —fEARIESER S LMBUEET
17 AVAzOPNC]

Bright Zhuangyuan Shipping Ltd, a company incorporated under the
laws of the Republic of Marshall Islands

#EBright Zhuangyuan Shipping Ltd * —fER IR H 4R A & LA BE
ESERIITD AVAVNC]
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Definitions

B

“PRC”

B

"Purchaser”
(57

"Remuneration Committee”
[FEEE]

"Sale and Leaseback (March 2022) Transactions”

[E1&EF (2022F38) %5 ]

“Sale and Leaseback (May 2022) Transactions”

[E&EFA (2022F58) 5]

q

“Sale and Leaseback (June 2022) Transactions”

[E1&EF (20022F68) 5]

“Sale and Leaseback (July 2022) Transactions”

[E&EFE (20022F78) 5]

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purposes of this report,
excludes Hong Kong, the Macau Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China and Taiwan, China

BHREARKNE  giAREMS - TRESE  PEARAN
BRI RIF TR R B &2

Franbo Lines Corp, a company whose shares are listed on the Taipei
Exchange (stock code: 2641) or its guaranteed nominees

FEFranbo Lines Corp * —RIRMR BILEHBREEF L LETHA
7 (BRDARSR : 2641) SKEEFEKEA

the remuneration committee of the Board

FEEREHIEEE

the transactions contemplated under the Memorandum of Agreement,
the Bareboat Charter Agreement and other documents in relation to
XYMG Noble as described in the announcement of the Company dated
4 March 2022

B BAXYMG NobleR) @ m ik - KBS R EMXHET
BETTR S SR AARAER202F3 A48 %

the transactions contemplated under the Memorandum of Agreement
|, the Bareboat Charter Agreement | and other documents in relation to
Lilstella as described in the announcement of the Company dated 5
May 2022

R ALIselaf HEE =R - KB R KA M IR THE
IR 5 SRALRRIBER202265ASHNAE

the transactions contemplated under the Memorandum of Agreement
Il, the Bareboat Charter Agreement Il and other documents in relation
to Orcstella as described in the announcement of the Company dated
10 June 2022

B BOrcstellat) i B8k - e AafE & el R Ho b SO IR TS 8
HEITRS MR ARRAHR202F6 A10HNAE

the transactions contemplated under the Memorandum of Agreement
ll, the Bareboat Charter Agreement lll, the Memorandum of Agreement
IV, the Bareboat Charter Agreement IV and other documents in relation
to San Du Ao and Zhuang Yuan Ao, respectively, as described in the
announcement of the Company dated 7 July 2022 and the circular of
the Company dated 8 August 2022

550 Bl A B =R Sk TR e BRI~ SRR E BRI~ 15
BESEV - AMEERRVEEMXHETRETRS  #R
RAF RHR2022F7 R7B A E MAR R B HI%202258 A8H
Sapee
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Definitions
BEE
“San Du Ao”

[ =#BE
"Share(s)”

[A&tn ]

"Shareholder(s)”
AR |

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 52 Py |

"US$" or "USD"
E

"Vendor”
=¥

"XYG Fortune”

[ XYG Fortune ]
“XYMG Noble”

[ XYMG Noble J
"Year Under Review’

[EEEFE

"Zhuang Yuan Ao”

[FATTR ]

oy

[%]

q

the vessel San Du Ao with IMO No. 9608752, being one of the subjects
of the Sale and Leaseback (July 2022) Transactions

EMAA = EBR - IMOARSR 9608752 » BEREIM (2022F78) R
DR Z —

ordinary share(s) of US$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
AR BN R SR E E0.01 5 TR B AR

holder(s) of the Shares
B DIFEE A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEMEXZMERAT

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of
America
EEFEBERBAEERET

BEGSTELLA SHIPPING (HONGKONG) LIMITED (8% EME(E )R
X)), a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

EEREME (B8) BRAR - —MREBFTMAZHERA
Al RARAINEEZEME AR

the vessel XYG Fortune with IMO No. 9330290, being the subject of the
Disposal
FEREAAXYG Fortune  IMOAR5579330290 + BN &5 FIEIZH)

The vessel XYMG NOBLE with IMO No. 9314674, being the subject of
the Sale and Leaseback (March 2022) Transactions

FEMEAIXYMG NOBLE * IMO#RS%9314674 + BNEZEIFE (202243
A) RS5EH

reporting period for the year ended 31 December 2022
YEE 2022512 A31 B ILFE 2 & HAR

the vessel Zhuang Yuan Ao with IMO No. 9650339, being one of the
subjects of the Sale and Leaseback (July 2022) Transactions
EMMARTTIR - IMOARIE9650339 + BNEZ B (20226F78) X
DI Z —

per cent

EBDHL
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